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About this Report

This is our 9th Integrated Annual Report (IAR). It contains information on the impact we make, how we create value,
our strategy and our related performance for the financial year that started on June 1, 2023 and ended on May 31,
2024. It builds on our previous IAR, published on September 22, 2023.

In line with our ambition to be the undisputed leader in professional services, we have based this report on the
European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS) as mandated by the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting
Directive (CSRD). For the sake of transparency, we have included an ESRS reference table in Annex 3.

The management summary, that comprises the sections Executive Board highlights, lessons learned

and outlook, Our Purpose and Strategy, About Deloitte, Report of the Supervisory Board, and Risk Management,
zooms in on our strategy, our (business) performance and value creation. The detailed financial performance can
be found in the financial statements in Annex 1. In the Sustainability statement in Annex 2, we detail our approach
towards, and progress on, the sustainability matters that we deem material to our business and the value chain.
The Management summary and the Sustainability statement jointly serve as the Management report as prescribed
by the Dutch Civil Code ('BW')

We believe in an open and transparent dialogue and relationship with our stakeholders. By sharing this Report, we
want to inform you as to how we create stakeholder value through the execution of our strategy and fulfilment of
our purpose - to make an impact that matters. As always, we appreciate and welcome your feedback: it enables us
to further improve our impact and related reporting in the years ahead. Please send your comments, questions or
observations to NLBrandandCommunications@deloitte.nl .
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Executive Board highlights, lessons learned
and outlook

2023/2024 has been marked by continued geopolitical tensions, economic volatility, rapid digital transformation
and an evolving ESG and regulatory agenda. This uncertainty has reshaped our clients’ investment decisions,
leading to a tougher consultative market. Against this more challenging backdrop, we have pursued an ambitious
strategic agenda. By investing in the opportunities around Generative Al and by fundamentally transforming the
way we deliver our services to better support our clients, we hope to reshape the way we do our business over the
next three years. We have started to integrate parts of our businesses across Europe and prepared the adoption of
a global common storefront to organise our capabilities and go-to-market. Furthermore, the ongoing investigation
into oanswer sharing continued throughout the year. Altogether, this has been a transformative year during which
we have seen exceptional commitment and collaboration from our people and partners alike.

Five years ago, we set out to become more purpose-led, sustainable and inclusive. To become the market leader in
the Netherlands, involved in the most impactful transformations and providing trustworthy audits, and a place for
talent to develop. This year, we have expanded on this and sharpened our strategy for the upcoming years. Our
direction has not changed, our ambition is simply bolder. We want to truly differentiate ourselves in the value we
deliver to our clients, to be in a ‘category of one'. It's why we are focused on leveraging our local strength while
maximising our international potential and drive transformations using advanced technology and alliances. We aim
to offer integrated propositions as our clients’ trusted long-term partner and innovate how we deliver value. This
closely aligns with our Global and North South Europe (NSE) strategy, which focuses on greater integration to
increase the impact of our services, drives quality outcomes, and improves our efficiency.

What will contribute to executing our strategic agenda is the global adoption of a common storefront, modernising
and simplifying how we organise our capabilities and go to market. We are aligning our capabilities into four
business units: ‘Audit & Assurance’, ‘Tax & Legal, ‘Strategy, Risk & Transactions Advisory' and ‘Technology &
Transformation'’. It will enable us to deliver more seamless integrated solutions to our clients across our offerings
and geographies, to better support them in tackling the most complex challenges. It also emphasises the strength
and resilience of our multidisciplinary model.

Embedded in our purpose-driven strategy is the conviction that we can make the largest societal impact through
the work we do for our clients, both in audit and advisory. An example of this is the work we do with our Ministry of
Defence and NATO to support them in preparing for a new reality. The threat landscape is fundamentally different
compared to a few years ago, making it necessary for our national defence organisation to scale up to protect our
values, equal rights and freedom. As part of the Dutch society, we feel both the obligation as well as the ambition
to contribute to increasing the resilience of the Netherlands. We are doing so by working on optimising the digital
and operational readiness of our defence force.

We also maximise our societal impact by orchestrating change through collaboration within our ‘Future of’ themes,
focused on specific societal challenges and the underlying drivers that create a more sustainable society. One of
our ‘Future of’ themes is Energy, and this past year we launched the Energy Transition Monitor, which provides a
comprehensive view on the current progress of the energy transition in the Netherlands. We have noted an
increased focus on ESG and CSRD regulations as a prominent part of the agenda, both for our clients in audit and
in advisory. Over the past year, our work has focused on providing reliable and transparent measurements, insights
and reporting. We also support regulators to clarify guidelines and develop standards. Going forward, we
increasingly focus on supporting our clients to identify actionable insights and the implementation of these actions,
and to partner with our clients on large strategic sustainable transformations. An integrated approach to
sustainability is essential, and our multidisciplinary model embeds sustainability expertise throughout our
organisation to reinforce this.



Another strong focus is to remain at the cutting edge of new technology. We have been fully embracing the
opportunities that Generative Al offers and helped our clients to explore and capture its value. This past year, we
have set up Al competence centres and support our clients in moving past a proof of concept and approach
Generative Al as a strategic transformation. This has strengthened our positioning as their long-term partner in
GenAl, and in doing so, applying our ‘Trustworthy Al' framework to make sure GenAl is used in an ethical and
sustainable manner. This framework helps organisations to develop ethical safeguards across seven key
dimensions (transparent and explainable, fair and impartial, robust and reliable, respect for privacy, safe and
secure, and responsible and accountable). Besides being used in our work for clients, GenAl is also part of our own
transformation agenda, and a key element in how we transform our own service delivery. Collaborating with our
Global organisation, we have invested both in the development of several platforms as well as in our own people
becoming fluent in using GenAl. Within Deloitte Netherlands, we have launched ‘Headstart’, our generative Al
model that promotes responsible use of Al within our organisation. Privacy, information security and quality are
guaranteed, making it safe to use. Headstart has been successfully adopted with a consistent use of the platform
by approximately 5,000 colleagues each month across our organisation.

With regards to our broader strategic ambition within our North South Europe (NSE) firm, we have been on a
journey to operate across our 30 NSE countries in a more integrated way. This year we have focused on simplifying
and streamlining our operating model in specific cross-border businesses, such that we are better able to serve
both our domestic and international clients, whilst adapting to changing markets and talent expectations.

Last year, in light of national and international events, the Dutch Authority for the Financial Markets (AFM) has
requested insights from several Dutch audit firms, including Deloitte Netherlands, regarding improper answer
sharing, their learning culture and behaviours. This request has initiated a comprehensive investigation into all
mandatory internal and external learning activities of our Dutch organisation. The Steering Committee of this
investigation is co-chaired by the Chief Quality Officer and a Supervisory Board member. The investigation is driven
with dedication by forensic specialists who are supported by colleagues across the firm and with the involvement
of external experts to challenge and validate our approach. Given the nature and thoroughness of this
investigation, the investigation is still ongoing. Since we prioritise the careful conduct of this investigation over
speed, we expect it to be an important part of our agenda in Financial Year 2024/2025.

Preliminary findings from the investigation have indicated instances of misconduct within Deloitte Netherlands. In
response, we have promptly commenced remedial actions and have already launched several initiatives aimed at
enhancing our internal learning culture. We believe that facing the facts of the past and their consequences will
help us learn, grow and improve. We emphasise that our shared value, serving with integrity, extends to how
seriously we take professional development and related assessments. So our effort to elevate the professional
learning environment is driven by a combination of the curiosity of our professionals and our commitment to
integrity as a firm.

The internal investigation into answer sharing and the transformational strategic developments have required a
solid investment of both time and resources, and this is reflected in our financial performance. Additionally, the
challenging consultative market is evident in the revenue of our Consulting and Financial Advisory businesses.

We observe solid growth in Audit and Assurance, and while both our Risk Advisory and Tax & Legal businesses
show growth, it is somewhat lower compared to 2022/2023. Overall, this resulted in a very moderate 2,5% growth
of our total revenue compared to the previous financial year.

In Financial Year 2023/2024, we implemented a future readiness programme to address our cost base and support
our profitable growth in the years to come, in line with our strategy of reshaping our current business. This
programme has significantly contributed in keeping our profitability at a level comparable to that of 2022/2023.
Profitable growth remains a key priority, as it enables us to further invest in the future of our firm, in the
opportunity for and development of our people, and in the impact we can make on clients and society.

In 2022/2023 we introduced the Engage for Change survey to help us measure employee experience and guide us
in how we can make Deloitte a better place to work, grow, and thrive. With the high pace of change, we have asked
a lot of our people in this past year, while we experienced continued pressure in the market and the need to be
more cost-conscious. This was reflected in the results of the Engage for Change survey, as it affected our net
promoter score and, albeit to a lesser extent, the employee engagement score. Although providing our people with
meaningful work is an inherent part of our purpose, we noticed that people’s scores in our survey relating to this



have slightly declined. Furthermore, the results also show a continuous positive trend in how employees perceived
their well-being and the psychologically safe work environment at Deloitte. Additionally, we are confident that the
opening of our Deloitte University in Paris will provide new, top-notch learning experiences for our people and
enhance the building of strong relations across EMEA that will contribute to both personal and professional
development.

Besides making an impact through client work, we offer our people the opportunity to contribute to society
through employee-led initiatives and Deloitte-wide priority programmes of our Deloitte Impact Foundation. For
instance, we have strengthened our Foundation's WorldClass programme over the past year by expanding our
current collaboration with JINC to the Brainport region. This has increased the number of students we reach with
our programmes focused on improving the equality of opportunity for vulnerable young people in education,
especially in primary, secondary, and middle-level vocational education in the Netherlands.

Finally, we are very glad to share that Hans van der Noordaa has committed to a second term as Chairman of our
Supervisory Board, with broad support from our partnership. We are also glad to have welcomed Corien
Wortmann to the Supervisory Board as of May 27, 2024. We are confident that she is a strong addition to the
Supervisory Board, as she brings a lot of experience. Corien Wortmann has succeeded Nienke Meijer in this role,
and we want to take this opportunity to thank Nienke for her dedication and her valuable contribution as part of
our Supervisory Board for the past seven years.

In 2023/2024, the composition of the Executive Board changed after Rob Bergmans decided to step down from his
role as member of the Executive Board and to resign from Deloitte as a partner of the firm as a result of particular
facts that emerged from the internal investigation into answer sharing. In February 2024, Harvey Christophers took
over the role of Chief Quality Officer (CQO), on an interim basis due to his planned retirement in the summer of
2024. A thorough process has been started to nominate a successor for this role going forward.

Lessons learned
To fulfil our ambition to be a learning organisation, we reflected on our experience of the past year.

We are increasingly facing the complex puzzle of strategically planning for our future workforce and the required
capabilities. We are responding to more fluctuating market demands and the subsequent variation in business
models we deploy. This includes the continued transition towards further integration with our Global Delivery
Network to improve the use of the depth and breadth of our global capabilities. At the same time, we expect
technologies such as Generative Al to have a significant impact. All this is happening in the context of a challenging,
locally shrinking labour market, where we see strong competition for key skills.

The pace of this change is substantial and has consequences for our talent base. We are carefully weighing
dilemmas and trade-offs that we have faced in the past year and will continue to face in the upcoming year.
Throughout these changes, we keep our people’s interest at heart: what makes their job interesting and
meaningful, how can we incorporate more technology into our daily work, and how can we increase the positive
aspects of the employee experience and minimise the negative aspects?

When it comes to the size of our local workforce, we do not anticipate our overall structural growth to be as fast as
in previous years, because we will be leveraging the global power of our workforce to a greater extent and further
integrate Al into the delivery of our client work. To continue to lead in the market, we will strengthen our local talent
base by growing in certain expertise areas. At the same time, we will focus on improving the overall employee
experience by supporting our people in their professional and personal development.

Diversity and inclusion are essential components of our talent focus. In the past years, the number of women in
leadership positions has grown significantly. In the period from 2018/2019 to 2022/2023 the percentage of female
partners increased to 22%, up from 10%. This past year, the number of female partners increased to 24%.
However, we saw this positive trend gradually reaching a plateau, so we needed to approach this with renewed
energy to continue the pace of transformation that we have achieved to date.

To be able to reach our target of 30% female partners in Financial Year 2026/2027 and promote more gender
equality within the entire organisation, we must take a holistic approach. This approach is increasingly focused on
building a solid pipeline to improve gender equality long-term, on providing women with opportunities and equal
pay, and on creating an inclusive culture and psychologically safe work environment. This past year, we already
refined the way we monitor gender representation, inclusion and psychological safety, through our Engage for



Change survey, and we introduced Diversity Equality and Inclusion scorecards. This provided us with more detailed
insights on a quarterly basis and allows for more targeted interventions.

Next to our focus on gender balance, we will continue our efforts on diversity, equity and inclusion in the areas of
LGBTQ+, neurodiversity and cultural diversity.

Outlook

Overall, we expect an ongoing, high level of uncertainty, as the geopolitical tensions and economic volatility are
likely to persist. As this will continue to influence our clients' investment decisions, the domestic advisory market
will still be challenging. There are clear drivers for us in the medium term. The need for transformation, particularly
in areas such as technology, sustainability and tax regulations, becomes more urgent for society at large and for
our clients.

We also see major opportunities in intensifying our collaboration across the EMEA region as we, as Deloitte
Netherlands, are well-positioned to make the most of our scale while keeping our local roots strong. We expect this
to provide us with more opportunities, from the clients we serve to the development of our people. Furthermore,
our increased scale will enhance quality, operational excellence and will provide our clients with added value.

Finally, we hope to conclude our internal investigation into answer sharing in Financial Year 2024/2025, while
actively focusing on enhancing our learning culture to foster an environment of integrity, and on our commitment
to ongoing professional growth and open communication.

Hans Honig Dagmar Enklaar Harvey Christophers
Chief Executive Officer Chief Operations Officer Chief Quality Officer
Chairman of the Executive Board
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Our Purpose and Strategy

The world faces major challenges, we feel a moral call-to-action to help to move towards a better world. With our
heritage and extensive capabilities, we have the ability to support clients and society in this transition. By being a
responsible, purpose-driven organisation, we make a significant impact on society, sustain profitable growth, and
provide meaningful work for our people.

This is what we call: making an impact that matters.

With our clients, we drive transformations towards responsible and sustainable business models and help
businesses, governments and society address significant challenges;
We connect eco-systems to contribute to a society that is more trustworthy, sustainable, secure, healthy and
equitable;
We provide the opportunity for our people to connect and live their personal purpose through their work and
pro bono programmes of the Deloitte Impact Foundation;

+ And we continuously review and enhance our own business operations to be a more sustainable enterprise.

How do we make an impact on clients?

With our clients, we drive transformations towards responsible and sustainable business models. We connect our
skills and services to work on our clients’ most critical, complex challenges and deliver consistently high quality,
every single day. Our clients face major transformations where we bring in capabilities from across our businesses
and industries.

We want to contribute actively through client work to a more responsible and resilient society by applying our
Global Responsible Business Practices commitments, Purpose and Shared Values in our decision making
processes. The Responsible Business Committee (RBC) has been established to provide an extra layer of cross
business dialogue in cases where client or engagement acceptance matters carry a significant public interest or
purpose factor.

How do we make an impact on society?

We connect eco-systems to contribute to a society that is more trustworthy, sustainable, secure, healthy and
equitable. We want to play an active role in building a more responsible and resilient society in the Netherlands,
with the client projects we engage in, through the initiatives within our 'Future of' themes, and through the Deloitte
Impact Foundation.

How do we make an impact on people?

We provide the opportunity for our people to connect and live their personal purpose through their work and pro
bono programmes of the Deloitte Impact Foundation. We continue to provide our people with opportunities for
personal growth and development. Our Employee Value Proposition is designed to provide a career that is
personalised and meaningful; to enable our people to excel and be happy in their profession, contribute to their
communities, and become the next generation of leaders in and outside Deloitte.

We will step up our approach to provide an inclusive workplace and leverage the diversity of our talent. Different
people, different skills, and different perspectives combined to create value through the diversity of thought.

Five years ago, we set out to become purpose-led, sustainable, and inclusive. To grow into a place for
talent and future leaders to develop and thrive within our organisation. To become the market-leader
in the Netherlands and involved in the most impactful transformations and audits. With our strategy
for the coming years, our direction does not change, but our ambition is bolder.

We aligned our long-term ambition and strategy through thorough market analysis, focusing on optimising the use
of resources, leveraging capabilities, and aligning actions with market opportunities. We believe our strategy
remains relevant even during market slowdowns, capitalising on emerging opportunities without major
adjustments.
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To understand the evolving market and stakeholder expectations, we engaged internal and external stakeholders.
Clients, non-clients, and employees shared insights in partner meetings, round tables, and focus groups. These
insights shaped and refined our strategy, finalized by our Strategy Office.

We want to double down on our commitment to marry purpose and profit, pursue internationalisation
with local strength, offer integrated propositions as our client’s trusted partner, to develop (future)
leadership and be the preferred employer for all, and innovate how we deliver value to clients.

At the heart of our strategy lies the ambition to be truly differentiated in the value we bring to our clients, people
and society. To do this, we can rely on our strong roots. Looking forward, we have identified five strategic pillars,
each supported by a set of concrete initiatives, that will allow us to reach far, together.

1. Marrying purpose and profitable growth

We want to be even more explicit that we are in fact purpose-led and connect it to the relevant work we do for
clients and the way we interact with our people and the responsibility we take in the world around us. We believe
we can deliver on our purpose and grow profitably. Profitable growth enables us to invest in the future of our firm,
in the development of our future leaders and opportunities for our people; it makes it possible to make an impact
that matters on society, our people and our clients. By working with clients who can and do make a difference, by
tabling key ESG topics and bringing in elements of trust and quality, we can grow our business while helping the
world around us.

2. Internationalisation with local strength

We have built strong roots in terms of market, people and in society and we will continue to invest in our local
strength. We see opportunities to expand further and become a powerhouse in EMEA. Internationalisation works
both ways for Deloitte Netherlands. We can use our Global Delivery Network (GDN) to better serve our Dutch
clients by bringing in more capabilities and capacity through selective trade corridors. And by actively collaborating
internationally we will also be giving our people more opportunity to learn and grow, thereby strengthening our
roots.

3. Clients’ trusted long-term partner

Our extensive scope and scale differentiates us in delivering end-to-end transformations. Our multidisciplinary
model is critical in positioning ourselves as strategic advisors in the boardroom. Our goal is to be our clients’
trusted long-term partner so we can make the greatest impact by advising, implementing changes, and helping to
run their day-to-day operations.

4. Preferred employer for all

We feel a responsibility to ensure our people can develop into well-equipped, responsible, resilient civilians as well
as specialists and leaders in our firm. Our goal is to build a diverse talent base that offers a variety of perspectives,
ideas and insights, that operates in an inclusive work environment that contributes to one’s full potential. Investing
in leadership development is essential to ensure a pipeline of skilled professionals that can drive, performance,
foster our culture and guide the firm in the future.

5. Building innovative business

We pride ourselves in being implementors of innovation and to continue this we must be at the cutting edge of
new technology, such as Artificial Intelligence. To effectively use it for our own work and deploy it for clients thereby
creating real opportunities. To do this we need to embrace change and welcome innovations - not only in
technology, but also how we deliver value to our clients. We've build our areas of technological expertise to offer
the best service to our clients. We can deliver better results by leveraging our technological proficiency to
implement innovation for our clients.

We want to increase and evidence our contribution to a more trustworthy, sustainable, secure, healthy and
equitable society. We aspire to be a purpose led organisation where sustainability is ingrained in everything we do.
And in all our five strategic pillars, reflecting our goal to positively impact society through relevant client work. Our
multidisciplinary approach spreads expertise across all areas, from Sustainability services to supporting clients in
transforming their supply chains. Sustainability is also integral to our future themes, including energy, food, and
health.
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Our progress

With our four-year strategy cycle drawing to a close in 2023, our strategy was further developed and sharpened to
be ready for the upcoming years. Peter Sanders, Chief Strategy Officer, reflects on this process, our progress to
date and the opportunities ahead.

I am optimistic looking at both the process and the outcome of further
sharpening our strategy. We got the cascading on point starting with a
strong alignment of the strategic direction on both a Global and an EMEA
level. We continued to align step-by-step through each part of our
organisation’s matrix. This made the process more collaborative with
contributions from both our partners and talent ensuring the right level of
depth and resulting in overall consistency.
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Our strategy is based on a set of critical beliefs and making these beliefs e /

more explicit helped to get everyone on the same page about our collective ‘ 1 4 / .
direction. Our strategy meeting with the partners in Maastricht ended up

being the apex of this entire process. For me, it was confirmed there that

we struck the right balance between providing a collective direction and

establishing a frame that provided sufficient freedom. Peter Sanders
Corporate Strategy Officer

During this process, we also involved an outside-in perspective by inviting
clients and experts in their fields to enable them to share their points of
view in order to gain a diversity of thought and insights. This helped us to
zoom out, ensure we have a great understanding of the expectations of our
stakeholders and can fully grasp future needs and trends.

Looking at our strategic direction, where did you see the most progress this past year?

We have made significant progress in becoming a driving force in EMEA and in selecting specific trade corridors.
We also continued to make progress by further building on our ‘Future of’ themes, such as the Future of Energy, by
setting up the global Hydrogen Centre of Expertise in the Netherlands.

One of our priorities is to make sure we will be the long-term partner for our clients, for example with our Advise,
Innovate and Operate’ (often referred to as A-I-O) capabilities. For one of our clients, we will design and build a
cloud-based Al and Data platform, work on keeping the systems running smoothly and continuously innovate the
platform.

This past year the focus has also been on Generative Al. In the Netherlands, we took a proactive approach to bring
GenAl to our professionals, set up a dedicated team aimed at integrating Gen Al into our operations, and
organised labs with clients to support them in their GenAl journey leading, for example in identifying cost savings
with GenAl for one of our large Consumer clients. Of course, we are also benefitting from the scale of Deloitte as a
global Generative Al taskforce has been set up in the past year, encouraging collaboration and collective
investments to fully embrace the opportunities around GenAl.

We have also invested in our (future) leadership, which is vital to ensure that we will thrive now and in the future. |
have been impressed by the implementation of our 3C leadership philosophy which embodies the courageous,
curious, and compassionate leadership behaviour that we expect from our leaders. We integrated this framework
into our learning and development initiatives for partners, and it has extended beyond the Netherlands as it is now
also part of the NSE training programme.
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Looking back, what challenges did you encounter?

The volatile market challenges us to review our strategy and asses if we made the right strategic choices. | believe
that we are focusing on the right things that will help us to stay successful in the long-term, and at the same time it
is crucial for us to accelerate on parts of our strategy. One example of this is changing the way we deliver our
services in order to stay competitive. By increasing the use of our global delivery centres, we can complement our
teams in the Netherlands to deliver the best services to clients. However, we still need to become more efficient in
doing so to improve both cost and delivery.

We have also been constantly guarding the balance between having our full focus on our client work now, while
managing several organisational changes to ensure our organisation is future-proof. The upcoming adoption of the
modernised and simplified global storefront, the way in which we organise our services, is an example of this.
Through an alignment of capabilities that is most relevant to the market of the future, it will help us to serve clients
better with their most complex challenges, now and in the future . It will also make it easier to bring integrated
solutions to the market, to use our global scale to invest and to work across borders, which will provide a more
seamless experience to our clients.

From a personal perspective, what aspect of the strategy resonates with you the most?

For me, it starts with ensuring a consistent focus on marring purpose and profitability, as | believe it will help us to
become future-proof. Being successful helps us to set the agenda for a responsible and sustainable business and
provides us with a platform for growth to accelerate on societal challenges and invest in diversity, inclusion and
equity. At the same time, we will be able to provide our people with more purposeful and meaningful work, which
is measured in the Engage for Change survey amongst our talent as an important part of our strategic pillar to be
the preferred employer for all.

What has made you proud looking back on this year?

Generally it is actually the people that make me proud to be part of Deloitte, they never cease to amaze me with
ideas and their drive. An example of this for me are the initiatives that have been set up around financial health,
which are driven by personal conviction to make an impact on people and society. Connecting both organisations
in the public and private sector and using our strengths as an organisation to push this initiative forward, is
admirable to me.
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Value creation

Business model

Our business brings together people, technology,
knowledge and relationships. Where these meet, we
help our clients with meaningful high-quality solutions
to their complex needs and challenges to further propel
their businesses. We do this through the expertise of
our people (often supported by our highly specialised
international delivery centres), by implementing assets
that we have developed, or by assuming control over

a designated part of our clients' processes.

Strategy
27

Our people are highly trained, skilled and motivated.
Through extensive learning programmes (classroom,
online and on-the-job), we accelerate the development

of our people and increase their ability to further Building o—
. i . . . 1 ;
advance in their chosen area of expertise and within b’;’;;:’:szve employer

for all

the industry they feel most connected with.

Technology is an important element of our services. In
all our services we use technology to obtain the best
result as efficiently as possible. Moreover, we help our
clients facing their digital challenges, for example in the
areas of cyber security, and software and

systems implementation.

We make sure that our knowledge remains up to date. We partner with important knowledge institutes such as
Center for the Edge to be able to tap into state-of-the-art insights from the academic world. In addition, we are
organised in cross functional industries’ groups, ensuring the availability of industry-wide insights across
businesses.

In addition, we maintain relationships with clients and potential clients to become their trusted advisor in our areas
of expertise. Finally, we are an active participant in many professional organisations and contribute to social
debates and challenges around pressing social issues, among others through our Future of agenda.

Our business model is based on our purpose, informed by our Shared values, and powered by our Strong Roots
Reach Far strategy.



Deloitte's Value Creation Model
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Value creation model
Deloitte’'s purpose is to make an impact that matters for our clients, our people and the society we operate in. Our
purpose is the driving force behind our strategy and our everyday actions.

Our business model is inspired by the six 'capitals' (human, intellectual, natural, financial, social and manufactured)
as defined by the International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC). Having a strong foundation is vital for
performing our services and execute our strategy. We have built the foundation of our business model on three
pillars: quality, ethics & integrity, and data security. Our strategy and everything we do as a firm, is rooted in trust.
Trust allows us to build meaningful relationships and foster partnerships with our stakeholders.

The impact we make stems from both the way we support our clients, and how we operate our business through
our services: Advisory, Audit & Assurance, Internal support, and Deloitte Impact Foundation. At Deloitte, we
address complex and challenging issues that our clients face. We provide them with solutions that allow them to
grow in a responsible way. Within our firm, we have established a multidisciplinary network of professionals with
various backgrounds and experiences, creating a unique blend of capabilities to respond to our clients' needs.

We are mindful of the consequences our activities have on our stakeholders. Being a responsible business, we try
to understand the positive and negative impact our firm has and aim to address the major societal and
environmental issues.

Value creation for different stakeholder groups takes place in multiple ways. The value we generate for our clients
arises from the services we provide and the ecosystems we develop. For the broader society, we add value through
our client work, the talent we develop, the taxes we pay, and the communities we support during our corporate
responsibility and sustainability initiatives.

We build value for our employees by creating an environment where equity, purpose and belonging, and
experience are at the core of our business. We develop our employees’ skills through training, as well as through
the engagements they work on, to address efficiently our clients’ demands.

Through internal dashboards, we track and manage how our business activities can affect the planet. In our
sustainability-related client work, we support our clients recognise their reliance and impact on natural resources
to minimise the environmental impacts across their value chains.

We constantly drive and embrace innovation and digital transformation. It helps us to maintain leadership in the
services we offer, and provides our clients and society with tailored and cutting-edge solutions that improve the
overall ecosystem Deloitte operates in.

External factors such as the social, political and economic challenges of a constantly changing world, shape the
impact we create. At Deloitte, we proactively respond to these challenges, and work with our stakeholders to
address them, contributing to the continuity and enhancement of our firm.
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We strive to continuously improve our practices and adapt to changing circumstances to become a more
responsible business, contributing to a better and more sustainable future.

Promoting responsible business

Deloitte has robust procedures for client and engagement acceptance. Our acceptance procedures
include background checks and risk identification and mitigation. These procedures are designed to
protect Deloitte from working for clients or accepting engagements that potentially can jeopardise our
shared values and principles, compliance with laws and regulations, reputation or purpose.

In addition to these procedures, in recent years, the Responsible Business Committee (RBC) in Deloitte
NL provides an extra layer of cross-business dialogue in cases where client and/or engagement
acceptance matters potentially have a significant public interest or purpose factor. Anyone within
Deloitte can escalate a specific scenario to the RBC and the RBC seeks to provide guidance and
support to NL teams in applying and executing our Shared Values and Global Principles. It provides
comfort that the opportunities we accept serve our purpose and that the right level of public interest
consideration is given to the client and engagement acceptance, thus upholding the trust of our
people, clients, regulators and the general public.

As Deloitte NL, we are an integrated part of a global (DTTL) and a regional (NSE) partnership. This
means that we are sometimes in a position where we lead engagements and have engagement teams
working at clients in different geographies, including geographies that are culturally different from ours,
and sometimes also with different perspective on public interest and responsible business practices.
As such, from time to time the RBC is called on to provide input to associated client and engagement
acceptance matters. It is important to understand and accept cultural differences but also to feel a
sufficient level of comfort when using our expertise for clients who are located in such geographies. By
having a dialogue on dilemmas, when necessary involving subject matter experts, the RBC acts as an
important independent safeguard in our acceptance process. In addition, we maintain a right to refuse
for individual employees to work on engagements that contradict their personal values and beliefs.



Our 'Future of' themes

Our world is ever-changing. As we want to make an impact on society, We've identified Future Of Themes - the
Future of Health, the Future of Energy, and the Future of Food - as industries that need disrupting, and generated
ecosystems to lead businesses through transformations in these fields.

Future of Health

How can we prevent rocketing healthcare costs by early diagnosis and
prevention? Which technological and behavioural measures lead to overall
health, happiness and well-being?

With the Healthcare sector facing many challenges, such as escalating care
costs due to an ageing population and pressure on budgets and the
workforce, a new mindset is needed. We need to move from healthcare to
health, with more focus on prevention, and an improved health consumer
journey, with new health players entering the ecosystem.
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Future of Energy

How can we transition to a clean and green energy system? What's the role
of electricity, hydrogen and our behaviour in this changeover?

Energy will change drastically. Our ambition is to contribute to a sustainable
energy transition. With renewable sources and less or zero carbon
emissions to meet the Paris 1.5° climate goals. Connecting the ecosystem
with traditional parties, but also with start-ups and public institutions is key.
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Future of Food

How can we create a food system without compromise that is sustainable,
healthy, and even-handed? Which innovations can bring about this food
consumption, production and waste?

With sustainability and planetary boundaries and shifting nutritional needs,
the food ecosystem will change, creating space for new players. For
instance, personalised nutrition and responsible production and waste are
important in this new world.

Our Future of Food team started an ecosystem called the Net Positive
Network, bringing together nearly 200 people ranging from CEOs, experts,
founders and more, working to make food net positive
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Deloitte Impact Foundation

We have our primary impact through the work we do for and with our clients. In addition, Deloitte is committed to
making a positive impact on society through the Deloitte Impact Foundation . We partner with NGOs, non-profits,
and start-ups to establish social initiatives. In addition Deloitte empowers colleagues to start employee-led
initiatives that are close to their hearts. We leverage our employees' expertise, knowledge, and network to make a
meaningful difference in the areas of education and employment, sustainability, and promoting an inclusive society.

Hours of volunteer Numbers of Numbers of
and pro-bono time / l \ employees involved projects
1 1,009 87/
! i 2 !
,, FYas FY22 ’ \ FY23 FY22 FY23 FY22
o4 39,413 36,284 = 1,020 790 107 96

To amplify the impact of our Deloitte Impact Foundation, we concentrate our efforts on three key areas and are
working together with partners in ecosystems:

- WorldClass, a Deloitte global initiative with the ambition of supporting 100 million people worldwide by 2030.
Our NL World Class Programme focuses on equal opportunities in education for vulnerable young people,
especially in primary, secondary, and middle-level vocational education in the Netherlands.

Sustainability, through our sustainability-related initiatives, we protect our natural environment by
addressing the root causes and effects of global warming and degradation of land, water, and air. This focus
area aims to support future generations on our planet to live in a healthy and sustainable environment.

Inclusive society, Deloitte contributes to an inclusive and diverse society. Our initiatives provide support for
challenges related to the quality of life in the Netherlands such as concerning poverty, safety, health,

loneliness, and/or happiness of Dutch inhabitants.

For more information about Deloitte Impact Foundation, please see paragraph 3.5 in Annex 2 of this Report.


https://www2.deloitte.com/nl/nl/pages/over-deloitte/topics/deloitte-impact-foundation.html

Impact story: Financial Health
Inclusive society

The Financial Health programme aims to raise
awareness and improve the financial health of
households in the Netherland. Financial health has a
tremendous impact on people’s lives, their families,
their physical and mental health, and also their
performance at work or school. The aim of the
programme is that by 2030 the number of people who
experience financial stress is reduced by 50 percent
compared to 2015. And that people are in control of
their finances, now and in the future. To achieve this,
current initiatives are:

Financial Health Check

Together with our partners we developed a tool
“Financial Health Check”. This tool enables households
to measure their own financial well-being to determine
strengths, weaknesses and areas for improvement.
Related to income, spending, savings, borrowing and
planning. Households can access the tool for free via
the NIBUD site or in the Rabobank app.

For the National Coalition for Financial Health, an
employer version of the Financial Health Check has
been developed to measure the financial health of
employees. The outcome of the measurements are
input for the action plans at corporate level.

National Coalitie Financiéle Gezondheid (NCFG)
Deloitte, ING and SchuldenlabNL have taken the lead in
forming a broad coalition (NCFG ) of employers to tackle
financial problems and debt in the workplace. Our CEO
Hans Honig was chair of the NCFG during 2023. At the
end of 2023 ING took over the position of chair. Within
the programme, we run project management,
participate and lead in working groups focusing on
measuring financial health of employees, improve
awareness and create an action plan with interventions
for employers.

Annual research

Together with our partners, NIBUD and Leiden
University, we provide insight into the financial health of
Dutch households. We developed a methodology for
measuring financial health to score Dutch households
on a financial health scale. With 5,000 households
participating in the survey, we provide a snapshot of the
current situation and we monitor the development of
financial health in the Netherlands. In March 2024 we
published our third annual report.
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Impact story: WorldC/ass

Millions of people worldwide are still being left behind,
unable to fully develop their talents. Through the

World Class Programme in the Netherlands, we are
dedicated to expanding horizons and investing in the
talent development of vulnerable youth in economically
disadvantaged districts of Amsterdam and Rotterdam.

We utilise the expertise of our employees to organise
scalable and sustainable activities. We collaborate with
the education sector and business community to
develop new teaching materials in areas such as energy,
financial health, entrepreneurship, digital skills,
technology, and soft skills for primary and secondary
school students.

Our professionals play a vital role in addressing the
teacher shortage by serving as guest lecturers, teaching
assistants, and offering in-person or virtual assistance
within the Dutch education system. We provide
guidance and support to students in securing
internships and jobs, leveraging our network of offices,
employees, clients, and partnerships. These activities
contribute to equal opportunities for every child's
comprehensive development.

Impact story: Vereniging van Nederlandse
Voedselbanken

Over recent years, Vereniging van Nederlandse
Voedselbanken and Deloitte have achieved great results
through various Deloitte Impact Foundation initiatives
like the 'Digital Food Brigade’ and ‘De Laatste Pluk'.
Looking ahead, we're excited to deepen our
collaboration through a strategic partnership. This
alliance will enable Deloitte to offer substantial support
and collaborate closely with Vereniging van
Nederlandse Voedselbanken in combating poverty and
food waste. Our goal is to provide professional services,
including capability building, process enhancement,
marketing strategies, and technological advancements.

Vereniging van Nederlandse Voedselbanken is a Dutch
nonprofit dedicated to fighting food waste and hunger.
Relying on volunteers and donations, their network of
food banks plays a crucial role in addressing nationwide
food insecurity. In the face of rising poverty levels and a
growing effort to reduce waste throughout the supply
chain, Vereniging van Nederlandse Voedselbanken finds
itself navigating challenging times.

Key achievements in Financial Year 2023/2024
include:
Establishing a new partnership with the IT Campus
in Rotterdam to enhance students' digital skills.
Organising the Homebase Festival in collaboration
with Studiezalen and the ABN AMRO Foundation to
support and mentor children in marginalized areas
of Amsterdam.
Collaborating with JINC to impact over 2,000
students in Amsterdam, Rotterdam, and Utrecht.
Donating laptops and IT devices to partner
organisations to enhance their digital skills and
activities.
Developing sustainability and energy transition
workshops in partnership with various energy
companies.

In the coming year, we're eager to support Vereniging
van Nederlandse Voedselbanken with three distinct
working streams aimed at addressing critical needs and
advancing our shared goals. With confidence in our
collective ability, we anticipate making a meaningful
impact together.
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Our firm




About Deloitte

Deloitte is a leading global provider of audit and assurance, consulting, financial advisory, risk advisory, tax and legal
and related services. We have been providing professional services to clients, developing our talent and engaging
with society for over 175 years.

Deloitte Netherlands is the Dutch firm of Deloitte North and South Europe (NSE) and as such is a separate and
independent legal entity. Deloitte Netherlands operates in the Netherlands and in the Dutch Caribbean. For a full
list of subsidiaries, please see Notes 4. Consolidated Group companies of the Company finanical statements

in Annex 1.

Headcount of Deloitte in the Netherlands and the Dutch Caribbean

Other/Non-
Male Female disclosed Total
Deloitte Netherlands 4,614 3,496 N/A 8110
Deloitte Dutch Caribbean 32 54 N/A 86
Total 4,646 3,550 N/A 8,196

In the Netherlands, we employ more than 8,100 people (excluding contractors) in 16 different offices around the
country. This makes us one of the leading Dutch professional services providers in the areas of audit and
assurance, tax and legal advisory, consulting, risk advisory and financial advisory. Our practitioners work in
multidisciplinary teams to help resolve our clients challenges and realise opportunities.

As of March 1, 2024, Deloitte has acquired the Dutch dialogue marketing agency CloseContact that boasts over 15
years of experience in data-driven communication and marketing automation, particularly in Salesforce Marketing
Cloud (SFMQ).

Deloitte NSE

Deloitte NSE brings together around 75,000 professionals. Together, we make an even greater impact in each of
our markets. By working as a unified firm and leveraging our combined network, we can achieve more - for our
clients, our people and the communities we work in. As an organisation that advises and audits organisations
across industries and sectors around the world, ours is a business built on trust.

Deloitte NSE comprises the following 30 countries: the Netherlands (incl. Deloitte Dutch Caribbean), the UK &
Switzerland, Ireland, Belgium, Finland, Denmark, Sweden, Norway, Iceland, Italy, Greece, Malta, Gibraltar, Libya,
Palestinian ruled territories, Cyprus, Lebanon, Jordan, Iraq, Egypt, Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Bahrain, Qatar, the Republic
of the Sudan, the United Arab Emirates, Oman and Yemen.

Deloitte Global

Our global organisation has grown in scale and diversity and now comprises approximately 457,000 people in
more than 150 countries and territories, serving nearly 90% of Fortune Global 500® companies and almost all the
Amsterdam Exchange Index companies, providing assurance services or, to non-audit clients, advisory services. We
believe our professionals deliver measurable and lasting results that help reinforce public trust in capital markets,
enable clients to transform and thrive, and lead the way towards a stronger economy, a more equitable society and
a more sustainable world.
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Our leadership in 2023/2024 (per May 31, 2024)
Our leadership structure consists of a Supervisory Board, Executive Board and Executive Committee. Please see
below an overview of the members.

Supervisory Board

Hans van der Noordaa, Chair
Denise Larnder
Vincent Moolenaar
Bas Verhart Partnership Council

Corien Wortmann Mohamed Bouker

Koen Dessens
Remy Maarschalk
Marike Maas
Executive Board Bas Savertr
lurrien Veldhuizen
Hans Honig. CEO
Harvey Christophers, coo
Dagmar Enklaar. coo

Executive Committee

Business Leads Industry Leads Support Leads
Gera Hamer Baldwin Kramer Roén Blom Marije Staman Rianne Jans
Audit & Assurance Financial Advisory Technology, Media & Delaitte Private Finance
Telscommunications
Willem Gooskens Petra Tito Marijn Struben Mariette Los
Tax & Legal Consulting Peter Hofman Financial Services Talent
Growth
Aida Demneri Eric Vennix Carlo Renne
Risk Advisary Dominique van Seggelen Energy, Resources & Reputation a_( Risk
Consumer Industrials Leadership
Sjoerd van der Smissen Peter Sanders
Gowernment & Public Sector Corporate Strategy Officer

Effective October 1, 2024, we will implement changes to our structure. They will be not only be implemented to
Deloitte NL, but across Deloitte globally. From this date onward, we will serve our clients through four businesses:

+ Audit & Assurance (Business Lead: Gera Hamer)

+ Tax & Legal (Business Lead: Willem Gooskens)

- Strategy, Risk & Transaction Advisory (Business Lead: Baldwin Kramer)
- Technology & Transformation (Business Lead: Petra Tito)

We implement these changes to enhance our international alignment, thereby improving our capabilities to help
our clients in maneuvering through a fluctuating global environment.

Financial performance

Business results

Revenue shows a stable growth at 2.5% this fiscal year despite challenging market conditions, particularly in parts
of our advisory business. This modest growth is attributed to the positive performance across most business lines,
with the exception of Consulting, which experienced a slight decline compared to the previous year. The utilisation
of our Global Delivery Network (GDN) has increased, aligning with our strategic objectives and compensating for
the steady headcount in client-serving roles.

In our Audit & Assurance business, we continue to see a positive trajectory in revenue. However, our Consulting
practice faced headwinds, experiencing a decrease in revenue and a slight contraction in workforce. In Financial
Advisory there is stable performance Risk Advisory showed a revenue growth around 5%. The Tax & Legal business
shows a solid growth, with certain areas achieving double-digit growth. Collectively, these performances depict a
mixed but promising landscape, with areas of both challenge and opportunity that require tailored strategic focus
to optimise growth and profitability. Our result before tax and management fees amounted to €159.7 million
(2022/2023: €164.8 million).

As a percentage of revenues, our result before tax and management fees decreased to 11.5% from 12.1% in
2022/2023. We continue to invest in our employees to attract and retain talent. As a result, our salary costs have
increased due to continued improvements of our Employee Value Proposition. The variable compensation
increases from €31.6 million in 2022/2023 to €46.6 million in 2023/2024. At the end of our fiscal year, the size of
our client serving staff is comparable to last year. As was the case last year, lower productivity levels impacted our
revenues and this continues to have our attention. At the start of the fiscal year, we noted our increased cost levels
were exceeding the growth in our business performance. During the year, we have taken measures to improve our
operational cost levels and meet our targets for the fiscal year.
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Solvency and liquidity

Solvency based on equity, membership capital and subordinated loans (Group's capital base) is 23.3% (20.6%). The
improved solvency is the result of the received additional subordinated loans provided by our partners. Our
liquidity has also improved: our year-end cash balance increased to €108.0 million. During the year, we have not
used our credit facilities and we are in compliance with our covenants. Our working capital, defined as the sum of
unbilled services, advanced billings and accounts receivable, improved with € 20.9 million to a total of €320.9
million at year end. This is the result of management’s continuous focus on improving working capital and reducing
the balance of unbilled services.

For a full overview of and detailed notes to our financial performance, please see the Financial Statements, which
are annexed to this report.

Taxation

As a responsible business, our policy is to comply fully with both the letter and the spirit of Dutch tax legislation. To
enhance our transparency on this topic, we have adopted a Tax policy, that can be found in the Annexes of this
report. Our Tax policy addresses the three main types of national taxation that are applicable to us: corporate tax,
tax on wages and value added tax.

To ensure Deloitte’s compliance with all laws and regulations, regular meetings with Dutch Tax Authority (DTA) are
scheduled to pro-actively discuss our questions and potential issues for all three mentioned taxes.

Furthermore, we annually perform a randomly selected sample test in our financials (outgoing payments) to test
the compliance of the relevant tax aspects. The DTA is involved throughout this process and receives an integral
report on findings and identified improvements.

Corporate tax

Deloitte's partners/owners charge Deloitte a management fee through a personal management company. These
management fees - after deduction of, amongst other costs, a so-called customary salary for the partner - are fully
taxable at the level of the individual management company, in accordance with the regular Dutch corporate
income tax rates. Deloitte's remaining profit is taxable at Deloitte level, also subject to the regular Dutch corporate
income tax rates.

Wage tax
All relevant filings are submitted timely and in accordance with Dutch rules and regulations.

All cross-border work situations (including secondments, projects and expatriates) are handled by a dedicated
group of specialists in the Netherlands as well as abroad, to ensure that Deloitte and its employees meet all Dutch
and local requirements.

Value added tax

On all incoming and outgoing transactions, we follow the rules and guidelines for value added tax (VAT). Specific
transactions, such as invoices within or outside EU and invoices for exempt services, are subject to strict protocols
to ascertain that VAT is reported correctly.
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Our businesses and industries

Throughout 2023/2024, Deloitte continued to be organised in five businesses: Audit & Assurance,
Consulting, Tax & Legal, Risk Advisory and Financial Advisory. These businesses all work across various
economic sectors that we consider as six industry groups: consumer; energy, resources and industrials;
financial services; government and the public sector; technology, media and telecommunications; and
the private sector. Our Support Organisation serves both the businesses and the industries and
increasingly benefits from the services that NSE provides to geographies. Working with a matrix of
businesses and industries that is identical in every geography where Deloitte operates, allows us to
meet the needs of our clients by combining expertise with experience.

In this section, we provide the 2023/2024 financial results and market developments of our five businesses and our
Support Organisation, and explore their key challenges and opportunities. In addition, we discuss the main
developments and activities within our industries.

Our strategic objectives are cascaded down to our businesses, which have plans in place to put our strategy into
action by adding context and content to our five strategic pillars. The results of their activities feed back into our
strategic dashboard.

Businesses

Consulting Audit & Tax & Legal Risk Advisory Financial
Assurance Advisory

Consumer

Deloitte Private

Financial Services

Government & Public Sector

Energy, Resources & Industrials

Industries

Technology, Media & Telecommunication

NSE Shared Services

Support Organisation
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Audit & Assurance

Gera Hamer
Audit & Assurance Business Lead

Turnover in € million Employees (FTE) Partners
326.3 1,821 51
+8.5% +3.0% 1.9%

After a tumultuous beginning, 'm proud to see Audit &
Assurance’s year end on a promising note. This year,
A&A launched a new strategy founded on Deloitte's
multidisciplinary model and an appreciation for the
added value our long-term relationships bring to us and
our clients - in both our audit and advisory practices.
Underpinning our strategy is cross-collaboration. The
need for cross-collaboration to overcome new
challenges and create more opportunities is proving
ever more evident as we rotate off current audit
mandates and are winning new ones, including high-
profile external audits such as ING Bank. We have also
seen our Assurance practice grow by strengthening our
wide range of services based on audit-related
competencies in audit-readiness, ESG-readiness, and
accounting and controls.

The use of GenAl in audit is an exciting example of our
continued commitment to quality and innovation. While
the human mind continues to be crucial, Headstart, our
very own GenAl application, has proven a highly useful
sparring partner and assistant for delivering high-
quality audits.

This year, we've also enabled our talent to Never Stop
Growing through the Bright Development Programme.
This programme empowers our people to shape the
Audit of the future. Through a robust selection of
learning experiences, the programme aims to develop
both professional and leadership skills. It offers our
talent the flexibility to choose a particular minor
specialisation, aligning with strategic goals. Participants
can delve into areas such as IT Audit, Sustainability,
Data Analytics, and Project Management. By acquiring
and applying new skills in these fields, they can drive the
transformation of the A&A business. On the ongoing
debate about the future of audit, reports such as the
final report published by The Quarter Masters and
related dialogues establish the importance of audit
services in society.

New developments within our practice amplify our
impact, such as helping and advising clients on their
ESG journey in reporting non-financial information. And,
during our annual Stakeholder Dialogue event, we
facilitated conversations on pressing societal challenges
such as developments in governance by connecting
leading organisations, regulators, scientists, and
stakeholders.

There are exciting changes ahead for our profession.
Upcoming rotations in our client portfolios, ESG
developments, and investment in Al will all provide
possibilities and challenges to our talent. | look forward
to seeing how they will face these and, how, by working
closer together and living our shared values, we can
enhance the quality of our work and create added value
for our clients.



Consulting

Petra Tito
Consulting Business Lead

Turnover in € millien Employees (FTE) Partners
452 .1 1,962 96
3.2% +3.2% +12.9%

The past year has been a year of readjustment for
Consulting at Deloitte. Tougher market conditions,
political and economic uncertainties, client demands for
more effective and efficient delivery models, and the
boom in GenAl were all factors that had a marked
impact. An impact that, despite our best efforts,
contributed to the difficult decision of re-assessing and
reducing our headcount. Despite these challenges, we
persevered through a concerted effort to strengthen
our client pipelines, focus all our efforts on the market,
and adapt our business strategies for the future.

One way we have adapted is adopting a more proactive
stance in our client engagements. Here, we actively
shape projects and foster deeper conversations. Our
clients appreciate that we have opinions and the deep
industry knowledge to inform them.

Our strategic focus on integrating industry knowledge
with core competencies advanced us to the forefront of
our client’s primary processes. We made significant
strides in the financial services industry (FSI) with digital
banking, and in energy, resources, and industrials (ER&)
in hydrogen. Behind these efforts is the winning
combination of knowledge, innovation, technical
expertise, and mission-driven purpose.

The integration of GenAl into our services has been a
momentous development this year. With Headstart, we
enhanced our service quality and delivered more value
to our clients. Our clients have also valued our
competency and knowledge in Al, paired with our true
understanding of their business.

As we look ahead, our mission is clear: to improve our
performance considering ongoing market challenges
and integrate even further across NSE. To do so, we
maintain a strategic emphasis on our Operate
proposition, the use of the Global Delivery Network
(GDN), and a continued focus on Al and sustainability.
By balancing the need for immediate results with our
long-term vision, we remain steadfast in creating a
Consulting that is fit for the future.
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Financial Advisory

Baldwin Kramer

Financial Advisory Business Lead

Turnover in € millien Employees (FTE) Partners
130.7 529 38
1.5% +2.5% +8.4%

In a year of meaningful progress and strong client
partnerships, we saw the M&A, real estate, and financial
forensics markets as the three driving pillars of Financial
Advisory. During this year, we've had standout projects
where we've successfully supported the Dutch
government’s housing expansion plans and provided
essential support to banks managing financial crime
risks. And, despite a volatile M&A market, | continue to
be very proud of the deep level of trust our clients have
in us. This deep trust is vital to strengthening our role
as a strategic, long-term partner for our clients.

Last year was challenging, as, after multiple years of
exponential growth, we saw the market change its pace.
We needed to shift gears and adjust to this change. To
do so, we've refrained from recruiting heavily, instead
choosing to focus on maintaining sustainable growth.
This agility has allowed us to keep our commitment to
client service and adaptability.

Collaboration within our Financial Advisory services has
proven to be exemplary, particularly in the realm of anti-
money laundering. We saw multi-disciplinary teams
across Consulting, Risk Advisory, Tax, and Legal, come
together to offer full-spectrum solutions. This
collaborative spirit is what allows us to provide the
entire spectrum of services our clients require: from
Transformation to Operation.

Looking ahead, we see that Generative Al has the
exciting potential to revolutionise our service delivery.
As we explore what this technology is capable of, we
anticipate that we will be able to increase the quality
and efficiency of our work. | look forward to seeing how
GenAl will help our clients - and ourselves - to establish
new benchmarks in client service in the near future.
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Risk Advisory

Harvey Christophers (until January 31) & Aida
Demneri (from February 1)

Risk Advisory Business Lead

Turnover in € millien Employees (FTE) Partners
206.1 1,115 38
+5.5% +2.1% +5.46%

Marrying purpose and profitable growth is at the core
of what Risk Advisory does. By helping our clients to
become more accountable, we empower them to
operate as responsible businesses that tackle societal
and broader stakeholder issues. Deloitte’s Risk Advisory
has continued to grow in the past year despite a
challenging market for professional services. Driving this
growth is our ability to stay connected to our client's
needs and invest in developing ourselves to meet their
evolving needs. Specifically, our investments in
sustainability, GenAl, and responsible data solutions
have paid off, helping our clients navigate ESG reporting
and climate risks, as well as the responsible use of Al,
privacy, and digital transformation.

Collaboration with other teams and geographies across
the business and a deep specialisation in topics such as
cybersecurity, resilience, regulatory, and financial risk
continued to be a decisive differentiator.

This year we also set ourselves apart by driving
innovation with notable feats including leading the
agenda for Al'in our firm and innovating on our
sustainability regulatory reporting practice.

Our proudest achievement - and another prime
example of our collaborative efforts - has been the
continued growth of Africa Talent. This capability centre
in South Africa has gone from supporting the
Netherlands to supporting other geographies within
NSE, like the UK, Ireland, and the Nordics. It's not only
about better commercial outcomes. It's about making a
significant social impact by creating local jobs and
initiating a scalable solution that competes globally with
other scale capability centres in our global firm.

This year continued our journey to be more than
advisors for our clients; we're trusted partners. Looking
ahead, we will continue challenging our clients and help
them build trust, become more secure, more
sustainable, and more resilient in the long term.

Harvey Christophers and Aida Demneri were both interviewed for
Risk Advisory. Aida succeeded Harvey as Risk Advisory Business
Leader from 1 February, 2024, as Harvey took on the role of
interim Chief Quality Officer in the Executive Board.
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Tax & Legal

Willem Gooskens

Tax & Legal Business Lead

Turnover in € millien Employees (FTE) Partners

277.5 1,075 55

+5.3% +1.5% 0%

The continued profitable growth of our Tax & Legal
business in the past year is a testament to our ability to
meet client needs as they arise. Our strong client-
centric approach is reflected in our financial success
across different Service lines, Industries and offerings.
This year, we have seen strategic progress in the areas
where we have chosen to invest such as Transfer
Pricing, Deloitte Legal and our sustainability offerings.

We see that governments and society are requiring
more transparency from our clients. This means more
data-based reporting in an increasingly intricate
regulatory environment. By harnessing these changes
as an opportunity, we have helped clients to proactively
comply with local laws and manage regulatory
demands.

Collaboration continues to be at the core of answering
the needs of our clients. Internally, fusing our tax and
legal expertise has been crucial to navigating client
restructuring. On a larger scale, collaboration within
industries and the integration of technology platforms
demonstrate our ability to bring comprehensive, holistic
solutions to our clients. I'm particularly proud of the
offerings we have developed around the Central
Electronic System of Payments (CESOP) and our
offerings around the newly introduced global minimum
taxation (pillar 2). This showcases how combining
technology with deep expertise creates integrated
solutions for intricate compliance challenges.

Looking ahead, our priority is to establish Deloitte as
the undisputed market leader in tax and legal services
by Financial Year 2026/2027. To do this, we will continue
investing in the development of our top-tier talent,
superior services, and cross-business collaboration.
Ultimately, our commitment to quality and integrated
service delivery for our clients will be what steer us to
market leadership.
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Group Support Center

Carlo Renne

Group Support Center Lead

Turnover in € million Employees (FTE) Partners
0,3 995 5
26.6% +1.6% +25%

We are a people business. As such, it is vital to have the
right people in place to keep a business of our size
running. To ensure this, our goal this year for our
Support organisation was to go beyond just offering
support’ and into being a true enabler for our
business. One way we're developing our Support
organisation is by continuing our GSC 2.0 initiative,
launched last year. Here, we nurture our people’s skills
and create a community where leaders in our Support
organisation can continuously learn and grow.

We've seen commendable progress in innovation last
year. The launch of Headstart, our internal GenAl
assistant based on ChatGPT, showcases how we have
embraced Al tools with mindfulness about their risks. It
also demonstrates how joint efforts between
businesses and our enabling functions, like IT and Risk,
bring great results firmwide.

Even in the face of pressing circumstances, our Support
organisation remains agile. By proactively taking the
time to understand the business and its associated
challenges, we can adjust to better meet the changing
needs of the business. The true value our Support
organisation brings can often fly under the radar, but
we ensure that every day, the gears of our business
turn smoothly so that our professionals can do their
best work.

Looking ahead, there are big changes for Deloitte on
the horizon. At the forefront of our efforts are more
integration across our services, a more interconnected
way of working within our global enabling areas, and a
new approach to our storefronts. These are challenges
we will tackle. Through it all, the Support organisation’s
accomplishments reflect a deep dedication to keeping
our business running effectively, adapting to new
ventures, and setting the stage for future collaboration.
It continues to embody what it means to be a
professional for professionals.
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Consumer Industry

Automotive Transportation, Hospitality & Services

Consumer Products Retail, Whelesale & Distribution

Dominique van Seggelen

Consumer Industry Lead

This year was one of continued economic challenges for
the Consumer market, as our clients have had to adapt
to changing consumer behaviour. It is against this
background that we partnered with our clients to
prioritise their investments in the core of their business:
enhancing customer intimacy, trust and loyalty, and
sustainably transforming by “digitising all we do”.

Our two-year research on the Future of Consumer
explored how to navigate the new world of consumer
markets and shape a better future. Here, we have
spoken to several clients about the shaping the
consumer industry and their implications. Consumers
are becoming more diverse in many aspects, society is
evolving, barriers of market entry are lowering, and
exponential x-tech is accelerating all these
developments at an unseen speed.

We also continued building on our strategy to offer a
more integrated approach to our Consulting, Risk
Advisory, Financial Advisory and Tax & Legal services in
topics like digital, sustainability, finance, or cost
transformations. As in previous years, technology
continued to be an enabler. New was the developing
demand for Generative Al, ranging from understanding
what GenAl can do in the fields of efficiency
improvement, cost reductions and process automation
to customer interaction and data valorisation. However,
before we see wider adoption, GenAl needs more use
cases and more time to mature.

In the coming year, we foresee an initial recovery of
consumer demand and cost-consciousness. We expect
an increase in longer-term investments by our clients in
areas of technology, smarter supply chains, channels
and partnerships. All while their sustainability agenda
becomes further embedded into the core of their
business portfolio and processes.
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Energy, Resources & Industrials

Energy & Chemicals Industrial Products & Construction
Future of Energy Retail, Wholesale & Distribution
Mining & Metals Power, Utilities & Renewables

Eric Vennix

Energy, Resources & Industrials Industry Leads

Our strategy to support our priority clients with their
most challenging business transformations has helped
us to stay close to our key clients and - despite cost
pressures - be their trusted partner in their journey
towards a greener energy future This fiscal year has
been defined by cost pressures in the Energy,
Resources, & Industrials industry due to price volatility,
partially driven by geopolitical events, demand
fluctuations, and the transition to renewables.
Companies have been seeking ways to improve their
resilience, such as through operational efficiency. We
are helping some of our biggest clients transform, and
create a more competitive cost position, including
cultural change to embed efficiency.

The Future of Energy topic has - again - taken centre
stage over the past year, with continued focus within
the energy sector and its stakeholders on transitioning
to cleaner energy sources. We have established a name
for ourselves as the leading professional services
company in scale hydrogen deployment. | am
particularly proud of Deloitte’s Energy Transition
Monitor (ETM) that was launched this year. The ETM
provides a comprehensive view on the current progress
of the energy transition in the Netherlands.

We strongly believe in the value of a diversified portfolio
of services. Alongside the growth in our advisory
revenue, there has been a proportionate growth in
audit revenues. It is important for our industry to
maintain a robust audit practice, which we have
secured for Financial Year 2024/2025 and beyond with
several major wins this year. As we look forward, we
also see digitalisation has been a significant trend, with
companies leveraging new technologies for operations
optimisation, predictive maintenance, supply chain
management, and improved cybersecurity. We are
proud of the progress we have made in the Gen Al
domain with projects at several of our key clients.
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Financial Services Industry

Insurance Banking & Capital Markets

Pensions Investment Management

Marijn Struben

Financial Services Industry Lead

Real Estate

This year, Deloitte’s Financial Services sector (FSI) has
cemented itself as the market leader in
transformations. By innovating through collaboration -
across countries, functions, and industries - we've
stayed ahead in an industry experiencing slower growth
in the Netherlands. Our deep industry expertise, such
as in pension transformation, has also proven
instrumental in transforming our client’s core
processes.

Digital industry solutions have enabled us to make
significant strides, overcome challenges, and achieve
milestones beyond what was possible with a traditional
service delivery model. Collaboration with global hyper-
scaler technology platforms, such as Converge, and
alliance partnerships have been critical in swiftly
bringing technology solutions, like CESOP, to the
marketplace.

We've seen more and more pressure on social
responsibility in the financial industry, particularly in
anti-money laundering, anti-fraud, sustainability
reporting, and cybersecurity. This shift in societal
expectations is reflected in EU-wide regulations such as
AML, ESG, CESOP, and DORA. While our client's
demands change, we maintain our commitment to
delivering top-tier solutions that meet our client's
needs.

An area where we've continued to make remarkable
progress in, is in addressing societal Financial Health
issues. By driving a nationwide coalition with FSI
industry partners, we have positively impacted over
600,000 employees to date. This initiative has proven
vital during these periods of economic stress, marked
by high inflation and surging energy costs.

Looking ahead, we aim to be the FSIindustry’s
undisputed leader in orchestrating transformations that
accelerate our clients’ impact on their most pressing
challenges. To do so, we have taken strides toward a
more balanced portfolio, securing several significant
audit mandates. With these efforts, we ensure our
clients will thrive in today’s financial landscape.
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Government & Public Services

Defence, Security & Justice Health & Human Services

Infrastructure, Transport & Regional Government

Sjoerd van der Smissen

Government & Public Services Industry Lead

This year, we have tackled some of the toughest issues
facing society; from the housing shortage to working
towards a safer society to addressing the nitrogen issue
in the Netherlands. Societal resilience has been a
particularly pressing issue. Together with NATO, we
embarked on a mission to create more awareness
within society that security and safety should be
considered . Our success in these initiatives can be
attributed to the commitment of our people, who lead

each one with the drive to leave a positive social impact.

As we move away from a supporting role where we
optimise internal business and towards becoming more
involved in our client’s core processes, our commitment
continues to be one of the factors our clients value. The
successes we have experienced this year can be
attributed to our client’s trust in us, our adaptability,
and the depth and breadth of our expertise and
services.

We pride ourselves on building meaningful,
longstanding partnerships with our clients. Continued
trust and shared goals have led us to stand shoulder-
to-shoulder with them, especially during these
challenging times. We have seen the value of our
adaptability and deep, broad expertise in our work in
the health sector. Here, we have bridged the gap
between healthcare and retail, going beyond treating
illness and focusing instead on improving overall health.

At the heart of our people is the intrinsic dedication to
positively contribute to society and further our clients’
missions. We aim to keep leading initiatives that
proactively address societal needs and foster trust
within our community. By staying committed to our
clients and communities, we will keep making real
changes where they're needed most.
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Deloitte Private

Marije Staman

Deloitte Private Lead

Deloitte Private excels when we keep doing what we do
best: forging deep, meaningful partnerships with private
companies for the long term. What helps us build these
connections? Our ability to dive into their businesses,
grasp the nuance of their challenges, and embrace the
intricacies of their shareholder structures at various
stages in their lifecycle.

We are present in the playfield between scale-ups,
private equity, and family enterprises, recognising the
role of private capital in shaping the future and bringing
our value to the entrepreneurial and innovative power
of the Netherlands.

Looking ahead, our sights are set on sustainability, an
area where family enterprises stand out for their
longstanding commitments. We endeavour to turn this
overwhelming climate challenge into manageable steps.
Our goal is to simplify the decision-making process by
advocating participation in ecosystems that solve
societal problems and present attractive commercial
opportunities, simultaneously. We embrace this
ecosystem thinking ourselves, as we work towards
being at the helm of collaborative solutions. Our current
orchestration role in Brainport, where we get a seat at
the table of all relevant stakeholders, embodies this
mindset and helps us really make an impact on the
broader society. Here, we want more than to only be
present in these discussions. We want to shape them -
championing change, fostering innovation, and inspiring
action.

Collaboration on all fronts is at the heart of Deloitte
Private’s future growth. By uniting with clients, other
industries, and Deloitte teams around the world, we're
nurturing an environment where collective action is
encouraged and celebrated. Our multidisciplinary
approach has proven indispensable to our teams and
clients. We see that each project makes it easier to
collaborate on future projects, as you learn more and
more about what others are capable of and what they
can make possible.

It has become even more evident that our clients face
the same headwinds and challenges we do. In the year
to come, we want to empower our clients to make an
even bigger impact than before. By focusing on our
strengths, on what we do well, and intensifying what we
already have, we can help our clients choose what
challenges to address and how best to tackle them.
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Technology, Media & Telecommunications

Technology Telecommunications, Media & Entertainment

Roén Blom

Technology, Media & Telecommunications Industry Lead

Over the last year, our TMT practice has steered clients
through the lively landscape of Generative Al, the
changing media market, and the political complexities
of the semiconductor sector. We continue to see GenAl
impacting every industry, as our clients seek guidance
on how to stay ahead of the GenAl curve. The media
sector has also seen a lot more movement this year
compared to previous ones. The Dutch media,
specifically, has been characterised by strategic
acquisitions and an industry-wide trend towards
consolidation, exemplified by RTLs transition to new
ownership. Within the semiconductor sector, our
industry has also tackled the global politics head-on,
where companies like ASML adapt to a fluctuating
economic environment. Despite these challenges, the
Netherlands continues to strengthen its reputation as a
hotbed for tech innovation. Deloitte’s Fast 50 event
highlighted this explosive growth of up-and-coming tech
firms.

Telecommunications and technology's inherent
international reach have made TMT strong in cross-
country collaboration. An example of this is seen in our
work with Adevinta last year - a fruitful cross-border
collaboration that transformed from a nascent
engagement into a substantial contribution to our
EMEA practice for our Dutch firm.

We continue to keep the client central, echoing their
ambitions and aligning our services with their strategic
visions. This is made possible through multi-year
relationships that allow us to understand underlying
client needs better. This way, we ensure we're
answering the right question, have the right proposal,
and, most importantly, provide the right solution for our
clients.

Behind all of this, are our people. We continue to build
on the benefits of diverse teams and want to make sure
everyone feels included. This is what fosters our culture
of innovation that is essential to meeting our client's
challenges.

As we look forward, we keep our focus on what truly
matters: staying close to our clients, being true to our
people, investing in understanding new technologies,
and continuously exploring how we can help clients win
in their market. If we truly help our clients win, we will
win.
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Roles and Responsibilities

Deloitte NSE LLP (Deloitte NSE) is a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (DTTL), a United Kingdom
(UK) private company limited by guarantee. Deloitte NSE, with affiliates in 30 countries across Europe and the
Middle East, is not engaged in professional practice itself. All trading continues through local country practices,
including the practices of Deloitte Netherlands.

Deloitte Netherlands is the Dutch Affiliate of Deloitte NSE and Deloitte NSE No2 CLG, a legal entity according to
Irish law. Both are members of Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. (‘the Cooperative'), Deloitte NSE No2 CLG having a two
thirds majority of the voting rights in the General Meeting. Deloitte Holding B.V. (Deloitte Holding), a 100%
subsidiary of the Cooperative, is the centre of the governance structure of Deloitte Netherlands.

The Board of Deloitte NSE is primarily responsible for ensuring high-quality governance and stewardship of Deloitte
NSE. The elected NSE Chief Executive Officer (CEO) leads the NSE Executive. The NSE CEO is accountable to the
NSE Board to deliver on the agreed long-term strategy of Deloitte NSE. Deloitte Netherlands, as well as the other
national practices within NSE, maintains a significant degree of marketplace, talent and operating independence.
Importantly, our strategy is also fully aligned with the overall NSE strategy.

The Dutch Corporate Governance Code and Audit legislation

Deloitte, as a non-listed company, is different from the companies for which the Dutch Corporate Governance
Code (the Code)) is intended. However, on a voluntary basis and in addition to applicable Dutch civil law, Deloitte
applies the principles of the Code where relevant and acts in the spirit of the Code. Some of the best practices
mentioned in the Code either may not be applied in identical form within Deloitte, or are not suited to being
applied, such as protective measures against takeovers, the certification of shares, the publication of price-sensitive
information and the information supplied to and discussions held with parties in the financial markets.
Furthermore, neither the Executive Board nor the Supervisory Board members are granted share options.

Deloitte’s Articles of Association and rules and regulations contain the best practices of the Code where relevant
and are fully in line with the applicable Audit legislation, such as the Wta and Bta. Following the publication of the
new Code, Deloitte Netherlands currently assesses and will amend its Articles of Associations and rules and
regulations where necessary.

General Meeting

The General Meeting of the Cooperative brings together all members: the NL Equity partners, Deloitte NSE and
Deloitte NSE No2 CLG. The members of the Supervisory Board are also invited to attend the General Meeting. The
company’s annual results, long-term policy and certain other matters referred to in the Articles of Association
require the approval of the General Meeting.

Supervisory Board composition

The Supervisory Board is composed of five members: Hans van der Noordaa (Chair), Bas Verhart, Vincent
Moolenaar, Denise Larnder and Corien Wortmann. All members are independent. The Supervisory Board has
drawn up guidelines for its size and composition, considering the expertise and experience required of Supervisory
Board members. The Supervisory Board's profile, charter and selection and nomination process is available on our
website .

Hans van der Noordaa, Chair of the Supervisory Board of Deloitte Netherlands is a (non-voting) Independent Non
Executive member of the NSE Board. The Independent Non-Executive members of the NSE Board are
remunerated for their role by Deloitte NSE.

Supervisory Board tasks and responsibilities

The Supervisory Board oversees and advises the daily policymakers of the Cooperative and Deloitte Accountants
B\V., and supervises all general developments at Deloitte. The Supervisory Board is collectively responsible for the
execution of its tasks and reports to the General Meeting. In fulfilling its duties, the Supervisory Board focuses on,
among other things, the interests of the Audit firm and the public interest in ensuring the quality of statutory
audits. The Supervisory Board always acts in the company’s best interests, taking account of the relevant interests
of all stakeholders.
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The Supervisory Board is entrusted with the supervision of the policies and activities of the Executive Board and
the daily policymakers of the Audit firm, inter alia in relation to the following: (i) Realisation of the company’s
objectives, including with regard to Environmental, Social and Governmental goals; (i) Strategies pursued by the
company and the risks involved, including with regard to people and sustainability; (iii) Design and implementation
of internal risk management, quality and control systems; (iv) Quality, independence, integrity, ethics and other
matters of public interest; (v) Deloitte’s financial reporting process; and (vi) Deloitte’s compliance with laws and
regulations.

Supervisory Board committees

The Supervisory Board has formed three committees, each with its own rules of procedure: (i) Audit & Finance
Committee; (ii) Quality, Integrity & Risk Committee and (iii) the Remuneration & Nomination Committee. The
committees prepare the decision-making of, and frequently report to, the Supervisory Board.

Executive Board composition

Dagmar Enklaar and Rob Bergmans were appointed as EB members, respectively as COO and CPQO, on June 1,
2023, succeeding Oscar Snijders, the former COO, and Liesbeth Mol, the former CQO. However, during the
2023/2024 period, Rob Bergmans stepped down from the Executive Board role and resigned from Deloitte as a
partner. On January 26, 2024, Harvey Christophers was appointed as an EB member and Interim CQO. Since that
date, the EB is composed of three members: Hans Honig (CEO and Chair), Dagmar Enklaar (Chief Operating Officer)
and Harvey Christophers (CQO).

Executive Board tasks and responsibilities

The Executive Board is responsible for, among other things, creating a strategic and policy framework and
objectives, including with regard to ESG, People, Quality and other impacts, monitoring the implementation of
policies and maintaining cohesion between the company’s various businesses and service lines. The Executive
Board reports to the Supervisory Board and to the General Meeting.

Executive Board members are collectively responsible for leading and managing the company. The Executive Board
acts in the company’s best interest at all times when fulfilling its duties, considering the relevant interests of all
stakeholders. It is responsible for observing relevant laws and regulations, implementation and the execution of the
Deloitte NL group strategy, managing the risks involved in the company'’s activities and overseeing its financial
affairs.

Avoiding conflicts of interest

No member of the Executive Board takes part in discussions or decision-making processes that may give rise to a
conflict of interest between the Board member and Deloitte. In such cases, Deloitte is normally represented by
another person, who is appointed specifically for this purpose by the Supervisory Board. To our knowledge, no
transactions involving any potential or real conflict of interest, as defined by the Code, took place in 2023/2024.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee (ExCo) supports the Executive Board and has a role in the preparation, implementation
of decisions taken and execution of the strategy by the Executive Board. Decision-making always takes place in the
Executive Board. However, broad commitment is of crucial importance in a Partnership. By having a broader ExCo
with representation from the different focus areas, (i) there is a strong connection between the EB and the various
businesses and industries and (ii) enhances commitment and involvement of the partners. The ExCo structure is
flexible in order to meet the changing needs of the organisation. On May 31, 2024, the Executive Committee
consisted of 19 members: 7 women, 12 men, reflecting our present operating structure.

Partnership Council

The Executive Board, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, has appointed a Partnership Council that consists
of five partners. The Partnership Council is charged with giving support and advice to the Supervisory Board in the
broadest sense of the word. The Partnership Council can give solicited and unsolicited advice in support of the
Supervisory Board. The Chair of the Supervisory Board can decide to invite (a delegation of) the Partnership
Council to attend all or part of meetings and other discussions of the Supervisory Board and its committees.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board (SB) is pleased to present its report for the Financial Year 2023/2024. In this report, you will
find detailed information about the composition, organisation, and key activities of the SB and its committees.

This financial year has been challenging, yet it demonstrated our robust commercial performance and unveiled
exciting emerging opportunities in areas like Generative Al, ESG initiatives. Additionally, it underscored the ongoing
imperative for our clients to transform their organisation and enhance their performance. Despite these
opportunities, the year was also marked by the need to adapt our organisation in response to both external
developments and an extensive internal change agenda across the North South Europe region. This has placed
considerable pressure on both management and staff.

A notable concern this year has been the investigation into answer sharing, Deloitte’s internal learning culture and
learning behaviour of its professionals. As a result of particular facts that have emerged from this investigation, Rob
Bergmans decided to step down from his role as member of the Executive Board in October 2023. The ongoing
investigation is being intensively supervised by the SB and closely monitored by our regulators, the AFM and
PCAOB. Recognising the gravity of this issue, a specific SB committee has been dedicated to overseeing this matter,
an SB-member is co-chair of the Steering Committee and with the SB convening every three weeks to monitor
progress, supported by an external advisor.

In addition to regular meetings, the SB engaged in numerous additional meetings with management to stay well-
informed and provide necessary support amidst the many external and internal developments. The SB also
dedicated several sessions to strategic planning for the next four years and participated in Knowledge Sessions
focusing on Generative Al, ESG, Public affairs, Economic and societal trends and developments and stakeholder
dialogue.

Looking ahead, despite the challenges, we see numerous opportunities to further engage with both existing and
new clients, offering exceptional products and services to assist them in achieving success.

Significant time was also invested in the HR and Talent agenda, which included selecting an interim Executive Board
member and welcoming Corien Wortmann as a new member to the SB.

We would like to extend a special thanks to Nienke Meijer, who has stepped down after seven years of dedicated
service on the SB.

Lastly, we express our profound gratitude to all Deloitte Netherlands colleagues for their unwavering commitment,
focus on client service, and support throughout the year.

The SB is grateful for the continued trust placed in Deloitte and remains committed to upholding the highest
standards of governance and integrity. We look forward to navigating the upcoming year with resilience and
strategic foresight.

About the Supervisory Board

The SB supervises and advises the daily policymakers of the Cooperative and Deloitte Accountants BV., and has
oversight of all current affairs at Deloitte. The SB is collectively responsible for the execution of its tasks and reports
to the General Meeting. The SB acts in the firm's, including the Audit firm's, best interests, taking account of the
relevant interests of all stakeholders, including the public interest in ensuring the quality of statutory audits. For
more information on the responsibilities of the SB, reference is made to the SB regulations, including Committee
charters, which are published on the Deloitte website , and the chapter ‘Roles & responsibilities’ that is included in
this report.
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Composition of the Supervisory Board

Until January 1, 2024, the SB had five members. After Nienke Meijer's resignation, the SB operated with four
members until May 27, 2024, when Corien Wortmann joined, returning the SB to five members. All members of the
SB are independent within the meaning of paragraph 2.1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code and article 22a.4 of
the Wta. All independence requirements of paragraphs 2.1.8 till 2.1.10 of the Code and the Wta/Bta were met
during Financial Year 2023/2024.

Date of appointment End of present term
Hans (H.) van der Noordaa (Chair) April 2020 April 2028
Vincent (V.G.) Moolenaar November 2016 November 2024
Bas (S.E.) Verhart October 2021 October 2025
Denise (D.J.) Larnder October 2021 October 2025
Corien (C.M.) Wortmann May 2024 May 2028

The SB's profile is available on the Deloitte website .

Committees
The SB has assigned, under its responsibility, a number of its specific tasks to three committees, that are
comprised of the following SB members:

Audit & Finance = Remuneration & Quality, Integrity & Temporary Committee Learning
Committee Nomination Committee Risk Committee investigation**¥**

Denise Larnder Hans van der Noordaa Vincent Moolenaar Vincent Moolenaar (Chair)

(Chair) (interim Chair)** (Chair)

Vincent Moolenaar Bas Verhart Hans van der Noordaa Hans van der Noordaa

Bas Verhart* Denise Larnder*** Denise Larnder

Corien Wortmann**#**

* Bas Verhart stepped down from the QIRC per 1 December 2023 and joined the AFC.

** Effective January 1, 2024, Nienke Meijer resigned from the SB. Hans van der Noordaa has temporarily
taken over as chair of the RNC, with Corien Wortmann set to replace him on July 1, 2024.

***  Denise Larnder temporarily joined the RNC on January 1, 2024, until July 1, 2024.

#**%  Corien Wortmann joined the QIRC on May 27, 2024.

##**% As of October 1, 2023, the Temporary Committee Learning investigation was established.

Notable conclusions and recommendations of Committee meetings are reported to the SB during the regular
meetings of the Board.

Supervisory Board meetings
In the Financial Year 2023/2024, the SB held the following meetings:

10 SB meetings, divided into 6 regular meetings that were focused on strategic themes, the strategy update
for the 24-27 period and industry and business updates, 4 meetings that were focused on current affairs,
compliance related matters and committee reports;
10 extra SB meetings regarding the investigation into answer sharing and Deloitte’s internal learning culture;
- 2 extra SB meetings for succession management purposes given the unexpected departure of an EB member;
+ 3 SB education meetings;
+ 3 General meetings were chaired by the SB chair;
-+ 23 Committee meetings, including 8 extra Remuneration & Nomination Committee meetings;
12 meetings of the Temporary Committee Learning investigation
- Attendance rate 91%

*The annual meeting between the SB and the AFM took place in July 2023.
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In addition, the SB held regular meetings in a private setting, and various meetings were held between

individual SB members and individual EB members, Executive Committee members, the Compliance Officer Wta,
the Chief Audit Executive (head Internal Audit Function), the external auditor, individual partners and professionals,
the Works Council and Young professionals. All regular (Committee) meetings, that are held in presence of the SB
and EB members and - in principle - two members of the Partnership Council and other invitees, are preceded by
preparatory meetings with the appropriate executives, and the CEO and Chairman of the SB frequently interact.
The SB members are invited to join the monthly partner update calls, which are used by the EB to inform the
partners on amongst others strategic developments, and the SB members regularly attend. From time to time SB
members join client events, too.

Examples of Supervisory Board items on the agenda

Strategy | During Financial Year 2023/2024, the SB was actively involved in the development of the 2024-2027
strategy. The updated strategy, detailed in this IAR, was approved by the SB. The SB closely monitors its execution
using a KPI dashboard that includes, among other elements, KPIs on of doing purposeful work, a regulatory quality
metric, financial targets and Kpis on collaboration, innovation and driving transformation.

NSE integration | Greater integration is pursued within NSE to increase the impact of Deloitte’s services and drive
quality. The SB, EB and other stakeholders have repeatedly discussed various initiatives, the financial model, and
governance, particularly in light of the Dutch regulatory context.

Project into answer sharing and Deloitte’s internal learning culture | In 2023, Deloitte has initiated an
investigation into answer sharing, the internal learning culture and learning behaviour of its professionals. Quality,
Academic integrity and professionalism are a top priority for Deloitte and the SB. Consequently, it was agreed to
intensify SB oversight through the establishment of a dedicated committee, a member of the SB acting as co-chair
of the project steering committee, three-weekly update calls, and regular inclusion of this project on the agendas of
both the SB and QIRC meetings.

Succession management | After Rob Bergmans decided to step down from his role as member of the EB in
October 2023, as a result of particular facts that emerged from the investigation into answer sharing and Deloitte's
internal learning culture, the SB directed the nomination of Harvey Christophers as interim EB member (CQO) and
the appointment of Bas Savert as a statutory board member and daily policymaker of Deloitte Accountants BV..
Additionally, the SB directed the selection and nomination process for Harvey Christophers' successor, which is
currently ongoing. Regarding SB succession, the SB nominated Corien Wortmann to the General meeting for
appointment as member of the SB, thus effectively succeeding Nienke Meijer, and after a sounding and evaluation
process, Hans van der Noordaa was re-appointed as chair of the SB.

Other important agenda items of the Supervisory Board | Besides recurring corporate topics such as the
approval of Deloitte’s Financial Plan and the budget for Deloitte Accountants BV, the Integrated Annual Report and
financial/business and industry updates, other important agenda items for the SB included: (i) Ethics & integrity, (ii)
independence, (iii) revision of the Global Storefront including implementation within Deloitte NL, and (v) external
reporting, including the Transparency Report of Deloitte Accountants.

Recurring and key Supervisory Board decisions
In addition to the decision to nominate the new (interim) CQO, a new SB member and a new policymaker of the
Audit firm, the most important decisions of the SB were to:

° Approve Deloitte’s Integrated Annual report, which also contains the financial statements, and the profit
appropriation to the Equity partners;

> Nominate BDO for re-appointment as external auditor;

° Approve the Internal Audit Plan for Financial Year 2023/2024;

> Approve the financial plan of Deloitte NL group for 2024/2025, and approval of the budget of Deloitte
Accountants BV,

° Set-up a remuneration policy for the SB, which was approved by the GM;

> Determine the remuneration of the BL A&A and NPPD Audit;

> Approve the decision of the EB regarding the year end assessment of the Compliance officer Wta.

° Approve the strategy 2024-2027 and long term objectives for the Executive Board;

° Approve the SB charter to reflect the updated Corporate governance code, and the SB profile;

° Approve the resolution of the EB regarding PIE accreditations and the decision to appoint new directors
with the authority to sign off on (statutory) audit engagements;

> Determine the EB members’ goalsetting;
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° |ncrease in the fixed remuneration and annual determination of the variable remuneration within the
bandwidth as prescribed by the Audit regulatory framework.

Supervisory Board teaming meeting and performance review

In the previous annual report, we reported on the SB's effectiveness assessment in line with the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code and audit legislation, supported by an external party. This evaluation concluded in July 2023 with
a facilitated dialogue between the EB and SB. By the end of financial year 2023/2024, the SB again has revisited its
effectiveness, addressing its strengths, weaknesses, performance, and lessons learned. Key themes included
enhancing interactions between the SB, EB, and other policymakers, the decision to establish robust governance
for the investigation into answer sharing, the internal learning culture and learning behaviour of its professionals
ensuring thorough SB oversight, the desire to sometimes extend meeting duration to address all developments
adequately, continuance of transforming educational sessions from informational to experiential learning, and
improving the detailed feedback from stakeholder discussions with individual SB members to the entire SB. The SB
plans to define its priorities in collaboration with the EB and partners to further improve its effectiveness, and
strategic focus further.

Throughout the year, discussions on the SB's composition were also prominent, particularly during the succession
processes leading to Corien Wortmann's appointment and the recently started selection process for a new SB-
member, effectively succeeding Vincent Moolenaar.

Annual performance evaluation Executive Board and Audit management

In accordance with relevant legislation, the SB has also evaluated the performance of the EB and the daily
policymakers of Deloitte Accountants BV. in Financial Year 2023/2024. The Remuneration & Nomination
Committee of the SB held two sessions i.e. mid-term and year-end with each member of the EB regarding their
individual performance and long term and short-term objectives. The SB also evaluated the performance of the
Business Lead Audit & Assurance and NPPD Audit and provided feedback.

Highlights of the work of the Audit & Finance Committee during Financial Year 2023/2024

The Audit & Finance Committee (A&FC) assists the SB in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities regarding the quality
of internal and external financial reporting, financial risk management, the control framework, internal audit,
engagement with the external auditor, financing and tax. In doing so, it considers the outcome of internal audits,
the audit report of the external auditor, the in control statement, and assessments of compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

The A&FC held six meetings during Financial Year 2023/2024, in the presence of the A&FC members, the COO
and CFO, the lead partner of BDO, the Risk & Reputation Lead, the Chief Audit Executive, one or two members of
the Partnership Council and other invitees where required. The A&FC chair had additional informal and
preparatory meetings with the COO and CFO, the Chief Audit Executive and BDO. The A&FC also met in a private
setting with (i) the Chief Audit Executive and (i) the external auditor.

In addition to the above, the work of the A&FC was focused on, among other things:

ESG/CSRD;
Budget of Deloitte Netherlands and the audit firm, including quarterly forecasts;
Evaluation of the progress on the Audit Quality Indicators of BDO;

+ The materiality assessment of the Integrated Annual Report;
Fraud risks, accounting and reporting attention points;

+ Spotlight sessions on tax, pensions and insurance;
Execution of this year's Internal Audit plan, discussions about and monitoring of internal audit report findings,
recommendations and management’s responses, including their implementation;
Regular updates on the In Control statement;
Review of any litigation or other financially contentious matters;
Consideration of reliance on and assurance over NSE and Global systems.

Highlights of the work of the Quality, Integrity & Risk Committee during Financial Year 2023/2024

The Quiality, Integrity & Risk Committee (QIRC) assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities regarding
quality, integrity and risk management of the EB. Within this scope, the QIRC discusses the principal strategic,
operational, financial and compliance risks that the firm is to be exposed to and the steps taken by management to
mitigate those risks. It does so, based on reports of, among others, the Risk and Reputation Lead, key risk owners,
the Compliance Officer Wta, the Director of Independence, the Ethics officer and the General Counsel.
Furthermore, the Committee monitors initiatives to enhance the quality of the services provided by each of the
businesses and the Audit business in particular.



In Financial Year 2023/2024 the QIRC, in presence of the QIRC members, the Chief Quality Officer, Risk &
Reputation Lead, the Business Lead Audit and NPPD Audit for Audit related topics, two members of the
Partnership Council and other invitees, held five regular meetings. Key topics include the following:

Besides a regular update on Audit initiatives and progress on the Audit Quality Plan, the QIRC discussed,
among other matters, Fraud and going concern, the Transparency report, the Culture program, ISQM1,
Deloitte’s client continuance process and portfolio risk review, results of the Monitoring & Remediation
program, evaluation of the conditional malus policy, and the outcome of Partner and Director Year End
evaluations, various reports of the regulators and quartermasters and changes of policies regarding the
System of Quality;

+ The QIRC held a meeting in the presence of all Advisory Business Leads and Business Risk leads to discuss
quality & risk management in building an innovative business, especially regarding Innovative Al propositions
and tooling, and specific risks in doing international business across EMEA;

+ The Committee discussed litigation and risk management cases;

+ The QIRC assessed the process and monitored developments regarding Deloitte’s Enterprise Risk Framework
and other risk priorities. Risks that are associated with the following topics were reviewed in more detail: Our
reputation, role and future public interest impact, the highest risk engagement program, crypto services and
clients, the culture of client confidentiality and the portfolio risk review of the Deloitte NL group;

+ The Responsible Business Committee, further NSE Integration and the investigation into answer sharing and
Deloitte’s internal learning culture were important agenda items too.

Highlights of the work of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee during Financial Year 2023/2024
The Remuneration & Nomination Committee (RNC) oversees the remuneration policy for partners and employees
of Deloitte Netherlands, and prepares the SB's decision making on amendments to the remuneration policy of
partners and employees of the Audit firm. The RNC also supports the SB in decisions regarding the remuneration
of the EB members, including an assessment of their individual performance. Based on Audit legislation, decisions
of the EB regarding the remuneration of daily policymakers of the Audit firm are subject to approval of the SB as
well. In addition to two EB members, who are also daily policymaker of Deloitte Accountants B.V., this concerns
currently three other statutory board members of Deloitte Accountants BV.: the BL Audit & Assurance, the NPPD
Audit and the C&l Lead Audit & Assurance. The RNC is furthermore responsible for preparing the selection and
nomination by the SB of new members of the EB, daily policymakers of Deloitte Accountants BV. and the SB itself.

The RNC held four regular meetings during Financial Year 2023/2024, in the presence of the RNC members, the
CEO, the CHRO and two members of the Partnership Council. Eight extra meetings took place, mainly focused on
the selection and nomination of a new EB member, the selection of a new daily policymaker Audit & Assurance,
and the selection of two new SB members. Key highlights of the Committee’s work included:

Updates from the CHRO on specific topics, like the engage for change survey, recruitment, retention, reasons
for leaving Deloitte, strategic work force management and leadership programs;
Preparation of the remuneration policy for SB members;
Preparation of the SB's decision-making regarding the fixed part and variable part of the remuneration for EB
members;

-+ The annual and marginal review of the partner mapping process;
Preparation of the SB's decision-making regarding the re-appointment of the Chairman of the SB;
Preparation of the appointment of Harvey Christophers as CQO, Bas Savert as daily policymaker Audit &
Assurance, Corien Wortmann as SB member, and the succession of Vincent Moolenaar;
Discussions about various items, for example the equity partner income, the succession management
approach and succession pools for important leadership positions;
Compilation of feedback from all SB members and internal stakeholders for MY and YE conversations of the
EB members.

Highlights of the work of the Temporary Committee Learning investigation during Financial Year
2023/2024

Deloitte has initiated an investigation into the internal learning culture and learning behaviour of its professionals.
The SB oversees the full breadth of the investigation. The Temporary Committee Learning investigation is formed
to support the SB in its governance role by overseeing the project in more detail, and advising the SB on related
matters. The Committee held 14 regular meetings during Financial Year 2023/2024, in the presence of the
Committee members, the CQO and on invitation the RRL. Key topics for discussion included:

+ The remediation & sanction matrix;
+ The scope, planning and execution of the investigation;
Root cause analysis, appropriate remedial actions and initiatives to enhance the learning culture.



Profile of the members of the SB

Hans van der Noordaa (1961)
Member since 2020

Hans van der Noordaa has many years of national and international experience as a banker and insurer. He was
CEO of Delta Lloyd (2015-2017) and was previously a member of the Executive Board of ING Bank and a member
of the Executive Board of ING Group.

External positions and activities:

- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of War Child
- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Johan Cruijff Arena

Hans van der Noordaa is also a (non-voting) independent Non-Executive member of the Deloitte NSE Board.

Vincent G. Moolenaar (1963)
Member since 2016

Vincent Moolenaar worked at Shell in various Commercial and General Management positions, including the
position of Vice President Internal Audit for five years. In addition, he worked at Ahold as Chief Audit Executive from
2010 to late 2015 and from 2015 to late 2018 as Global Integration Program Leader of the merger of Ahold and
Delhaize.

External positions and activities:

Business Director Board & Governance at Nyenrode Business Universiteit
+ Chairman Supervisory Board ‘Identiteitsvoorzieningen & Digitalisering Notariaat Holding BV
Member Supervisory Board of ‘Stichting Slachtofferhulp Nederland’
Member Supervisory Board ‘Stichting Museum Slot Loevestein’
Member Supervisory Board of ‘Stichting ProDemos’
+ Council (Raad') of the Corporate Chamber (‘Ondernemingskamer’) of the Amsterdam Court
Member national selection committee for judges (LSR)
+ Chairman Advisory Board ‘Institute of Internal Auditors Netherlands’
+ Chairman of the ‘alumni association Nyenrode New Board Program’
Chairman Supervisory Board ‘Stichting Reward Value'
Member Selection & Appointment committee of the Restitution Commission
Member Audit Committee of the Central Bureau of Statistics
+ Auditor at the NVZD
+ Coach at NGL International BV.

Denise Larnder (1960)
Member since 2021

Denise Larnder is a chartered accountant and a fellow of the ICAEW. As an external auditor, she served various
insurance companies and other highly regulated entities, acted as lead audit partner for the firm's largest pension
schemes, and engagement quality review partner for listed clients. She was also involved in leading quality review
activities overseas. After a long career as an audit partner and external auditor at EY UK until December 2016,
where she also held various management and quality roles, she made the definitive transition to being a Non-
Executive Director.

External positions and activities:
Non-Executive Director Highway Insurance Company Limited

Non-Executive Director Liverpool Victoria General Insurance Group Limited and LVI Company Limited
Non-Executive Director Allianz (UK) Limited, Allianz Holdings Plc and Allianz Insurance Plc
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Bas Verhart (1972)
Member since 2021

Bas has many years of experience as an entrepreneur, mostly focused on the cutting edge of digital and media,
and is co-founder of, among others, THNK School of Creative Leadership, Media Republic and DFFRNT. He is also
the founder and initiator of various social initiatives, including The Green Challenge. Bas has had various Non-
Executive Board roles and is (or has been) a member of various Advisory Boards. He was a member of the
Innovation Platform and the Amsterdam Economic Board. Bas also acts as a keynote speaker, and has spoken at
forums such as the Amsterdam Global CEO Event, the Stanford Global Innovation Leadership Program and the
World Future Trends Conference.

External positions and activities:

Board member of DFFRNT
Board member of Stichting Rare Earth
Member of the Advisory Board of Stichting Chapter Zero Netherlands.

Corien Wortmann (1959)
Member since 2024

Corien Wortmann has served, among other roles, as the Chair of the Board at Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP, as
Vice Chair (Economic, Finance, and Environment) for the EPP Group in the European Parliament, and is currently a
Non-Executive Board Member of DSM Firmenich AG and AEGON Ltd, and Chair of the Supervisory Board of
Netspar. Her distinguished career in a variety of executive and supervisory positions, both within the Netherlands
and internationally, has provided Corien Wortmann with deep understanding of complex governance structures
and the challenges of managing diverse stakeholder relationships.

External positions and activities:
+ Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Aegon Ltd.

Member of the Board of Directors of DSM-Firmenich AG/DSM BJV.
+ Chair of the Supervisory Board of Netspar

+ Advisor of Taste, Texture & Health Business of DSM-Firminich AG and the development of the Biotech Campus

in Delft.
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Risk management

In an ever-changing world, effective risk management is essential for ensuring the continuity and
success of our organisation. At Deloitte, risk management is embedded across all layers of our
operations. In this section of our Integrated Annual Report, we present our Risk Mitigation &
Assurance Map, a comprehensive framework that systematically brings together all our key risk
management frameworks.

This Risk Mitigation & Assurance Map is designed not only to identify, assess, and mitigate various risks but also to
ensure continuous improvement of our risk management activities. Through this integrated approach, we can
proactively address potential challenges and opportunities in the internal- and external environment, contributing
to the protection and enhancement of our value to stakeholders.

Our internal financial control framework is one of the key risk management frameworks that we have. In the
current economic headwind, driven by, among others, geopolitical tensions across the globe, our internal financial
control framework played a pivotal role in navigating through challenging times, ensuring the resilience and stability
of our organisation. This comprehensive framework is designed to monitor our financial activities and safeguard
our assets, enabling us to maintain financial integrity and operational efficiency amidst market volatility.

At the core of our financial control framework is robust risk assessment and management processes that help
identify potential financial risks early. By doing so, we have been able to proactively formulate and implement risk
mitigation strategies that are crucial in times of economic uncertainty. Our framework includes stringent controls
over financial reporting, budgeting, and expense management, which ensure that our financial resources are used
effectively and aligned with our strategic objectives.

Another key risk management framework is our overarching enterprise risk framework. As Deloitte embraces
transformative strategic initiatives such as modernising our common storefront (see page 6), establishing trade
corridors, and enhancing North-South-East (NSE) integration, robust risk management remains pivotal. These
strategic manoeuvres introduce varied risks including e.g. employee engagement, service delivery quality, public
interest risks and regulatory complexities. To navigate these challenges, Deloitte relies on its comprehensive
enterprise risk framework that ensures operational resilience, compliance with international regulations, and the
maintenance of high standards in client service and corporate governance. Our (pro-) active approach in identifying
and mitigating potential risks not only safeguards but also enhances the firm's value and reputation.

In case we are confronted with unforeseen events we are able to rely on a robust business continuity management
system. Our focus and dedication to business continuity management is proven by the extension of our 22301 1SO
certification.

Risk governance remains embedded in our overall governance structure. The primary responsibility for identifying
and managing risks, both internal and external, resides with line management, the Executive Committee and
ultimately the Executive Board, with oversight from our Supervisory Board. Twice a year the updated NSE ERF is the
basis for the refresh of the NL risk profile.

In late May 2024, the NL risk profile was updated by our CQO and Risk & Reputation Leader (RRL) by assessing the
impact of trends & themes, both internal and external, to our risk exposure. The updated risk profile coming out of
this exercise will be discussed with our Executive Board and Supervisory Board in the first months of Financial Year
2024/2025.

Relevant risk owners are responsible for implementing robust risk mitigating plans and periodically report on the
progress of risk mitigating activities. The RRL, who reports to the CQO, has day-to-day responsibility for the overall
system of quality control for Risk Management and Reporting. As part of this responsibility the RRL oversees the
Enterprise Risk Framework and corresponding risk and control systems through, among other measures, periodic
meetings with the individual risk owners to discuss and review mitigations.
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On an annual basis, the Executive Board evaluates the performance of, and acknowledges its overall accountability
for, the effectiveness of the risk and control system through an internal in-control statement. To substantiate the
evaluation, the Board obtains input from line management, the RRL and the internal auditor, who assesses the key
elements of the risk and control system. The Executive Board also considers the findings and reporting of the
external auditor on the functioning of internal controls as part of their annual audit engagement.

Activities in 2023/2024

During 2023, we created a more forward-looking approach to risks which could impact the reputation of Deloitte
NL by bringing together the expertise of a representative and diverse group of subject matter experts from
different enabling areas, leveraging various sensing capabilities and ongoing research related to horizon risks, via a
consistent and repeatable process.

Scenarios for potential threats on the risk horizon were reported to a Horizon Scanning Lab with senior partners
and relevant subject matter experts. In this Lab our risk appetite and potential for additional risk mitigating
strategies were discussed. The output of this Lab was used to enrich the enterprise risk framework and to inform a
range of teams across Deloitte NL.

The reputational risk of failing to achieve our net zero targets for climate change has been a relative new priority
business risk with a very high exposure. Other risk dimensions of climate change are described in the Climate and
CO, chapter on page3 136-146.

Priority Business Risks

The risk universe of DTTL Global Risk contains all relevant risks for a company like ours. The DTTL risk universe is
periodically complemented with topics that arise from dialogues with our leadership and risk owners and with
trends and themes coming out of our refreshed horizon scanning capability. This holistic risk overview is input for
the periodic re-assessment of our risk profile, in the context of our Strategy 2027 and our risk appetite. Resulting
from the periodic re-assessment, we have agreed on priority business risks and opportunities related to our
strategy (see the risk radar below). The current exposure (or residual risk) is the likelihood of a risk materialising,
and its impact given our current ability to mitigate that risk. It is assessed on a scale of ‘medium’ (green) to ‘very
high' (red) taking both residual impact and residual likelihood into account.
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The current ‘top of mind’ themes (e.g. our learning culture, economic and geopolitical challenges including
subsequent growth outlook, increasing societal polarisation, Gen-Al, the volume of change and public interest) are
integrated in our priority business risks in the risk radar. Most of the risks in which the themes have been

integrated have the highest exposure.
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In the following table, the risks assessed with a high risk rating are shown. The risks associated with the
employment of financial instruments are described in note 5 of the Financial statements.

Risk Risk description Risk area* Risk appetite** Mitigating
measures
Audit quality Failure to prevent systemic  Strategic, Laws & Low: Deloitte is committed to Pages
or major failure of audit regulations, high quality execution 178-181
quality. Financial
Advisory delivery & Failure to prevent systemic  Strategic, Low: Deloitte is committed to Pages
risk management  or major failure of advisory ~ Operational high quality execution 178-181
quality.
Conduct & Ethics  Failure to establish, embed  Strategic, Low: Deloitte is committed to Pages
and sustain an inclusive and Operational our shared values and 181-184
ethical culture. strives to limit ethical
breaches
Confidentiality, Failure to manage data Operational, Low: Deloitte is committed to Pages
privacy & security  security and privacy. Laws & preventing, being prepared  184-186
regulations for and responding to
breaches and data loss in a
timely fashion
Economic, Failure to anticipate, adapt ~ Strategic, Medium: Deloitte is Pages 10-14
geopolitical and to and respond to changes  Operational, committed to (pro-)actively
competitor shifts  in the economic-, Financial respond to economic-,
geopolitical- and geopolitical- and competitor
competitor- landscape driven changes
Our reputation, Failure to anticipate, adapt ~ Strategic, Low: Deloitte is committed to Pages 18-19,
role & future to and respond to external ~ Operational making an impact that 178-181
public-interest scrutiny, criticism and matters on our clients and
impact regulation. society
Purpose Failure to establish, embed  Strategic, Low: Deloitte is committed to Pages 10-14
and sustain a Purpose Operational our Purpose
driven culture.
People & culture  Failure to attract, develop Operational, Low: Deloitte is committed to Pages
and retain high-performing  Financial employing top class 157-171

and diverse professionals
and world-class leaders;
failure to deliver the
resource models of the
future.

personnel through agile
talent models.

*The risks in the table above can be categorised in more than one of the four impact areas that we identify (see the

above risk radar). For the sake of simplicity, we have placed them in the category that we deem to be most

appropriate.

**Risk appetite is operationally translated in our Risk Mitigation & Assurance map to monitor exposure and act if

needed.

A fraud risk assessment is an integral part of the assessment of the risks and the control environment. Key areas
covered by these controls are related to revenue recognition, financial reporting, bank transactions and

management override of controls. The tone at the top encourages an ethical culture. Fraud and anti-corruption are

an essential part in the learning curriculum of all partners and employees.
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In control statement

Our ERF helps us to maintain control, have the right information available, comply with applicable laws and

regulations, and meet our own high-quality standards. Based on the entire system of quality controls, our Executive
Board is able to state that:

1. The report provides sufficient insights into the effectiveness of the internal risk management and control
systems;

2. The aforementioned systems provide reasonable assurance that the financial reporting does not contain any
material inaccuracies;

3. Based on the current state of affairs, it is justified that the financial reporting is prepared on a going concern
basis; and

4. The report outlines the material risks and uncertainties that are relevant to the expectation of the company's
continuity for the period of twelve months after its preparation.
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Annex 1:
Financial statements




Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year
ended May 31, 2024

In € thousands Note 202372024 2022/2023
Revenue 22 1,393,999 1,359,495
Other operating income 2.3 936 1,001
Total operating income 1,394,935 1,360,496
Costs of subcontracted work and other external 24 277,270 293,270
costs
Salaries and social security charges 2.5 746,733 697,200
Amortisation of intangible lassets and depreciation 16 52,707 47,786
of property, plant and equipment
Impairments Qf intangible assets and property, 46 0 1160
plant and equipment
Other operating expenses 2.6 142,910 145,336
Total operating expenses 1,219,620 1,184,752
Operating result 175,315 175,744
Financial income 53 1,636 119
Financial expenses 53 (18,864) (11,213)
Share of result from participating interests 1,638 143
Result before taxation and management fee 159,725 164,793
Management fee and compensation members of
Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. 2.8 (145,871) (156,293)
?eeesult before taxation and after management 13,854 8,500
Taxation on result of activities 7.1 (10,125) (7,205)
Profit for the year 3,729 1,295
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
Foreign exchange differences on translation of

. : 22 (10)
foreign operations
Items that may not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Movement in net fair value on investments in equity (40) (471)
instruments classified as at Fair Value Through OCI
Total other comprehensive income, net of (18) (481)

income tax

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,711 814




Consolidated statement of financial position
at May 31, 2024 (before result appropriation)

Assets (In € thousands) Note May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Non-current assets

Intangible assets 4.2 15,210 14,247
Property, plant and equipment - owned assets 43 57,205 50,938
Property, plant and equipment - right-of-use assets 44 240,229 154,353
Deferred tax assets 7.2 6,164 8,078
Investments 4.5 2,142 2,031
Other non-current assets 8.1 6,515 5,688
Total non-current assets 327,465 235,335

Current assets

Unbilled services 3.2 123,223 139,157
Trade and other receivables 33 263,375 253,959
Cash and cash equivalents 52 108,043 7,636
Total current assets 494,641 400,752
Total assets 822,106 636,087
Equity and liabilities (in thousands) Note May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Equity 195 (2,836)

Non-current liabilities

Membership capital 5.1 6,700 6,475
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 52 184,927 131,952
Lease liabilities 4.4 216,232 130,253
Provisions 8.2 769 939
Deferred tax liabilities 7.2 1,592 1,519
Total non-current liabilities 410,220 271,138

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 3.4 360,666 317,201
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 52 9,848 6,833
Lease liabilities 4.4 40,829 42,284
Provisions 8.2 348 1,467
Total current liabilities 411,691 367,785
Total liabilities 821,911 638,923

Total equity and liabilities 822,106 636,087




Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended May 31, 2024

in € thousands Note Legal reserves  Other reserves  Result for the year Total
Balance at June 1, 2022 53 (4,680) 1,713 (2914)
Profit for the year 0 0 1,295 1,295
Movement other comprehensive (10) (471) 0 (481)
income

Total comprehensive income for the (10) @71 1295 314
year

Deemed distribution 0 (945) 0 (945)
Profit appropriation prior financial year 0 1,922 (1,713) 209
Movement capitalised costs 2.8 (136) 136 0 0
Balance at May 31, 2023 (93) (4,038) 1,295 (2,836)
Profit for the year 0 0 3,729 3,729
Movement other comprehensive 29 (40) 0 (18)
income

Total comprehensive income for the 2 (40) 3,729 3711
year

Deemed distribution 0 (516) 0 (516)
Profit appropriation prior financial year 0 1,131 (1,295) (164)
Movement capitalised costs 2.8 0 0 0 0
Balance at May 31, 2024 (71) (3,463) 3,729 195
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Consolidated statement of cash flow for the
year ended May 31, 2024

(Prepared using the indirect method)

in € thousands Note 2023/2024 2022/2023
Cash flow generated from operating activities 2.7 137,366 48,309
Interest received 1,628 69
Interest paid (13,567) (7,318)
Interest paid on lease liabilities 53 (4,289) (2,363)
Dividend received 1,012 0
Corporate income tax paid (9,262) (6,378)

(24,478) (15,990)
Net cash from operating activities 112,888 32,319

Net cash from investing activities

Investments in intangible fixed assets 4.2 (73) (19)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 43 (20,058) (14,593)
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment 43 1,666 335
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 4.1 (860) (2,097)
Investments in other financial assets 8.1 (1,836) (1,125)
Repayment of other financial assets 8.1 8 2
Cash flow from/(used in) investment activities (21,153) (17,497)

Net cash from financing activities
Stichting Financiering Deloitte/Members:

- Receipts subordinated loans 52 60,540 13,300
- Repayment of subordinated loans 52 (10,513) (5,887)
Net cash inflow from members 50,027 7,413
Receipts from non-current liabilities 5.1 775 700
Payments to non-current liabilities 5.1 (500) (325)
Repayment of lease liabilities 4.4 (41,652) (38,774)
Repayment of other (interest-bearing) loans 5.2 0 0
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities 8,650 (30,986)
Net cash flow 100,385 (16,164)
Cash and cash equivalents at start of financial year 7,636 23,810
Movements in cash and cash equivalents 100,385 (16,164)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 22 (10)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 52 108,043 7,636




Notes to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended May 31, 2024

1. Basis of preparation

Reporting entity

Activities

Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. (“‘the Company”) is a cooperative which has its registered office and its principal place of
business in Rotterdam, Wilhelminakade 1, The Netherlands and is registered with the Chamber of Commerce with
number 63086174. Codperatief Deloitte U.A. is the direct parent of Deloitte Holding BV. and its subsidiaries. The
ultimate controlling party of the Company is Deloitte NSE LLP, a limited liability partnership registered in England
and Wales. The activities of Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. and the companies in its group (“The Group”) consist mainly of
Audit & Assurance, Tax & Legal, Risk Advisory, Financial Advisory and Consulting, as well as other forms of
professional services. These activities are conducted by and for the account of the respective Group companies of
Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. and Deloitte Holding B.V. which acts as holding companies and do not themself conduct
any activities in the field of professional services as referred to in the previous sentence.

International relationships

On June 1, 2017 Cobperatief Deloitte U.A. became a member of Deloitte North West Europe, Deloitte NWE LLP, a
member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (DTTL) with six Geographies: Belgium, Ireland (joined June 1,
2018), the Netherlands, the Nordics (Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden), Switzerland, and the United
Kingdom. On June 1, 2019 Greece, Italy and Malta joined Deloitte North West Europe with the name changed to
Deloitte North and South Europe, Deloitte NSE LLP. On June 1, 2020, Deloitte Middle East (DME) has officially
become part of Deloitte NSE. Deloitte NSE LLP is a member of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. As of December 15, 2020
Deloitte NSE No2 CLG became a member of Codperatief Deloittte U.A. and holds 2/3 of the votes in the general
meeting of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. Deloitte NSE No2 CLG is a subsidiary of Deloitte NSE LLP. Deloitte NSE LLP is a
member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (DTTL), a UK private company limited by guarantee. Each
member firm provides services in a particular geographic area and is subject to the laws and professional
regulations of the particular country or countries in which it operates. DTTL does not itself provide services to
clients. DTTL and each DTTL member firm are separate and distinct legal entities, which cannot obligate each
other. DTTL and each DTTL member firm are liable only for their own acts or omissions and not those of each
other. Each DTTL member firm is structured differently in accordance with national laws, regulations, customary
practice, and other factors, and may secure the provision of professional services in its territory through
subsidiaries, affiliates, and/or other entities.

Group relationships

Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. is the direct parent of Deloitte Holding B.V. and its subsidiaries. In these consolidated
financial statement Deloitte refers to Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. and its subsidiaries. For a list of subsidiaries
required by article 2:379 of the Dutch Civil Code reference is made to the notes to the company balance sheet.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as endorsed by the EU and the requirements of Title 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.



Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in euros (€) which is the functional and presentation currency of the Group.
All amounts in the financial statements are presented in thousands of euros rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless stated otherwise.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange of services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/ or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis. Unless stated otherwise for
financial instruments not carried at fair value the carrying amount is a reasonable approximate of the fair value.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurements in its entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Changes in accounting policies for 2023/2024

In the current year, the Group has applied amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued by the Board
that are effective for the annual period under review. Their adoption has not had any material impact on the
disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements.

Going concern

The Executive Board has assessed the going concern assumption as part the preparation of the financial
statements based on the available financial information including budget and forecast information. The
assessment included both solvency, cashflow and performance metrics.

Solvency

The partners (members A) provide funding to the group via subordinated loans and membership capital. The
subordinated loans are directly linked to the number of partners and will continue for the duration of their
partnership. As a consequence of the generally stable number of equity partners, the company does not expect a
situation of a noteworthy net repayment of such loans in the coming years. The members have agreed to annually
retain an amount €1,043 of Cotperatief Deloitte U.A''s earnings annually until May 31, 2026.

Performance

The performance of the Group remained strong. Intelligent risk management supported by mature incident
response capabilities created opportunities and enabled us to respond in case of unforeseen events and is key to
sustaining performance.

Based on our strategy, we offer diverse business and service offerings combined with integrated solutions for our
clients across businesses. Furthermore, no events or conditions are expected to raise doubt about the ability of
the Group to continue in operation throughout the next reporting period.

Cashflow

The cash generating ability of the Group based on past performance and future planned performance, continues

to show sufficient cash generation capability and is expected to form a solid basis for distributing funds from
Deloitte Holding B.V. to Cooperatief Deloitte U.A., and from Cotperatief Deloitte U.A. to its members.
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Furthermore, we consider that the combination of our focus on working capital management, available credit
facilities, and the ability to manage upfront partner management fee distributions, equips us to meet our
obligations and continue as a going concern. As at the year end date, the available credit facilities is not used. We
operate, and expect to operate within the limits of our covenants.

The Executive Board is confident about the future outlook for the Deloitte Netherlands Group. The financial
statements are prepared applying the going concern assumption. Our financial statements state those material
risks and uncertainties that are relevant to the expectation of the Group's continuity for the period of twelve
months after the approval of this report by the Executive Board.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

Has power over the investee;
Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than a majority
of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it
power, including:

+ The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vote holders;
Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

-+ Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary starts when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. Profit or
loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. The
company financial statements of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. are included in the financial statements. Accordingly, in
accordance with article 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code, the company financial statements only contain an abridged
profit and loss account.
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Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. When the Group loses
control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/ permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS9 Financial Instruments,
when applicable, or the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of all entities within the Group is the Euro, except for Deloitte Dutch Caribbean BV. In
preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the Group's
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange
differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

The significant accounting policies are described in the relevant individual notes to the Consolidated financial
statements or otherwise stated below.

Accounting policies, not attributable to a specific section
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a current enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost, ‘at fair value through profit or

loss' (FVTPL) or ‘at fair value through other comprehensive income’ (FVOCI). The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. The classification of
financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15.

All regular purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulations or convention in the marketplace.
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Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCl with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition (equity instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

This category comprises the majority of the financial assets of the Group. The Group measures financial assets at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

+ The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows

+ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired. The Group's financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments)
The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCl if both of the following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling

+ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in OCl is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCl when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment
assessment. The Group elected to classify irrevocably its non-listed equity investments under this category.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be
measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at fair value through OCl, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

62



Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Effective interest method

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

An allowance is recognised for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all financial assets not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that are expected to be received, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months after the
balance sheet date (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). A default situation occurs when a debtor fails
to make full-payment within 30 days after the agreed due-date, unless the related receivable has been disputed.
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs. Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's own
equity instruments.
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Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL or ‘amortised
cost'. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include membership capital, trade and other payables, loans and borrowings
including bank overdrafts.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the EIR. The effective interest amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified
as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. Changes in balance sheet items that have not
resulted in cash flows such as translation differences, fair value changes and other non-cash items have been
eliminated for the purpose of preparing this statement. Assets and liabilities acquired as part of a business
combination are included in investing activities (net of cash acquired). Dividends received are classified as
operating activities. Interest paid is also included in operating activities.

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Executive Board to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates inherently contain a degree of uncertainty.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The Group evaluates
these estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis and bases the estimates on historical experience, current and
expected future outcomes, third-party evaluations and various other assumptions that the Executive Board
believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to circumstances beyond the Group's control and are reflected in the assumptions
if and when they occur. For further discussion on these judgments and estimates, reference is made to the
respective notes within these consolidated financial statements.
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Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in
the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

This includes:

Identifying the performance obligation (note 2.2)
Contingent fees (notes 2.2)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material judgement to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year as well as to the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Significant sources of estimation uncertainty
- Timing of satisfaction of performance obligations (note 2.2)
Professional liability provision (note 8.2)
Provisions (note 8.2)
Other areas with judgments and estimates
Other areas with judgments and estimates, but not key estimates,
Expected credit losses (note 3.3)
determining the incremental borrowing rate (see note 4.4)

useful lives of (in)tangible assets (see note 4.6)
impairments (see note 4.7),
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2. Operational performance

2.1 Financial information per business

The businesses of the Group comprise Audit & Assurance, Tax & Legal, Consulting, Risk Advisory and Financial
Advisory which engage in business activities for external clients and Support/Other which mainly provides internal
services. All operating businesses operating results are reviewed regularly by the Executive Board to assess their
performance for which there is discrete financial information available. Business results that are reported to the
Executive Board include items directly attributable to a business. Corporate costs, such as cost of fixed assets,
accommodation-, office-, IT- and innovation expenses are the responsibility of the Support/Other business and are
allocated on a reasonable basis to the five businesses. The Group mainly operates in the Netherlands and the
Caribbean business is not material to the Group, there is only one geographic business.

The pricing of transactions between the different businesses is determined in accordance with objective and
commercial principles. There are no differences between the principles for the valuation of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the business information. The Group voluntarily discloses information per business
but does not apply IFRS 8.
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2023/2024

Support &

in € thousands Audit & Tax & Risk Financial Other/

Assurance Legal  Consulting Advisory Advisory  Eliminations  Consolidated
Third party 326258 278484 452093 206128 130,708 328 1,393,999
revenue
Intercompany 32,568 12,927 58,590 29,041 34,967 (168,093) 0
revenue
Total revenue 358,826 291,411 510,683 235,169 165,675 (167,765) 1,393,999
Other income 0 0 0 0 0 936 936
g’:ﬁ:it'"g 18,855 51,232 49,852 18,366 34,144 2,866 175,315
Share in result
of
nonconsolidated 1,638
associated
companies
Financial income (1 7,228)
and expenses
Management
fee and
compensation (145,871)
members !
Cotperatief
Deloitte U.A.
Corporate (10,125)
income tax
Net result
after taxation 3,729
Current assets 72,864 92,994 122,052 40,193 43,344 123,194 494,641
Non-current 937 995 8,471 5,725 0 309,195 325,323
assets
Investments 0 20 0 294 0 1,828 2,142
Total assets 73,801 94,009 130,523 46,212 43,344 434,217 822,106
Current 53,281 45,675 78,208 28,863 14,960 190,704 411,691
Liabilities
Non-current 241 2,477 1,075 16 0 215,106 218,915
liabilities
Total equity /
subordinated 20,279 45,857 51,240 17,333 28,384 28,407 191,500
loans
Total liabilities ;5 g5 94000 130523 46212 43344 434,217 822,106

and equity
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2022/2023

Support &

in € thousands Audit & Tax & Risk Financial Other/

Assurance Legal  Consulting Advisory Advisory  Eliminations  Consolidated
Third party 300,588 263,511 466929 195366 132,653 448 1,359,495
revenue
Intercompany 30,902 13,144 70,975 19,367 24,470 (158,858) 0
revenue
Total revenue 331,490 276,655 537,904 214,733 157,123 (158,410) 1,359,495
Other income 0 0 0 0 0 1,001 1,001
g’:ﬁ:it'"g 26,974 45,125 60,865 10,044 31,077 1,659 175,744
Share in result
of
nonconsolidated 143
associated
companies
Financial income (11’094)
and expenses
Management
fee and
compensation (156,293)
members !
Cotperatief
Deloitte U.A.
Corporate (7.205)
income tax
Net result
after taxation 1,295
Current assets 79,755 91,968 144,884 39,022 42,288 2,835 400,752
Non-current 937 1,326 7,535 5,653 0 217,853 233,304
assets
Investments 0 20 0 143 0 1,868 2,031
Total assets 80,692 93,314 152,419 44,818 42,288 222,556 636,087
Current 51,559 49,032 87,532 33,053 16,173 130,436 367,785
Liabilities
Non-current 392 3,449 985 21 0 132,315 137,162
liabilities
Total equity /
subordinated 28,741 40,833 63,902 11,744 26,115 (40,195) 131,140
loans
Total liabilities g o) 93314 152419 44,818 42,288 222,556 636,087

and equity
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2.2 Revenue
Accounting policies
Revenue recognition

The Group generates revenue primarily by delivering professional services to clients, with the types of services
offered being similar within each of its services lines of Audit & Assurance, Risk Advisory, Tax & Legal, Consulting
and Financial Advisory. Each service line offers a wide range of services and, when delivered to individual clients,
these are almost always bespoke in nature. However the performance obligations tend to be consistent from client
to client and the ones the Group most commonly satisfies are:

External audit services

Direct and indirect tax compliance services
Technology solution design and implementation
Reports on business or compliance issues
Project management services

As a provider of professional services the Group generally does not have obligations for returns, refunds or other
similar obligations, nor does it have warranties or other related obligations.

Revenue of services

The amount of consideration the Group receives varies both service to service and from client to client, reflecting
the bespoke nature of the services the Group provides. The consideration typically reflects the skills and
experience of the individuals who provide the services as well as the availability of similar skills and experience in
the wider professional services market. These factors tend to vary from service line to service line. The
consideration the Group receives is typically based on one or more of four principal pricing mechanisms:

Time and material
Fixed fee

Contingent fee
Transaction revenues

The Group adjusts its estimate of revenue throughout the contractual period of services, and for amounts which
are variable, such as contingent fees, at the earlier of when the most likely amount of consideration the Group
expects to receive changes or when the consideration becomes fixed.

Most of the Group's contractual arrangements comprise a single performance obligation. For those contractual
arrangements that comprise multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated on the basis of
the relative estimated stand-alone selling price of each performance obligation. Other than for contingent fee
arrangements which are constrained in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 15, in virtually all contracts the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for services rendered and, given the bespoke nature of the services
provided, recognises revenue over time as such services are rendered. The Group measures progress in satisfying
the performance obligations as follows:

For time and material arrangements, the Group is able to recognise revenue on the basis of time charged to
date. This output method approach uses the practical expedient in IFRS 15 with the amount recognised as
revenue reflecting the amount that the Group has the right to invoice to its customers.

For fixed fee arrangements, the Group uses an input method based upon the value of the services
(determined based upon the number of hours charged and the undiscounted hourly rates) charged to the
engagement to date compared to the total expected inputs. Chargeable time for employees tends to be the
most significant input and this is charged to individual contracts (and performance obligations) via timesheet
reporting. Revenues are recognised as employee time is used to provide the services.

Contingent fees are usually recognised when the contingency is resolved (refer to critical accounting
judgements for further detail).

Transaction related fees are priced on a “per unit” basis, such as data storage or data processing fees, and are
typically recognised as the underlying transactions or usage take place, for the same reason as time and
materials arrangements.
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The Group typically invoices its customers monthly or quarterly in arrears, or for smaller projects at the end of the
engagement, but payment terms do vary depending on the types of services being offered or for individual
contractual agreements. When performance obligations have been satisfied, revenue is recognised and contract
assets are simultaneously created. Contract liabilities represent amounts received for performance obligations
which are not yet satisfied. The Group has determined that no significant financing component exists in respect of
its professional services as the period between when the Group transfers a promised good or service to a
customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less.

Costs to obtain or fulfil a contract

Certain costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised where the Group would not have incurred those costs if the
contract had not been obtained (incremental costs). This would typically be when up-front costs are incurred at
contract inception that generate or enhance resources of the Group that will enable the Group to deliver services
over the lifetime of the contract. Such amounts are not material for the Group.

Key accounting estimates and judgments
Identifying the performance obligation

Determining the number of performance obligations in the contractual arrangements with the Group's customers
sometimes involves judgement. Whilst the Group's contractual arrangements often contain extensive details in
relation to the services to be provided, in many cases these are considered to comprise a single performance
obligation. Even when multiple deliverables are to be provided to a customer these are often judged to be a single
performance obligation either because there is a significant service of integration performed by the Group in
delivering these services or because the services represent a series of substantially similar services all recognised
over time (for example, the provision of multiple internal audit reports under an internal outsourcing contract). If
performance obligations were determined differently, then this could affect both the timing and extent of revenue
recognised in a financial period. Where we are delivering multiple performance obligations, these are often
delivered at the same time, so the determination of what performance obligations exists has limited practical
impact on the accounting for revenue.

Contingent fees

The Group provides various services where the amount of consideration is dependent upon the outcome of the
services provided; for example, tax claims and corporate finance services. The uncertainty around the fees
ultimately receivable under these arrangements is generally only fully resolved when a matter is concluded. Where
the Group has sufficient historical experience with similar contracts in order to be able to estimate the expected
outcome of a group of existing contracts reliably, revenue is estimated using the expected value method. Fees are
only included in revenue to the extent that it is highly probable that the cumulative amount of revenue recognised
in respect of a contract at the end of a reporting period will not be subject to a significant revenue reversal when a
matter is concluded. If the Group accounted for contingent fees differently than this could occur in two ways,
either that (a) the variable consideration constraint outlined in IFRS 15 should not be applied at all, or (b) that the
constraint should be applied to all contingent fee engagements. In the case of scenario (a), this would result in the
recognition of revenue over time, as work was performed, if it was considered that the services met one or more of
the criteria for recognition over time. In the case of (b), this would result in the recognition of revenue once the
uncertainty is fully resolved.

Timing of satisfaction of performance obligations
Revenue recognition requires the Group to estimate the expected results of current engagements based on an

estimate of time and costs to be incurred, the estimate of expected additional billing on fixed fee projects and the
assessment of and the collectability of unbilled amounts. For larger engagement this process is inherently complex.
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Revenue from continuing operations

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue for the year from continuing operations.

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Audit & Assurance 326,258 300,588
Tax & Legal 278,484 263,511
Consulting 452,093 466,929
Risk Advisory 206,128 195,367
Financial Advisory 130,708 132,653
Support/Other 328 447

1,393,999 1,359,495

Revenue is mainly realised in the Netherlands.
Remaining performance obligations

As at the year end date, there are contracts with customers where the Group has unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied performance obligations.

The majority of services performed by the Group are in respect of contracts with an expected duration of 1 year or
less either because the services are expected to be provided within a 12 month period or because the customer
and/or Deloitte has the right to terminate the contract without substantive penalty upon the delivery of written
notice. The Group has applied the practical expedient set out in IFRS 15 in respect of presentation of the
transaction price allocated to partially or fully unsatisfied contracts with customers where the contract period is for
a year or less or where the right to consideration corresponds directly to the performance completed to date. As at
31 May 2024 and 2023, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that
are unsatisfied on fixed price contracts with a duration of greater than one year was not material.

The other operating income relates to income not comprising services to clients.

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
ICT hosting for external parties 430 978
Book results of disposed assets 506 23

936 1,001

These are services and expenses directly attributable to engagements.

Accounting policies
Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

The Group has a defined contribution plan for all employees. Contributions payable to the pension plan
administrator are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account. Contributions payable or prepaid
contributions as at year-end are recognised under current liabilities and accruals, and receivables and
prepayments, respectively.

Short term and other long term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
in exchange for that service. Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service. Liabilities recognised
in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.



Personnel Expenses

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Salaries ! 546,959 498,633
Social security charges 77,250 70,483
Pension costs 41,266 36,910
Staff cars 42,503 41,935
Other personnel expenses 38,755 49,239

746,733 697,200

1 Salaries contains €3,840 (2022/2023 €4,383) fixed compensation of the Board.
Workforce

The average number of equity partners and employees working in the Group, in FTE, and broken down by activity:

2023/2024 2022/2023
Equity Fee Support Equity Fee Support

partners Earners staff Total partners Earners staff Total

Audit & Assurance 51 1,757 64 1,872 52 1,710 58 1,820
Tax & Legal 55 1,045 30 1,130 55 1,028 31 1,114
Consulting 96 1,928 34 2,058 85 1,994 32 211
Risk Advisory 38 1,094 21 1,153 35 1,072 20 1,127
Financial Advisory 38 526 3 567 36 513 3 552
Support/Other 5 5 990 1000 4 6 973 983
283 6,355 1,142 7,780 267 6,323 1,117 7,707

Accounting policies

Expenses are decreases in assets, or increases in liabilities, that result in decreases in equity, other than those
relating to distributions to holders of equity claims.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are specified as follows:

In € thousands 202372024 2022/2023
Accommodation costs 15,885 14,955
International member firm fees 38,102 33,122
Office and IT costs 74,946 80,868
Other costs 13,977 16,391

142,910 145,336
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in € thousands Note 2023/2024  2022/2023
Net cash from operating activities

Profit for the year 3,729 1,295
Adjustments for:

- Taxation on result of activities 7.1 10,125 7,205
- Share of result from participating interest 45 (1,638) (143)
- Financial income 53 (1,636) (119)
- Financial expenses 53 18,864 11,213
- Depreciation and amortisation 4.6 12,610 11,527
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4.4 40,097 36,259
- Impairment of intangible fixed assets 4.6 0 1,136
- Impairment of right-of-use assets 4.6 0 24
- Amortisation of non-current assets 8.1 485 485
- Results on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2.3 (506) (23)
Cash flows before movements in working capital 82,130 68,859
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (140) (400)
Change in management fee/compensation members of Cooperatief Deloitte UA. 3.4 26,248 (682)
Change in unbilled services and advance billings 3.2 22,105 7,534
Change in trade receivables 33 (7,358) (8,618)
Change in trade payables 34 15,662 (18,986)
Decrease in provision 8.2 (1,281) 602
Cash flow generated from operating activities 137,366 48,309
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The profit distribution is based on the Associate Agreement Deloitte as of June 1, 2017. The Cooperative will pay
the members of the Cooperative a management fee and a final compensation excluding, an amount that is not
distributed in order to supplement the negative equity of the Cooperative. For 2023/2024 the amount is €1.0
million (2022/2023: €1.0 million). The Group has a financial obligation to compensate partners pursuant to their
Associate Agreement with the Group during the fiscal year and such amounts are recognised as an expense and
not as an appropriation of profit. During the year a management fee was paid with a targeted range of 50%-60% of
the total partner remuneration. A liability will be recognised, after deducting any amount already paid as
management fee for the partner remuneration. If the amount already paid exceeds the amount to be paid, an
asset is be recognised to the extent that the prepayment will lead to a reduction in future payments or a cash

refund.

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023

Result before management fee and taxation 159,725 164,793
Deduction of profits for compensation of negative equity 1,043 1,043
Movement legal reserve not payable to members 0 (136)
Adjustments not payable to members 2,686 388

Proposed deduction of profits (Net result after taxation) 3,729 1,295

Corporate income tax 10,125 7,205

Available for distribution to members 145,871 156,293
Management fee (to be) distributed to members 133,392 142,065
Compensation available for members 12,479 14,228

145,871 156,293

0 0

Average number of members in fte 2 281 264

Average management fee and earnings available for distribution 519 590

per member (x €1,000)

1 Adjustments mainly relates to goodwill amortisation, and these differences between management accounts and IFRS will not be paid

as compensation to members.

2 Members of the Executive Board receive a fixed compensation which is not included under management fee and compensation. For
the management fee and transactions with related parties reference is also made to the accounting principles for determination of
the result. The Group has transactions with the members for which the nature and scope are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. Management fee and compensation paid in the financial year amounts €122,598 (2022/20232

€168,258).
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3. Working capital

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Movement in Unbilled services and advance billings to customers (15,934) 31,344
Movement in Trade and other receivables 9,416 3,212
Movement in Trade and other payables (43,465) (49,083)

(49,983) (14,527)

Accounting policies
Unbilled services

Unbilled services (contract assets) represent revenues recognised in satisfying performance obligations where the
Group's right to consideration is conditional upon something other than the passage of time, such as our
performance for other performance obligations being completed in accordance with the terms of the contract, or
the final revenue amount being agreed with the customer prior to amounts being billed. These amounts will
become unconditional when performance obligations are completed in accordance with the terms of the contract,
or when the customer has agreed to the amount of final billings. These amounts will be billed to the customer in
accordance with the agreed-upon contractual terms.

Advanced billings

Advanced billings (contract liabilities) arise when payments are received from customers in advance of the Group
satisfying the performance obligations under the contract. These liabilities are extinguished and revenues
recognised as (or when) the Group satisfies the performance obligations, which is normally within one year after
balance date.

Key accounting estimates and judgments

Unbilled services and advance billings to customers are specified as follows:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Net unbilled services and advance billings to customers 76,891 98,995
Advance billings to customers (contract liabilities) 46,332 40,162
Unbilled services (contract assets) 123,223 139,157

Amounts not yet billed are measured at the allocated transaction price and are neither past due nor impaired.
Billing in excess of project revenue earned is included in trade and other payables. Compared to last year the net
of unbilled services and advance billing decreased. This is the result of management’s continuous focus on
improving working capital and reducing the balance of net unbilled services and advance billings to customers.

During the year ended May 31, 2024 a substantial majority of the Group's €40 million recorded progress billings as
at May 31, 2023 was recognised as revenue.
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Accounting policies
Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised when the right to consideration becomes unconditional and an invoice to the
customer is raised. The Group's customers, including member firms in the DTTL network, are required to settle
invoices on invoice presentation or on such other date as is agreed in the engagement terms for that client. The
Group's standard terms state that invoices are due for settlement 30 days after the invoice date and after this date
invoices are considered past due. DTTL network firm transactions are non-interest bearing. The Group applies the
simplified approach to recognise lifetime expected credit losses for its trade receivables and amounts due from
customer as required or permitted by IFRS 9.

Key accounting estimates and judgments

Expected credit losses

The credit period of services rendered is between 14 and 90 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables. The
Group has recognised an allowance for the Expected Credit Losses (ECL), for which a simplified approach has been
used based on a lifetime expected loss for non-impaired items. The concentration of credit risk is limited to the fact

that the customer base is large and unrelated. See note 5.4.1 on how the Group manages its credit risks.

Trade and other receivables

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Accounts receivable 244,001 242,751
Taxes and social security contributions 1,375 271
Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income 17,999 10,937

263,375 253,959

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are generally payable between 14 and 90 days. The balance is shown net of allowance for
doubtful debts:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Accounts receivable - gross 249,618 247,680
Allowance for doubtful debts (5,617) (4,929)

244,001 242,751

The credit period of services rendered is between 14 and 90 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables. The
Group has recognised an allowance for the Expected Credit Losses (ECL), for which a simplified approach has been
used based on a lifetime expected loss for non-impaired items. The concentration of credit risk is limited to the fact
that the customer base is large and unrelated.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of trade receivables and unbilled services at the reporting date is the carrying
value thereof.

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the reporting period is as follows:

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Balance at the beginning of the year 4,929 5,097
Exchange rate differences 0] (20)
Amounts written-off during the year as uncollectible (517) (204)
Amounts recovered during the year 3 18
Movement in provision 1,203 38

5,617 4,929
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Ageing of past due and impaired accounts receivable as of the reporting date is as follows:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Gross receivable Provision ! Gross receivable Provision
Not past due 195,792 (216) 196,205 (205)
<30 days 27,962 (117) 24,016 (255)
30-90 days 13,581 (187) 16,699 (439)
90-180 days 4,762 (576) 5,340 (1,044)
180-365 days 3,466 (1,292) 3,181 (1,086)
> 365 days 4,055 (3,229) 2,239 (1,900)
249,618 (5,617) 247,680 (4,929)

1 Gross carrying amount includes individually credit impaired receivables of approximately €1.8 million which were excluded from the

ECL rate calculation.

All of the above impairment losses relate to receivables arising from contracts with customers.

The specification of the trade and other payables is as follows:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Salaries and other personnel costs 91,057 73,187
Taxes and social security contributions 76,019 73,015
Trade payables 55,458 61,561
Management fees payable to members 63,893 43,394
Advance billings to customers 46,332 40,162
Pension liabilities 97 37
Other liabilities and accruals 27,810 25,845

360,666 317,201

Provision investigation into answer sharing

Deloitte has recognised a provision with regard to its investigation into answer sharing, learning culture and
behaviour in the financial statements. The details of the amount of the provision are not disclosed in the financial
statements. Given the progress of the ongoing investigation, we anticipate the provision will be short-term. Also

see note 8.2.
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4. Investments

4.1 Acquisitions and business combinations
Accounting policies
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 respectively;
Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date; and

+ Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that represent ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS. When the
consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting
for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Other contingent consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

78



When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised

in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of. If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the
reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above),
or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Acquisitions during the year

During the year 2023/2024 the group has acquired one business that qualify as a business as defined in IFRS 3.
The business combination is immaterial for the group. The acquisition is related to consulting activities.

Acquisition related costs were expensed in the current year. Assets and liabilities acquired have been recognised at
fair value as at the acquisition date. The fair values matched the book values, and no additional intangibles were

recognised.

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set out in the
table below.

In € thousands

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 35
Intangible assets 0
Current assets

Trade and other receivables 0
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 0
Other current liabilities (106)
Total identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (71)
Goodwill 931
Total consideration 860
Satisfied by:

In € thousands

Cash 860
Contingent consideration arrangement 0
Total consideration 860

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

In € thousands

Cash consideration 860
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired 0
Total consideration transferred 860

The acquisition agreements includes contingent payments focussed on the retention of the sellers and key
personnel. These payments are employee benefits and are not part of the consideration. These are recognised
over time. The expenditure of this consideration will be incurred the next five fiscal years.

Of the goodwill total EUR 0.9 million is deductible for income tax purposes as these are related to an asset based
acquisition.
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The acquired business was integrated directly after the acquisition date into existing business activities, hence no
separate revenues and results attributable to the Group are recorded. If the acquisition had been completed on
the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have an estimated EUR 1.3 million and Group
profit would have been EUR 0.2 million before partner renumerations

4.2 Intangible assets
Accounting policies
Gooawill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Subsequent to initial
recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.



Movement in intangible fixed assets

in € thousands Goodwill  Other intangible assets Total
Cost 12,548 3,622 16,170
Accumulated amortisation and impairments (387) (1,720) (2,107)
At June 1, 2022 12,161 1,902 14,063
Additions to business acquisitions 2,010 0 2,010
Additions 0 19 19
Fully depreciated 0 (3,501) (3,501)
Accumulated amortisation fully depreciated 0 3,501 3,501
Amortisation 0 (709) (709)
Impairment 0 (1,136) (1,136)
Movement 2022/2023 2,010 (1,826) 184
Cost 14,558 140 14,698
Accumulated amortisation and impairments (387) (64) (451)
At May 31, 2023 14,171 76 14,247
Additions to business acquisitions 0 0 0
Additions 931 73 1,004
Fully depreciated 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation fully depreciated 0 0 0
Amortisation 41 41
Impairment 0 0
Movement 2023/2024 931 32 9263
Cost 15,489 213 15,702
Accumulated amortisation and impairments (387) (105) (492)
Book value as of May 31, 2024 15,102 108 15,210

1 Addition consists of investment related to acquisitions during the year.

See note 4.7 impairments for the cash-generating-unit breakdown.

Accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment is valued at acquisition cost or production cost, less accumulated depreciation and,

where applicable, impairment losses.

Fixed assets under construction are valued at production cost. Production cost comprises licensing costs, direct
labour costs, expenditure on services from third parties and the attributable share of other operating costs. The
present value of estimated future dismantling cost related to the contractual obligation to restore leased office

buildings is recorded as part of the Right-of-Use assets and depreciated in a straight line over the term of the lease,

with recognition of the liability as a provision.
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Movements in property, plant and equipment

. Leasehold Fixtures and Computer Assets under

in € thousands . . : ; Total
improvements fittings equipment construction

Cost 69,980 26,826 49,885 2,606 149,297

Accumulated

depreciation (45.252) (18,844) (37,541) 0 (101,637)

At June 1, 2022 24,728 7,982 12,344 2,606 47,660

Addit.io.rjs to business 0 0 0 0 0

acquisitions

Exchange differences 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 9,251 2,514 4,373 (1,730) 14,408

Disposals 2 (14,169) (10,490) (4,726) 0 (29,385)

Accumulated

depreciation on 14,169 10,490 4,414 0 29,073

disposals

Depreciation (4,208) (1,565) (5,045) 0 (10,818)

Movement

2022/2023 5,043 949 (984) (1,730) 3,278

Cost 65,062 18,850 49,532 876 134,320

Accumulated

depreciation (35.291) (9.919) (38,172) 0 (83382

At May 31, 2023 29,771 8,931 11,360 876 50,938

Exchange differences 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 4,403 2,911 10,923 1,653 19,890

Disposals 2 (12,025) (2,085) (10,940) 0 (25,050)

Accumulated

depreciation on 12,025 2,083 9,888 0 23,996

disposals

Depreciation (4,999) (2,039) (5,531) 0 (12,569)

%‘;‘g%‘;ﬂt (596) 870 4,340 1,653 6,267

Cost 57,438 19,675 49,515 2,529 129,157

Accumulated

depreciation (28,263) (9,874) (33,815) 0 (71,952)

Book value as of 29,175 9,801 15,700 2,529 57,205

May 31, 2024

1 Of the additions €167 (2022/2023: €185)) is related to the movement in investments in property, plant and equipment not paid as per

May 31.

2 The book value of the disposals together with the book results (see note 2.3) forms the gain of the disposals mentioned in the cash

flow statement.

The Group has beneficial ownership of the leasehold improvements, fixtures and fittings but not legal ownership,

Other fixed assets mainly relate to hardware.
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4.4 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
Accounting policies

Leasing

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in
the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments
included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

- Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

- The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

- The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. The lease
liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

+ The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

+ The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

+ Alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made
at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Whenever the Group incurs
an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If
a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. The right-of-use assets are
presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group applies IAS 36 to
determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss. Variable rents
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability and the right-of-use
asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payments occurs and are included in the profit or loss (see note 8).
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As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for
any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical
expedient . For contracts that contain a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group as lessor

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sub-lease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Amounts due from
lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return
on the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. When a contract includes both lease and non-
lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.

Movement in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

in € thousands Buildings Vehicles Total Liabilities
Cost 166,840 78,474 245314

Accumulated depreciation (50,217) (38,242) (88,459)

At June 1, 2022 116,623 40,232 156,855 139,737
Additions 431 23,084 23,515 23,515
Remeasurements 8,854 1,735 10,589 10,589
Decrease of scope 0 (323) (323) (2871)
Disposals (518) (9,302) (9,820) 0
Accumulated depreciation on disposals 518 9,302 9,820 0
Depreciation (19,368) (16,891) (36,259) 0
Impairment 0 (24) (24) 0
Unwinding interest 0 0 0 2,363
Payments 0 0 0 (41,137)
Movement payments in the following year 0 0 0 (4,533)
Movement 2022/2023 (10,083) 7,581 (2,502) (9,484)
Cost 175,607 93,668 269,275

Accumulated depreciation (69,067) (45,855) (114,922)

At May 31, 2023 106,540 47,813 154,353 130,253
Additions 721 22,728 23,449 23,449
Remeasurements 108,850 1,105 109,955 109,955
Revised discount rate (4,852) 0 (4,852) (4,852)
Decrease of scope 0 (2,474) (2,474) (2,376)
Disposals (1,637) (13,651) (15,288) 0
Accumulated depreciation on disposals 1,532 13,651 15,183 0
Depreciation (19,773) (20,324) (40,097) 0
Impairment 0 0 0 0
Unwinding interest 0 0 0 4,289
Payments 0 0 0 (45,947)
Movement payments in the following year 0 0 0 1,455
Movement 2023/2024 84,841 1,035 85,876 85,979
Cost 278,689 101,376 380,065

Accumulated depreciation (87,308) (52,528) (139,836)

Book value as of May 31, 2024 191,381 48,848 240,229 216,232
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The right of use asset and lease liability increased compared to last year. This is mainly related to the lease
agreement for the rental of our office in Amsterdam, which has been extended for a long-term period. The lease

modification is remeasured at the effective date.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate (IBR) applied to the lease liabilities was 3.35% (2022/2023:

1.63%).

Maturity profile

The remaining weighted average lease term was 12.2 years (2022/2023: 5.3 years). The undiscounted value of
lease commitments amounts to €313 million (2022/2023: €180 million). The maturity is as shown below.

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
0-1 year 40,829 41,716
1-2 year 40,638 37,672
2-3year 33,093 32,235
3-4 year 22,973 26,410
4-5 year 18,872 17,815
> 5 year 156,478 23,894
312,883 179,742
For the off balance commitment for separate non-lease components please see note 8.3.
Lease-related amounts recognised income and expenses
In € thousands 2023/2024  2022/2023
Depreciation cost on right-of-use assets (included in Depreciation) 40,097 36,259
Interest cost on lease liabilities (included in Financial expenses) 4,387 2,404
Cost relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease
liability (included in Other costs) 430 665
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets (included in Accommodation costs) (3,691) (3,635)
41,223 35,693

Accounting policies

Investments

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies. An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the

investee becomes an associate or a joint venture.

Other long-term investments are financial assets not held to sell in the short term and measured at fair value

through OCI.

Movement of the investments

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Book value as of June 1 2,031 2,179
Movements:

Additions 516 1,125
Repayments 0 0
Result 151 143
Deemed distribution to Deloitte NSE LLP (516) (945)
Decrease in fair value during the year (40) (471)
Book value as of May 31 2,142 2,031
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Related to the non-voting redeemable shares in Deloitte NSE Investments Limited (“DNSEI"), an NSE group entity
the Group made additional contributions. The additional amount subscribed was €516. For the purposes of these
financial statements, an amount of €516 was accounted for as a deemed distribution to Deloitte NSE LLP. The fair
value of the current year's capital contribution relating to this equity instrument is €0. The fair value of the previous
capital contributions relating to this equity instrument is decreased by €40 this year and is accounted for as
movement other comprehensive income.

The composition of the participating assets is as follows:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Joint Venture:
Africa Talent by Deloitte (pty) Itd, South Africa (50%) 294 143

Other investments:

Nautilus Indemnity Holdings Ltd, Bermuda (11.3%) 354 354
Deloitte European Support Services Ltd, England (5%) 20 20
EMEA Holdings S.a.r.l., Luxembourg (8.0%) 581 581
Deloitte NSE Investments Ltd, England (0%, non-voting shares) 838 878
Deloitte CIS Limited (11.8%) 5 5
A-Technologies Holdings Limited, England (0.43%) 50 50
Deloitte University EMEA SC, Belgium (0.3%) 0 0

2,142 2,031

1 Viaa 29.41% participating interest in IHC Interposed Holding Company 1 SAS, established in France. This is a related party. Deloitte CIS
Limited is dissolved on June 8, 2024.

Africa Talent by Deloitte (pty) Itd (50%) is a joint venture with Deloitte South Africa. The entity is established January
12,2022. No capital has been paid as of May 31, 2024. An amount of €151 was recognised as result 2023/2024.

All minority interests are valued at fair value through other comprehensive income. In respect of the equity
investment made in Deloitte NSE Investments Limited, a discounted cash flow valuation methodology was used to
derive the fair value. This was based on an expected return of capital from the underlying project that NSE has
invested in at an estimated future point in time. Consequently, this fair value measurement is a Level 3 within the
fair value hierarchy as set out in IFRS 13.

Accounting policies
Amortisation of intangible assets

For intangible assets acquired separately and acquired in a business combination amortisation is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Category Years
Goodwill Not amortised
Other intangible assets 3-5

Other intangible assets with a infinite lifetime Not amortised
Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the estimated useful life of the asset and calculated using the straight-line method based
on the cost, taking account of any residual value. The assets starts to depreciate from the date the assets are ready
for their intended use.
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Category Years

Leasehold, improvements 5-15

Fixtures and fittings 5-15

Computer equipment 2-15

Assets under construction Not depreciated (yet)

In € thousands 2023/2024  2022/2023

Intangibles assets amortisation:

Amortisation 41 709

Impairment 0 1,136

Property, plant and equipment - owned assets:

Depreciation 12,569 10,818

Property, plant and equipment - right of use assets:

Depreciation 40,097 36,259

Impairment 0 24
52,707 48,946

Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment 52,707 47,786

Impairments of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 0 1,160
52,707 48,946

Accounting policies
Gooawill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or
groups of cash generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.

Key accounting estimates and judgements
Gooawill

The recoverable amounts of these cash-generating units are determined based on value in use calculations which
use the most recent historical cash flows and weighed average cost of capital of the Group as a basis. The cash
generating units are relatively large compared to the allocated goodwill. The indefinite growth rate applied is
-10.0% (2022/2023 -10.0%). We estimated the recoverable amounts by applying a discount rate of 20% (2022/2023
20%). As a result of analysis, the Executive Board recognised no impairments as of May 31, 2024 (May 31, 2023 €0).
We have also performed a sensitivity analysis. The Executive Board assessed that no reasonably possible change in
any of the above basis assumptions would cause the carrying values of the units to exceed their recoverable
amounts.

Gooawill

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash-generating units:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Audit & Assurance - Audit Services 937 937
Tax & Legal - Business Tax 937 937
Consulting - Customer & Marketing 4,212 3,281
Consulting - Human Capital 2,609 2,609
Consulting - Enterprise Technology & Performance 1,522 1,522
Risk Advisory - Financial Risk 2,010 2,010
Risk Advisory - Regulatory Risk 2,875 2,875

15,102 14,171

No impairments of goodwill were recognised in 2023/2024 (2022/2023: €0).
Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash generating units:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Consulting - Customer & Marketing 17 57
Other 91 19

108 76

An impairment of other intangible assets was recognised in 2023/2024 of €0 (2021/2022: €1,136).
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5. Capital management and financial risk
management

The members A of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. are private companies owned by holding companies of each individual
partner. Under the Associate Agreement each member of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. has placed (the workforce of)
each partner at the disposal of Deloitte Holding B.V. and its Group companies in which the relevant professional
activities for that partner are performed. Based on the Associate Agreement a management fee, a percentage of
the expected consolidated net amount of operational and financial income and expenses of Deloitte Holding BV, is
paid to the members of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. through Stichting Financiering Deloitte. The Executive Board
determines the level of the advance payment on the management fee at the beginning of the financial year. The
level of this advance payment can be adjusted during the financial year by the Executive Board. After the financial
year, the final level of the management fee and the profit share that will be paid by Co6peratief Deloitte U.A. to its
Members A is determined.

In addition to the members’ capital, members of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. (and the previous shareholders of
Deloitte Holding B.V.) provided subordinated loans to Stichting Financiering Deloitte. Deloitte has implemented
certain claw-back and recovery mechanisms. For certain profit-sharing auditors the subordinated loans can be
continued after the end of the Associate Agreement for the maximum of 6 years. In case of a claw-back sanction
such sanction is set of against the remaining subordinated loan.

Payments of management fees by virtue of the Associate Agreement and other payments (with exception of
distribution of profits) to members take place through Stichting Financiering Deloitte. Stichting Financiering Deloitte
was established by the (former-) Deloitte partners, members of Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. as an entity to protect the
interests of the members collectively from a financing perspective should a calamity arise that could affect the
members. Stichting Financiering Deloitte provides a subordinated loan to Cotperatief Deloitte U.A. The amount of
this subordinated loan is ultimately equal to that of the subordinated loans provided by the individual members A
of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. to Stichting Financiering Deloitte. This loan is subordinated to all creditors and lender
banks. Codperatief Deloitte U.A. as shareholder of Deloitte Holding B.V. contributed €0 (May 31, 2023: €7 million)
into Deloitte Holding B.V. via an additional capital contribution, and a subordinated loan. These transactions
between above entities are all non-cash transactions and settled in current account.

Stichting Financiering Deloitte was established by the (former-) Deloitte partners, members of Cooperatief Deloitte
U.A. as an entity to protect the interests of the members collectively from a financing perspective should a calamity
arise that could affect the members. The control over Stichting Financiering Deloitte lies with the members who
amongst others have the right at all times to elect and dismiss the board members B and C of the Stichting
Financiering Deloitte. Consequently, Stichting Financiering Deloitte is not controlled by the Group and therefore is
not included in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. Covenants are applied with regards to the
bank loans, see note Bank loans.

Accounting policies

Upon termination of the membership of an equity partner, the Cooperative must redeem the balance of the
membership capital within one month. The membership capital does not meet the conditions of IAS 32 paragraphs
16A and B. There is a contractual obligation of the Cooperative to redeem the balance of the membership capital.
The membership capital includes a contractual obligation to deliver cash (management fee) to the members. And
the membership capital cannot be considered the most subordinate class of issued financial instruments of the
Group. Hence these membership capitals are puttable financial instruments which meet the definition of a
financial liability.



The Group derecognises liabilities related to membership capital when, and only when, the Group's obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Membership capital

Members who enter into an Associate Agreement with the Group are required to deposit a membership fee of €
25 per member. The membership fee will be repaid after ending the membership of the company.

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Non-current liability 6,700 6,475
Current liability 375 325

7,075 6,800

A summary of the movements in membership capital is presented below:

Total number of
In € thousands

Members Total members capital
Balance as of June 1, 2023 6,475
Repayments falling due within one year 325
Membership capital as of June 1, 2023 272 6,800
New memberships during the financial year 31 775
Retired memberships during the financial year (20) (500)
Membership capital as of May 31, 2024 283 7,075
Repayments falling due within one year (375)
Balance as of May 31, 2024 6,700

Accounting policies

Loans and borrowings comprises the majority of financial liabilities of the Group. After initial recognition, interest-
bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation
process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Loans and borrowings are derecognised when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately equal to their fair
value.

90



In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Non-current liabilities
Subordinated loan Stichting Financiering Deloitte 184,605 127,501
Non-subordinated loan Stichting Financiering Deloitte 322 4,451
Total 184,927 131,952
Current-liabilities
Subordinated loan Stichting Financiering Deloitte 9,118 6,120
Non-subordinated loan Stichting Financiering Deloitte 355 388
Total 9,473 6,508
Total Interest bearing loans and borrowings 194,400 138,460
The movements during the year of liabilities arising from finance activities are as follows:
Subordinated loans Stichting ~ Non-subordinated loans Stichting
In € thousands , .- , , - , Total
Financiering Deloitte Financiering Deloitte
Balance June 1, 2023 133,621 4,839 138,460
Additional borrowing 60,447 93 60,540
Conversion setﬁlement prior 5913 0 5913
year to subordinated loan
Conversion non-subordinated
loan to subordinated loan 3867 (3867) 0
Repayments (10,125) (388) (10,513)
Repayments in the following (9,118) (355) (9,473)
year
Balance as of May 31, 2024 184,605 322 184,927
Subordinated loans Stichting ~ Non-subordinated loans Stichting
In € thousands . o . . o : Total
Financiering Deloitte Financiering Deloitte
Balance June 1, 2022 125,935 3356 129,291
Additional borrowing 13,300 1,756 15,056
Repayments (5,614) (273) (5,887)
Repayments in the following (6,120) (388) (6,508)
year
Balance as of May 31, 2023 127,501 4,451 131,952

Subordinated loan Stichting Financiering Deloitte

Members who enter into an Associate Agreement with the Group are obliged to provide a subordinated loan to
Stichting Financiering Deloitte. As of June 1, 2023 a differentiated subordinated loan requirement applies ranging
from €575 thousand to €825 thousand per member A. This is implemented in stages, with the last additional

payment to be made before October 31, 2024. This will increase the loans that have been provided by the

members A with €47 million.

In turn the foundation provides a subordinated loan for the same amount and under the same conditions to
Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. On its turn Codperatief Deloitte U.A. provides a subordinated loan for the same amount
less share premium of €0 (May 31, 2022: €7 million) and under the same conditions to Deloitte Holding BV. The
subordination relates to all third party creditors and banks. The loans are subordinated to all existing and future
liabilities of the Group and, together with the Group equity, make up the capital base of the Group.

The interest paid is equal to a 3-month Euribor plus 4% with a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 8%. The loans

are repaid at the termination of the Associate Agreement. The maturity date of these loans depends on joining and

leaving of members and therefore cannot be expressed in years.
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Non-subordinated loan Stichting Financiering Deloitte

In 2023/2024 part of the calculated Claw-Back Reserves of active partners exceeds the amount of the provided
subordinated loan. These partners provided a non-subordinated loan to Stichting Financiering Deloitte for the
amount above the subordinated loan. In turn the foundation provides a non-subordinated loan for the same
amount and under the same conditions to Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. On its turn Codperatief Deloitte U.A. provides
a non-subordinated loan for the same amount and under the same conditions to Deloitte Holding B.V. The interest
paid is equal to a 3-month Euribor plus 4% with a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 8%. At the termination of the
Associate Agreements these loans will been repaid within a six year term.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks. Cash is at free disposal of the Group.

The Group did have no bank overdrafts as per May 31, 2024 (May 31, 2023: €0).

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Cash and bank 108,043 7,636
108,043 7,636

The net finance cost comprises financial income and expenses.

Finance expenses mainly comprises interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method, interest in
respect of lease liabilities. Exchange gains and losses are respectively presented as expenses in the net finance
cost.

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost:

Interest income and similar income 1,628 69
Other:

Market value discount provisions 8 50
Financial income 1,636 119
Financial instruments measured at amortised cost:

Interest paid and similar costs (14,337) (8,409)
Interest paid on lease liabilities (4,387) (2,404)
Other:

Exchange differences (140) (400)
Financial Expense (18,864) (11,213)
Net finance costs (17,228) (11,094)

The financial instruments shown on the balance sheet mainly regard financial fixed assets, receivables, cash,
subordinated long-term and current liabilities and amounts owed to suppliers and trade credits. These financial
instruments give rise to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks.

5.4.1 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group. Credit risks arises primarily from trade and unbilled receivables and other financial assets such as
cash and deposits with banks and financial institutions. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is the
carrying value presented in the statement of financial position. The risk of non-collectability is mainly restricted by
the multitude and diversity of parties owing to the Group.
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The ageing of trade receivables and provisions for impairment are included in note 3.3. Impairment risks of trade
receivables are assessed on an individual basis and provisions are set-up accordingly. Unbilled receivables are
typically billed within a month after arising and invoices are generally payable between 14 and 90 days after
presentation. For accounts receivable we have provided for expected credit losses bases on the information at
hand, including forward looking information. In order to mitigate the risk of credit losses in receivables we are
monitoring developments in our accounts receivable positions. In case of an expected increased collection risk, a
client specific provision is recognised. Currently we have not seen a noteworthy delay in allowed payment terms.

The Group has no agreements that in the case of default the Group is only required to pay or receive the net
amount of the various contracts that are owed to and due from the counterparty. The credit risk on liquid funds
and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

5.4.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its financial liabilities as they fall due. Liquidity

risks arises from the ongoing financial obligations of the Group, including settlement of financial liabilities such as
trade and other payables, as well as bank loans and subordinated loans of members. The Group's liquidity
management policy is to ensure as far as possible that there are sufficient liquid funds available to be able to meet
its liabilities when due without incurring unacceptable losses or damaging its reputation.

Credit facilities
Deloitte Holding B.V.

Deloitte Holding B.V. has a credit agreement with ING Bank and Rabobank. In the latest amendment (May 30, 2022)
the additional commitments were increased from €50 million to €80 million. The facility enables the Group to
respond to the negative effects of adverse economic conditions, but also opportunities and to invest in new plans
and ventures based on the strategy of the Group. The facility includes current account facilities and is partly used
to provide guarantees. As a security for the amounts owed to credit institutions, the current account facility and the
bank loans various covenants have been agreed regarding the balance sheet and the result.

May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
In € thousands Total facility Used!  Total facility ~ Used
Revolving Facility A (termination date May 30, 2027) 105,000 5,000 105,000 5,000
é\(c)c207r)dion Increase Revolving Facility A (termination date May 30, 80,000 0 80,000 0
Total Facilities Deloitte Holding B.V. 185,000 5,000 185,000 5,000

1 €5 million is reserved for guarantees of which €4,291 is used.
Deloitte Dutch Caribbean B.V.

Deloitte Dutch Caribbean BV. has a credit agreement of ANG300 (€150) with Madura & Curiel's Bank and a credit
agreement of AWG200 (€100) with Aruba Bank until December 31, 2024.

Financial Covenants and securities

Deloitte Holding B.V.

For the credit facilities and loans provided by ING Bank and Rabobank covenants are agreed and in place.

The securities consist of the joint and several liability of Codperatief Deloitte U.A., Deloitte Holding B.V., Deloitte
Accountants BV., Deloitte Belastingadviseurs B.V., Deloitte Consultancy Holding B.V., Deloitte Consulting B.V.,
Deloitte Financial Advisory B.V., Deloitte Group Support Center B.V.,, Deloitte Forensic & Dispute Services BV,
Deloitte Risk Advisory B.V., Deloitte Benefits & Pension Advisory BV., Deloitte Legal BV. and Deloitte Accountancy &

Advies BV.

Based on the agreement as of May 30, 2022 the Group will ensure that the following financial and non-financial
ratios are met:

+ The tangible Net Worth shall exceed €10,000 in the first three Quarters of each Financial Year and shall exceed
€25,000 in the last Quarter of each of Financial Year.
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- The Quarterly measured leverage basis of Total Net Debt on each Quarter Date and rolling 12 Months EBITDA
shall be lower than 2 to 1 at all times.
In case the additional facility is called, additional covenant requirements will apply including a minimum
liquidity position of €13,000.
Based on the achievement of agreed Sustainability KPI targets (base year 2019) the interest margin will be
either reduced (maximum 5 basis points) or increased (maximum 5 basis points).
° Reducing absolute Scope 1 and 2 Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions 70% by 2030 from a 2019 base year
° Reducing Scope 3 GHG emissions from business travel 50% per FTE by 2030
° Sourcing 100% renewable energy for Deloitte’s buildings

1 “Tangible Net Worth" means the sum of all paid-up capital, free reserves and Subordinated Debt of the Group, less all intangible
assets.

As of May 31, 2024 the Group is in compliance with the covenants in the credit agreements.
Maturity analyses
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial and tax liabilities with agreed

repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

In € thousands <1 year to 2 years 2 to 5years >5 years Total
May 31, 2024
Non-interest bearing 202,592 575 1,725 2,875 207,767
Variable interest rate instruments ' 25,026 32,823 88,413 116,053 262,315
Lease liabilities 40,829 40,638 74,938 156,478 312,883
268,447 74,036 165,076 275,406 782,965
Taxes 76,019 0 0 0 76,019
Total 344,466 74,036 165,076 275,406 858,984
In € thousands <1 year to 2 years 2 to 5years >5 years Total
May 31, 2023
Non-interest bearing 171,951 575 1,725 2,875 177,126
Variable interest rate instruments ' 18,146 22,543 61,504 80,135 182,328
Lease liabilities 41,716 37,627 76,460 23,894 179,697
231,813 60,745 139,689 106,904 539,151
Taxes 73,015 0 0 0 73,015
Total 304,828 60,745 139,689 106,904 612,166

1 Itis assumed that there is a repayment of subordinated loans of €16.7 million per annum.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the end of the reporting period. The contractual
maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.

5.4.3 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to interest rate risks mainly relate to:

+ Short-term debit and credit facilities carrying variable Euribor based interest with a surcharge;
+ Subordinated loans, carrying variable Euribor-based interest with a surcharge capped at a minimum of 4% and
a maximum of 8% for the compulsory subordinated loans;

A reasonable change in the interest rate would have an immaterial impact on pre-tax profits and equity of the
Group.
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5.4.4 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risks, mainly dollar risks, arising from future operational cash flows and financing activities in
foreign currencies may be hedged by means of forward exchange contracts if considered necessary. No hedging
activities took place in the year under review. A reasonable change in the exchange rates would have an immaterial
impact on pre-tax profits and equity of the Group.

5.4.5 Fair value measurements
The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting
period.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end
of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation
technigues which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in level 3. The Group has participating interest. Participating interests are measured at fair value. This value is equal
to or approximately the cost of the investment, except for the investment in Deloitte NSE Investments Limited
(refer to note 6.2).
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6. Governance and related parties

The members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are the key management of the Group. The
remuneration of members of the Executive Board consist of a fixed part, determined by the Supervisory Board at
the beginning of the financial year in accordance with the remuneration policy, plus a fixed expense allowance, and
a variable part. The variable part of the remuneration shall not exceed a maximum of 20 percent of the fixed part
of the remuneration. Payment thereof is subject to the fulfillment of long term objectives. For the NSE business all
Executive Board members have been involved and contributed in their respective capacity to various management

work streams for NSE.

Total remuneration of the members of the Executive Board in the year under review was as follows:

in € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
W.FJ. Honig 1,493 1,542
D.H. Enklaar 1,262 0
C.H.LJ. Bergmans (till October 15, 2023) 392 0
H. Christophers (from January 26, 2024) 404 0
O. Snijders (till May 31, 2023) 0 1,248
E. Mol (till May 31, 2023) 0 1,249
Total 3,551 4,039
Number of members of the Executive Board in FTE's 3 3

Harvey Christophers joined the Executive Board as of January 26, 2024. Harvey Christophers succeeded Rob

Bergmans in the role of Chief People & Quality Officer (CPQO).

The members of the Supervisory Board were remunerated only short-term benefits as follows:

in € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
H. van der Noordaa 112 108
V.G. Moolenaar 99 79
DJ. Larnder 76 74
S.E. Verhart 71 71
E.C. Meijer (till December 31, 2023) 43 74
C.M. Wortmann (as of May 26, 2024) 1 0
Total 402 406
Number of members of the Supervisory Board per May 31 5 5




Trading transactions
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company,
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. All transactions were made on terms

equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length. Please refer to notes 1, 3.4, 4 and 5 for details on transactions of
the Group and the Group's shareholder. We also refer to note 1 regarding international relationships of Deloitte

Holding BV.

Provision of services
to related parties

Purchases of services
from related parties

Amounts due from
related parties

Amounts due to
related parties

2023/2024 2023/2024 2023/2024 2023/2024
Deloitte NSE LLP
group 104,477 56,008 24,064 8,395
subsidiaries
Deloitte NSE LLP 36,058 83,177 7,941 5,403
grOUp associates
140,535 139,275 32,005 13,798

Provision of services
to related parties

Purchases of services
from related parties

Amounts due from
related parties

Amounts due to
related parties

2022/2023 2022/2023 2022/2023 2022/2023
Deloitte NSE LLP
group 82,491 52,643 15,678 7,888
subsidiaries
Deloitte NSE LLP 30,842 89,309 8,512 5,357
group associates
113,333 141,952 24,190 13,745

Deloitte NSE Investments Limited (“DNSEI")

The Group subscribed to different classes of non-voting redeemable shares in Deloitte NSE Investments Limited
("DNSEI"), an NSE group entity set up to hold NSE group investments in strategic projects. The total cumulative
amount subscribed was €6,654 (2023: €6,138). For the purposes of these financial statements, a cumulative
amount of €5,776 (2023: €5,260) is accounted for as a deemed distribution and movement in net fair value on
investments in equity instruments classified as at fair value through OCI to Deloitte NSE LLP. The remaining
cumulative amount of €838 (2023: €878) is the fair value of this equity investment. See note 4.5 Investments

The independent auditor’s fee included in the office costs can be specified as follows:

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Audit of the financial statements 524 474
Other audits 177 128
Tax advisory services 0 0
Other non-audit services 0 0

701 602

The independent auditor's fee is based on the agreed upon fees for the audit and other engagements for the year
under review and any additional fees for out of scope work regarding the prior year.
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7. Income and deferred taxes

Accounting policies
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

The amendments to IAS 12 introduce a temporary exception to the accounting requirements for deferred taxes in
IAS 12, so that an entity would neither recognise nor disclose information about deferred tax assets and liabilities
related to Pillar Two income taxes. The group has applied the exception and to disclose separately its current tax
expense (income) related to Pillar Two income taxes. The group has no current tax expense (income) related to
Pillar Two income taxes.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. The carrying
amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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Income tax recognised in profit or loss

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Current tax
In respect of the current year 8,158 5,368
In respect of prior year 263 86
8,421 5,454
Deferred tax
In respect of the current year 1,704 1,751
1,704 1,751
Total income tax expense recognised in the current year 10,125 7,205
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:
In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Result before taxation 13,854 8,500
Income tax expense calculated at 25,8% (2022/2023: 25,8%) 3,574 2,193
Effect of income that is exempt from taxation (566) (84)
Tax losses not recognised 217 0
Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit ! 6,651 5,041
Application local, nominal rates (higher/lower rates) (14) (31
Income tax prior year 263 86
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 10,125 7,205

1 The management fee will be taxed at the member level and compensation is taxed at Group level. The Group has an agreement with
the tax authorities regarding a minimum taxable amount of 7% of the membership capital of the members of Codperatief Deloitte

UA.

Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the Netherlands form one tax group for company tax

purposes. There are no losses available for set off against tax liabilities.

Current tax assets and liabilities

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Current tax receivable 1,375 271
Current tax liabilities 0 (20)

1,375 251
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Deferred tax assets 6,164 8,078
Deferred tax liabilities (1,592) (1,519)

4,572 6,559

Of the deferred tax assets €2.2 million is expected to expire next year, €2.0 million is expected to expire in
2025/2026. €0.3 million is expected to expire on regular yearly basis after 2025/2026. The deferred tax liabilities

are expected to be carried forward indefinitely.

Movement deferred tax in the year ended May 31, 2024

e Remsdnuepelt S o

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

in relation to:

Goodwill and intangibles 4,096 (1,878) 0 2,218

Property, plant and equipment 2,211 176 1 2,388

Provisions (52) 17 1 (34)

Tax losses 304 (298) (6) 0
6,559 (1,983) (4) 4,572

Movement deferred tax in the year ended May 31, 2023

Qe Semsanuepelt S o

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

in relation to:

Goodwill and intangibles 1 5,969 (1,873) 0 4,096

Property, plant and equipment 2,055 156 0 2,211

Provisions 41) anmn 0 (52)

Tax losses 105 198 1 304
8,088 (1,530) 1 6,559

1 Goodwill and intangibles relates to goodwill which is amortised and is deductible for tax purposes but not under IFRS.

Deferred tax assets not recognised in the Consolidated statement of financial position

In 2024 the amount of €354 (2023 €0) of carryforward losses which was not been recognised as a deferred tax
assets per May 31, 2024 was recognised because it is deemed probable that sufficient taxable profit will be

available to utilise the deferred tax asset in time.
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8. Other disclosures

Accounting policies
Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements

SaaS arrangements (service contracts) provide the Group with the right to access the cloud provider’s application
software over the contract period. The Group does not receive a software intangible asset at the contract
commencement date. Access to the supplier’s software does not, at the contract commencement date, gives the
Group the power to obtain the future economic benefits flowing from the software itself and to restrict others’
access to those benefits.

The configuration and customisation costs do not result in an intangible asset of the Group. Instead, the Group
recognises the costs as an expense when the configuration or customisation services are received. If the Group
pays the supplier before receiving those services, the prepayment is recognised as an asset. The amortisation of
the prepayment is recognised as an operating expense over the term of the service contract.

Costs incurred for the development that enhances or modifies, or creates additional capability to, existing on-
premise systems and meets the definition of and recognition criteria for an intangible asset are recognised as

intangible software assets.

The movement of the other non-current assets is as follows:

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Cost price 5,688 6,174
Accumulated impairments 0 0
Book value as of June 1 5,688 6,174
Movements:

Amortisation (485) (485)
Issued loans 1,320 0
Repayments (8) (1)
Book value as of May 31 6,515 5,688
Cost price 6,515 5,688
Accumulated impairments 0 0
Book value as of May 31 6,515 5,688

The balance can be broken down as follows:

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Software-as-a-Services (SaaS) arrangements 4,078 4,562
Loans to associate companies 2,059 750
Other 378 376

Book value as of May 31 6,515 5,688
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8.2 Provisions
Accounting policies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time
value of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected
to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. If the expected outflow of the
obligation is within one year the provision will be recognised as current liability.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous
contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Professional liability

The provision for professional liability relates to the liabilities from claims. Claims have been submitted against the
legal entities that belong to the Group. A strong defence will be mounted against these claims. The Group has
professional indemnity insurance for claim coverage. If a present obligation exists for which it is probable there will
be a transfer of benefits, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, then a provision is
recognised. Reimbursements from the professional indemnity insurance are also recognised when, and only when,
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received when settling the obligation.

Occupational liability

The provision occupational disability relates to liabilities existing as at balance sheet date regarding own risk for
continued payment of the salaries (including employer’s contribution) of personnel that as at the balance sheet
date are expected stay totally or partial disabled regarding the Return to Work (Partially Disabled) Regulation
("WGA") for which the Group is covering its own-risk, and regarding own-risk for the Health Law, former personnel
who left disabled or were disabled within 28 days after leaving the company. A provision has been formed for the
amount expected to be due in the future, and the provision includes an estimated future annual increase of the
disability entitlements by 2.0% (prior year 2.0%). A discount rate is set at 3.26% (prior year 3.65%). Amounts paid
concerning disabled personnel are deducted from this provision.

Dismantling cost

The present value of estimated future costs related to the contractual obligation to restore leased office buildings
is recorded as an asset in property, plant and equipment until May 31, 2019 and in Right-of-Use assets since June
1,2019 and depreciated in a straight line over the term of the lease, with recognition of the liability as a provision.
Each reporting period the present value is reassessed, and changes resulting from the unwinding of the discount
are recognised in financial income and expense.

Key accounting estimates and judgments

Professional liability provision

The professional liability provision is based on assumptions of, the existence of a present obligation and
measurement of the expected amount to settle the claim. Furthermore an assessment is made if the estimated
provision falls inside the scope of insurance palicies or if the amount exceeds the maximum coverage of the
insurance policies.

Provision investigation into answer sharing

In estimating the provision, management have made assumptions about the range of the potential outcomes and
have estimated the provision based on currently available information.
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Movement in provisions

. Professional Dismantling Occupational

In € thousands liability 2 cost ! disability Total
Balance as of June 1, 2023 750 1,259 397 2,406
Additions 75 0 182 257
Charged (450) 0 (10) (460)
Released (275) (612) (179)  (1,066)
Unwinding of discount and effect of

changes in the discount rate 0 (1 ©) (20)
Balance as of May 31, 2024 100 636 381 1,117
. Professional Dismantling Occupational

In € thousands liability 2 cost ! disability Total
Balance as of June 1, 2022 755 1,304 515 2,574
Additions 750 0 0 750
Charged (720) 0 (42) (762)
Released (35) (8) (63) (106)
Unwinding of discount and effect of

changes in the discount rate 0 (37) (13) 0)
Balance as of May 31, 2023 750 1,259 397 2,406
The breakdown of provision in current and non-current is as follows:

in € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023

Current  Non-current Total ~ Current  Non-current Total

Professional liability 100 0 100 750 0 750
Dismantling costs 61 575 636 568 691 1,259
Occupational disability 187 194 381 149 248 397
Balance as of May 31 348 769 1,117 1,467 939 2,406

1 The provision for unoccupied premises and dismantling cost is related to the reduction of the office network and future dismantling

cost.

2 The difference between provision and own risk is recognised as receivables from insurers.
Professional liability

The Group is involved in a number of disputes in the ordinary course of business which may give rise to claims. A
provision for professional liability is made for all claims where costs are probable to be incurred and can be
measured reliably. The Group carries professional indemnity insurance and no separate disclosure is made of the
detail of claims as to do so could seriously prejudice the position of the Group. Substantially all the recognised
provision for professional liability is covered by this type of insurance resulting in an impact on the results that is
limited to the own risk amount per insured claim. The corresponding receivable on the insurance company

is recognised separately under the other receivables. Management assesses provisions for claims and litigation on
an ongoing and individual basis. The proceedings are normally long-term in nature and estimates may be revised
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group. These uncertain events can have an effect on the amount and timing of the outflows of both the provision
and the related insurance receivable. Variations in outcome will not have a significant net impact on the financial
position of the Group given that the Group is deemed to carry sufficient professional indemnity insurance to cover
negative scenario’s.

103



Provision investigation into answer sharing

As a result of incidents involving misconduct on exams at audit firms and at the request of AFM, Deloitte initiated
an investigation into answer sharing, the internal learning culture and learning behaviours of its professionals. This
investigation focuses on all mandatory internal and external learning activities over the past five years (period:
2018-2023) across the organisation. The investigation covers approximately 500,000 learning activities involving
around 8,000 current employees and nearly 6,000 former employees. The governance of the project safeguards
the independence, objectivity and mandate of the investigation. This includes oversight by our Supervisory Board.

The investigation is ongoing per July 2024 with continuous conversation and sharing of information with the
regulators. Based on the current observations from the investigations, Deloitte evaluated and concluded a
provision should be recognised. The evaluation includes current facts, the status of the ongoing investigation, and
other facts and circumstances as deemed relevant including but not limited to publicly available information from
investigations conducted at other global professional services firms on learning culture and behaviours. Based on
the assessment it was concluded that in accordance with applicable accounting rules a provision should be
recognised, within a defined range of potential financial outcomes.

In estimating the amount of the provision, management made certain assumptions about the range of the
potential outcomes based on currently available information. Owing to the associated uncertainty, the evolving
nature of the investigation and the complexity of the matter, it is possible that estimates may need to be revised in
future reporting periods as new information becomes available. While a range of outcomes is possible,
management believes that the reasonably possible range used is adequate to make a sufficiently reliable estimate.

Consequently Deloitte is recognising a provision in the financial statements. The details of the amount of the
provision are not disclosed in the financial statements.

Potential financial penalties related to the investigation are neither reimbursable nor tax deductible.
Given the progress of the ongoing investigation, we anticipate the provision will be short-term.
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Fiscal unity

The legal entity is part of a fiscal unity for corporate income tax and VAT purposes and for that reason it is jointly
and severally liable for the tax liabilities of the fiscal unity as a whole.

Lease and rental obligations

The Group has entered into long-term rental agreements for offices, operational lease contracts for cars and
copying/printing machines and facility services. The Group does not have an option to purchase the leased assets
at the expiry of the lease periods. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 5 years and rentals are indexed
annually. Some contracts have renewal options, these are taken into account when it is reasonably certain the
Group will exercise the option to extend the term of the lease.

Non-cancellable commitments related to operational leases

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Not later than 1 year 17,753 14,049
Between 1 and 5 years 37,116 30,712
Later than 5 years 24,232 4,230

79,101 48,991

The amounts comprise other costs related to non-lease components included in the IFRS 16 contracts such as fuel
and service costs for the vehicles and service costs for buildings.

Non-cancellable sublease commitment

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Not later than 1 year 1,008 2,990
Between 1 and 5 years 614 1,463
Later than 5 years 0 102

1,622 4,555

Other obligations

Other obligations are related to ICT, facility services and marketing contracts.

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Not later than 1 year 20,498 21,313
Between 1 and 5 years 2,333 1,556
Later than 5 years 0 0

22,831 22,869

Facility services

As of December 1, 2006 the Group outsourced facility services to a third party. Related staff was transferred to the
new service provider. The contract will be yearly renewed for 12 months. The Group has undertaken to re-employ
the former employees (approx. 20) or to employ them with a succeeding facility supplier if the contract is not
renewed.

Membership

The Group is the Dutch Affiliate of Deloitte NSE LLP, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited and Deloitte EMEA Co-
operation Limited. The Group is obliged to pay annual subscription and services fees.
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Guarantees
Stichting Financiering Deloitte

Members who enter into an Associate Agreement with the Group are obliged to provide a subordinated loan to
Stichting Financiering Deloitte. In turn this foundation provides a subordinated loan for the same amount and
under the same conditions to Cotperatief Deloitte U.A. The subordination relates to all third party creditors and
banks. The loans amount to €184,927 as per May 31, 2024 (May 31, 2023: €131,952 ) and are subordinated to all
existing and future liabilities of the Group and, together with the membership capital and equity, make up the
capital base of the Group. Cotperatief Deloitte U.A. and its subsidiaries are jointly and severally liable to members
for what is owed to them by Stichting Financiering Deloitte with regard to the financial resources borrowed from
the members by Stichting Financiering Deloitte and re-issued to Codperatief Deloitte U.A. The Group has agreed
certain security covenants with Stichting Financiering Deloitte, including a negative pledge covenant as well as the
granting of securities at the first request of Stichting Financiering Deloitte. With respect to the ranking of these
securities rights, covenants have been agreed between the Group, Stichting Financiering Deloitte, ING Bank and
Rabobank (as lenders under Deloitte’s credit facility). This entails that the rights of Stichting Financiering Deloitte
are subordinated to those of third party creditors and the lender banks.

The Supervisory Board

The Group has indemnified the members of the Supervisory Board from the financial consequences of claims from
third parties (including defence costs) resulting from or related to the supervisory task of the members of the
Supervisory Board and to the extent the insurance of the Group does not cover matters concerned.

Bank guarantees

Bank guarantees amounting to approximately €4,291 (May 31, 2023 €4,291 ) have been issued to third parties.
Other guarantees

Liberty Mutual Surety issued guarantees on behalf of the material subsidiaries of Deloitte Holding BV. to Tax-
authorities covering the own-risk of the Return to Work (Partially Disabled) Regulation (“"WGA") related to the
calendar years 2014, 2015 and 2016. As security for these guarantees the material subsidiaries of Deloitte Holding
B.V. issued a joint and several liability undertaking.

Claims

The Group also has other contingencies, for which, in the opinion of management, the risk of loss is possible but
not probable. Contingencies involve inherent uncertainties including, but not limited to, court rulings and
negotiations between affected parties. We cannot currently predict yet the outcome of claims and litigations with
sufficient reliability. However, based on available information it is not expected that they will have a significant
impact on the financial position of the Group. Furthermore, the Group is deemed to carry sufficient professional
indemnity insurance.

8.4 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

There are no new IFRS accounting standards, amendments to existing standards or new IFRIC interpretations
published that are not yet effective that are expected to have a material impact on the Group in future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

8.5 Subsequent events

There are no subsequent events.
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Company financial statements

In € thousands Note  2023/2024 2022/2023
Share of result from participating interests 3. 3,729 1,295
Other income and expenses after taxation 2. 12,481 14,228
Result after taxation and before compensation 16,210 15,523
Compensation members of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. (12,479) (14,228)
Profit for the year 3,731 1,295
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax (18) (481)
Total comprehensive income for the year 3,713 814
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(before appropriation of result)

Company statement of financial position at
May 31, 2024

Assets (In € thousands) Note May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Non-current assets

Investments 6,478 10,283
Other non-current assets 185,477 125,278
Total non-current assets 191,955 135,561
Current assets

Trade and other receivables 5. 26,981 24,800
Total current assets 26,981 24,800
Total assets 218,936 160,361
Equity and liabilities (in € thousands) Note May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Equity 6. 195 (2,836)
Non-current liabilities

Membership capital 6,700 6,475
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 184,927 131,952
Total non-current liabilties 191,627 138,427
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10. 17,266 17,937
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 8 9,848 6,833
Total current liabilities 27,114 24,770
Total liabilities 218,741 163,197
Total Equity and liabilities 218,936 160,361
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Notes to the company financial statements

Statutory financial statements

The sections Group financial statements and Company financial statements contain the statutory financial
statements of Codperatief Deloitte U.A. A description of the Company's activities and Group structure is included in
the Consolidated financial statements.
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1. Accounting policies

Accounting policies applied

The company financial statements of Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements in Title 9 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Codperatief Deloitte U.A. prepares its consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU
IFRS). Codperatief Deloitte U.A. applies the exemption as included in section 2:362 paragraph 8. Participating
interests in Group companies are valued at net asset value determined on the basis of Title 9 Book 2 of the Dutch
Civil Code. The share in the results of participating interests in Group companies is reported in accordance with the
principles of valuation and profit determination that apply to the consolidated financial statements. In accordance
with article 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code, the company financial statements only contain an abridged profit and
loss account. Reference is made to the accounting policies section in the consolidated financial statements and the
respective notes.

Other income and expenses

The other income and expenses includes the annual fees received from the various Group companies for providing
the partners work force for the company.

Taxation

The company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries make up a fiscal unity and therefore jointly and severally liable for
the tax liabilities of the fiscal unity as a whole. The corporate income tax is calculated as if the company and its
subsidiaries were individually separately liable for tax and is offset against the current account of the parent
company, Cotperatief Deloitte U.A. Corporate income tax is calculated at the applicable rate on the result for the
financial year, taking into account permanent differences between profit calculated according to the financial
statements and profit calculated for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets (if applicable) are only valued insofar as their realisation is likely. Deferred tax assets are
recognised on the balance sheet of the company until they are realised.

Notes to the specific items of the balance sheet
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2. Other income and expenses after taxation

Other income and expenses after taxation are specified as follows:

In € thousands 2023/2024 2022/2023
Intercompany charges 12,517 14,355
Net of financial income and expenses (87) (90)
Taxation 51 (37)

12,481 14,228
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3. Receivables from Group companies

Amounts owed by Group companies are unsecured subordinated loans.

Interests in Receivables
In € thousands Group from Group Total
companies companies
Gross value 10,283 125,278 135,561
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 0 0 0
Book value as of June 1, 2023 10,283 125,278 135,561
Movements:
Issued loans 0 67,228 67,228
Conversion share premium to loan (7,000) 7,000 0
Share in result of participating interests 3,729 0 3,729
Movement in net fair value on investments in equity
instruments classified as at fair value through OCI ! (40) 0 (40)
Deemed distribution (516) 0 (516)
Movement legal reserve foreign currency translation 22 0 22
Repayments 0 (14,029) (14,029)
Book value as of May 31, 2024 6,478 185,477 191,955
Gross value 6,478 185,477 191,955
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 0 0 0
Book value as of May 31, 2024 6,478 185,477 191,955
Interests in Receivables
In € thousands Group from Group Total
companies companies
Gross value 10,414 118,006 128,420
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 0 0 0
Book value as of June 1, 2022 10,414 118,006 128,420
Movements:
Issued loans 0 15,757 15,757
Conversion share premium to loan 0 0 0
Share in result of participating interests 1,295 0 1,295
e et o e e ey ) o )
Deemed distribution (945) 0 (945)
Movement legal reserve foreign currency translation (10) 0 (10)
Repayments 0 (8,485) (8,485)
Book value as of May 31, 2023 10,283 125,278 135,561
Gross value 10,283 125,278 135,561
Accumulated depreciation and impairments 0 0 0
Book value as of May 31, 2023 10,283 125,278 135,561

1

See note 4.5 and note 6.2 of the consolidated financial statement
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4. Consolidated Group companies

The following subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements and recognised as interest in
Group companies for the company financial statements:

Registered  Share in the issued capital ~ Share in the issued capital

Name office May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Deloitte Holding B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
Deloitte Accountants B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
Deloitte Belastingadviseurs B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
;((E)rilcgt\ﬁe Belastingadviseurs New Rotterdam 100% 100%
- Deloitte Legal BV. Rotterdam 100% 100%
- Innovative Trade Services BV. Rotterdam 100% 100%
g(\ellmtte Consultancy Holding Rotterdam 100% 100%
- Deloitte & Touche Acquistion B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
- Deloitte Consulting B.V. Amsterdam 100% 100%
- MarketRedesign Scientific B.V. Amsterdam 100% 100%
- Integration Holding BV. Rotterdam 100% 100%
-GMSBYV. Rotterdam 100% 100%
- G Hosting B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
- G Consultancy BV. Rotterdam 100% 100%
Deloitte Financial Advisory B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
- Dglowtte Benefits & Pension Rotterdam 100% 100%
Advisory BV.
- Del.owtte Forensic & Dispute Amsterdam 100% 100%
Services BV.
gt\ellmtte Group Support Center Rotterdam 100% 100%
- Deloitte Education B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
- Deloitte Group Support Center Rotterdam 100% 100%
Overseas Services BV.
Deloitte Risk Advisory B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
- IP Consultancy Holding B.V. Vlijmen 100% 100%
-IP-CON BYV. Vlijmen 100% 100%
- Pacer BV. Rotterdam 100% 100%
- Africa Talent by Deloitte (pty) Itd South Africa 50% 50%
g(\ellmtte Accountancy & Advies Rotterdam 100% 100%
Deloitte Innovation B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
Deloitte Overseas Projects | B.V. Rotterdam 100% 100%
gt\ellmtte Overseas Projects Il Rotterdam 100% 100%
gt\ellmtte Overseas Projects lll Rotterdam 100% 100%
Deloitte Dutch Caribbean B.V. Curacao 100% 100%
Stlchtlng Deloitte Impact Rotterdam
Foundation
Stichting Deloitte Herstel
Curacao

Mangrove



5. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are specified as follows:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Current account owed by Group companies 3,133 3,575
Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income 23,848 21,225

26,981 24,800
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6. Shareholders’ Equity

For breakdown reference is made to the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Other reserves

Deloitte Holding B.V. assumed the assets and liabilities of Stichting InterNos at December 31, 2016 with
approximately €53,403 (net of deferred tax) being written-off to equity. This former goodwill of Stichting InterNos is
considered a prepayment to members regarding their capital (goodwill) repayments to former partners and is
therefore stated as prepayment of equity resulting in negative other reserves.

Legal reserves

The legal reserves are related to foreign exchange differences on translation of foreign operations from a
subsidiary.
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7. Non-current liabilities

Non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings are specified as follows:

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Subordinated loans Stichting Financiering Deloitte 184,605 127,501
Non-subordinated loans Stichting Financiering Deloitte 322 4,451
184,927 131,952
Repayment obligations falling due within one year are included in current liabilities:
In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Membership Capital 375 325
Subordinated loans Stichting Financiering Deloitte 9,118 6,120
Non-subordinated loans Stichting Financiering Deloitte 355 388
9,848 6,833
The movements during the year of liabilities arising from finance activities are as follows:
. Non-
oans Sichting  Subordinatec
In € thousands Finandiering Ioans St|;ht!ng Total
Deloitte Fmanoer.mg
Deloitte
Balance June 1, 2023 133,621 4,839 138,460
Additional borrowing 60,447 93 60,540
Conversion settlement prior year to subordinated loan 5913 0 5913
Conversion non-subordinated loan to subordinated loan 3,867 (3,867) 0
Repayments (10,125) (388) (10,513)
Repayments in the following year (9,118) (355) (9,473)
Balance as of May 31, 2024 184,605 322 184,927
. Non-
oans Siching Subordinateg
In € thousands Finandiering Ianrjs Stl;ht!ng Total
Deloitte inanciering
Deloitte
Balance June 1, 2022 125,935 3,356 129,291
Additional borrowing 13,300 1,756 15,056
Repayments (5,614) (273) (5,887)
Repayments in the following year (6,120) (388) (6,508)
Balance as of May 31, 2023 127,501 4,451 131,952




8. Subordinated and non-subordinated
loans Stichting Financiering Deloitte

Subordinated loans

Members who enter into an Associate Agreement with the Group are obliged to provide a subordinated loan to
Stichting Financiering Deloitte. In turn this foundation provides a subordinated loan for the same amount and
under the same conditions to Codperatief Deloitte U.A. On its turn Cotperatief Deloitte U.A. provides a
subordinated loan for the same amount less share premium of €0 (May 31, 2023: €7 million) and under the same
conditions to Deloitte Holding BV. The subordination relates to all third party creditors and banks. The loans
amount to €184,605 as per May 31, 2024 (May 31, 2023: €127,501 ) and are subordinated to all existing and future
liabilities of the Group and, together with the membership capital and equity, make up the capital base of the
Group. The interest paid is equal to a 3-month Euribor plus 4% with a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 8%. The
loans are repaid at the termination of the Associate Agreement. The maturity date of these loans depends on
joining and leaving of members and therefore cannot be expressed in years.

Non-subordinated loans

In 2023/2024 some of the calculated claw-back reserves of active partners exceeds the amount of the provided
subordinated loan. These partners provided a non-subordinated loan to Stichting Financiering Deloitte for the
amount above the subordinated loan. In turn the foundation provides a non-subordinated loan for the same
amount and under the same conditions to Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. On its turn Codperatief Deloitte U.A. provides
a non-subordinated loan for the same amount and under the same conditions to Deloitte Holding BV. The interest
paid is equal to a 3-month Euribor plus 4% with a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 8%. At the termination of the
Associate Agreements these loans will been repaid within a six year term.



9. Membership capital

See note 5.1 of the consolidated financial statements.
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10. Trade and other payables

In € thousands May 31, 2024 May 31, 2023
Management fees to be paid to members Codperatief Deloitte U.A. 12,852 15,200
Tax 1 1
Other liabilities and accruals 4,413 2,736

17,266 17,937
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11. Off-balance sheet commitments

Fiscal unity

The legal entity is part of a fiscal unity for corporate income tax and VAT purposes and for that reason it is jointly
and severally liable for the tax liabilities of the fiscal unity as a whole.

Stichting Financiering Deloitte

Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. and its subsidiaries are jointly and severally liable to members for what is owed to them
by Stichting Financiering Deloitte with regard to the financial resources borrowed from the members by Stichting
Financiering Deloitte and re-issued to Cooperatief Deloitte U.A. The Group has agreed certain security covenants
with Stichting Financiering Deloitte, including a negative pledge covenant as well as the granting of securities at the
first request of Stichting Financiering Deloitte. With respect to the ranking of these securities rights, covenants have
been agreed between the Group, Stichting Financiering Deloitte, ING Bank and Rabobank (as lenders under
Deloitte’s credit facility). This entails that the rights of Stichting Financiering Deloitte are subordinated to those of
third party creditors and the lender banks.

The Supervisory Board

The company has indemnified the members of the Supervisory Board from the financial consequences of claims
from third parties (including defence costs) resulting from or related to the supervisory task of the members of the
Supervisory Board and to the extent the insurance of the company does not cover matters concerned.

Guarantees

The company has issued a joint and several liability statement to the provisions of Section 2:403 of the Dutch Civil
Code with respect to Deloitte Accountancy & Advies BV. and Deloitte Group Support Center BV.
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12. Other notes to the financial statements

Average number of employees
During 2023/2024, 0 employees were employed on a full-time basis (2022/2023: 0).
Remuneration of members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board

For the remuneration of members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board reference is made to note 6.1
in the consolidated financial statements.

Appropriation of result for the financial year June 1, 2022 until May 31, 2023

The annual report 2022/2023 was adopted in the general meeting held on September 15, 2023. The general
meeting has determined the appropriation of result in accordance with the proposal being made to that end.

Proposed appropriation of result for the financial year June 1, 2023 until May 31, 2024
The Executive Board proposes, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, that the result for the financial year
2023/2024 amounting to €3,729 will be added to the other reserves. The financial statements do not yet reflect

this proposal.

Rotterdam, July 18, 2024

Executive Board Supervisory Board
W.FJ. Honig (Chair) H. van der Noordaa (Chair)
H. Christophers DJ. Larnder
D.H. Enklaar V.G. Moolenaar
S.E. Verhart

C.M. Wortmann
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Annex 2:
Sustainability statement




Summary of performance

Description of metrics Note 2023/2024 2022/2023
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS

CO2 emissions 2.1

Scope 1 CO2 emissions 6,668 tonnes 9,042 tonnes
Scope 2 CO2 emissions (market based) 3,113 tonnes 3,346 tonnes
Scope 3 CO2 emissions business travel** 6,173 tonnes 5,832 tonnes
Other Scope 3 CO2 emissions 7,092 tonnes 34,597 tonnes
Total CO2 emissions (Scope 1,2 and 3) 23,046 tonnes 52,817 tonnes
SOCIAL IMPACTS

Employee value proposition 3.1

% employees receiving regular performance reviews 92% 90%
Inclusion and diversity 3.2

Female positions in leadership roles 33%* 26%*
Female partners as % of total partners 24% 22%
Learning and development 33

Training hours per headcount 79.1 N/A
Wellbeing 34

Sickness leave 3.8% 3.7%
Social impact 35

# Hours spent on DIF projects 30,733 39,413
Monetary value of hours spent on DIF projects €5.3 million €6.4 million
GOVERNANCE IMPACTS

Quality of services 4.1

NPS at C-level among strategic clients 39 75
Client satisfaction (engagement) 8.7 85
Regulatory reviews that are satisfactory 97% 100%
Ethics & Integrity 4.2

# ethical incidents reported 181 135
Data security 4.3

# data leaks discovered 76 63

* 9% female Supervisory Board members: 40%; % female Executive Board members: 33%
** To allow for comparison with previous years, this figure only relates to international flights and rail
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1. Basis of preparation

Introduction

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS) as set
out in the Annex 1 to the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2023/2772 of 31 July 2023 supplementing
Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council. An ESRS Content index is included in this
report (see pages 200-211). In this table, we provide an overview of our compliance and non-compliance with the
ESRS. As Deloitte is a member of UN Global Compact the Netherlands, we connecy our impacts with the UN
Sustainable Development Goals that we deem most relevant to Deloitte.

Deloitte aims to be at the forefront of public reporting and has a long-standing practice of voluntarily disclosing
audited, financial and non-financial information. Reporting to us is an evolutionary process where every year, we
aim to improve on what we have done before and implement the latest reporting insights and requirements.

Disclosures incorporated by reference
The following information is incorporated by reference to other parts of the management report:

+ The role of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies (ESRS 2 GOV-1): Roles and responsibilities,
Report of the Supervisory Board, Profile Supervisory Board Deloitte Netherlands;
Information provided to and sustainability matters addressed by the undertaking's administrative,
management and supervisory bodies (ESRS 2 GOV-2): Report of the Supervisory Board;

+ Strategy, business model and value chain (ESRS 2 SBM-1): Our businesses and industries, About Deloitte, Our
purpose and strategy, Our strategy in action, Value creation;
Interests and views of stakeholders (ESRS 2 SBM-2): Our strategy in action;
Material impacts, risks and opportunities and their interaction with strategy and business model (ESRS 2
SBM-3): Value creation model, Our Purpose and Strategy;
Description of the process to identify and assess material impacts, risks and opportunities (ESRS 2 IRO-1): Risk
Management;
Disclosure Requirements in ESRS covered by the undertaking'’s sustainability statement (ESRS 2 IRO-2): ESRS
Content Index (Annex 3).

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board are actively involved with the execution of our business and strategy.
Impacts, risks and opportunities related to our business and strategy, such as our Employee Value Proposition,
Diversity, equity and inclusion, Learning & development, Quality, and Climate and CO,, are frequently discussed
between the topic owners and the Board. For some other material topics, there is periodic quantitative and
qualitative reporting (such as DIF and Social return). For Ethics & integrity, all reported cases are discussed with the
Executive Board. Data security (including privacy) is discussed with the Board when needed (for example in the
case of major incidents).
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The evolution of our reporting

Deloitte publishes its first Sustainability Report (using the GRI 3.0 Guidelines),
alongside the Annual Report that primarily covers our financial performance

. GRI G4 implemented in our Sustainability Report
Deloitte publishes its first Integrated Report (using the GRI G4 Guidelines and
the IIRC Framework

Deloitte transitions from Dutch GAAP to IFRS for financial reporting and from
GRI G4 Guidelines to the GRI Standards

IFRS 15 implemented in financial reporting

Connect for Impact strategy published integrating financial and non-financial
performance; IFRS 16 implemented in financial reporting

Digital reporting platform introduced allowing for improved navigation

CSRD readiness analysis performed and qualitative analysis for EU Taxonomy
concluded. Started implementation of GRI Universal Standards

Announcing new Deloitte strategy (September). Full implementation of GRI
Universal Standards. Implementation of CSRD well under way; qualitative
reporting on EU Taxonomy

Full implementation of ESRS. Value Creation Model aligned with Deloitte
strategy.

2023

Reporting in conformity with EU Taxonomy. Continuous, real-time reporting on
most relevant KPIs

EU Taxonomy

Following the EU Taxonomy, Deloitte will be required to report the percentage of eligible and aligned turnover,
CAPEX, and OPEX (contributing to the six environmental objectives from the EU Green Deal) for our financial year
2024/2025. To this end, we have identified the eligible and possibly aligned activities contributing to the first two
environmental objectives of as part of future reporting.

In general, the main areas of our revenue comes from providing professional services that are not classified as
‘eligible turnover' by the EU Taxonomy. An exception is activity 9.3 ‘Professional services related to energy
performance of buildings' as Deloitte is an accredited auditor for the energy performance of buildings, and
provides performance assessments for real estate clients. This is, however, a relatively small part of our total
revenue.

The most notable eligible capital expenditure (CAPEX) refers to the lease of our buildings, classified under the
activity 7.7 “Buying real estate and exercising ownership of that real estate”, as four of our buildings in the
Netherlands have at least an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) class A.

The most notable eligible operating expenditure (OPEX) refers to Activity 6.5 ‘Transport by motor bikes, passenger
cars, and light commercial vehicles’, as a substantial amount of the passenger cars leased by Deloitte have tailpipe

CO, emissions equal to 0g CO, e/km.

We present an overview of eligible activities that we have identified below:
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OPEX and CAPEX

6.5. Transport by motorbikes, passenger cars and light commercial vehicles (OPEX)
+ 7.7. Acquisition and ownership of buildings (CAPEX/ OPEX)
1.1 Afforestation (OPEX)
1.3 Forest management (OPEX)
6.4. Operation of personal mobility devices, cycle logistics (OPEX)
5.5. Collection and transport of non hazardous waste (OPEX)
+ 7.2,7.3,7.5,7.6. Renovation of buildings, maintenance of energy efficiency equipment, energy performance
devices, renewable energy technologies (CAPEX/ OPEX)
+ 7.4. EV charging stations in buildings and parking spaces (CAPEX/ OPEX)
8.1. Data processing, hosting and related activities (OPEX)
11.71. Education (OPEX)

Revenues

8.2. Computer programming, consultancy and related activities
+ 9.1. Engineering activities and related technical consultancy dedicated to adaptation to climate change
+ 9.1. Close to market research, development and innovation
8.2. Data driven solutions for GHG emissions reductions
+ 9.2. Research, development and innovation for direct air capture of CO2
+ 9.3. Professional services related to energy performance of buildings
11.1. Education

In 2024/2025, in close cooperation with other Deloitte geographies in the European Union, we will assess whether
these activities can be aligned. One of the elements we need to investigate further is the ability for our systems to
generate sufficient and reliable data on the activities now identified. In addition, we will continue to work towards
strengething compliance with the minimum safeguards as required by the EU Taxonomy regulation.

1.1 Scope

In this Report, ‘Deloitte’ refers to Codperatief Deloitte U.A. and its subsidiaries as listed in the ‘Notes to the specific
items on the financial statements’ in Annex 1. The performance of Deloitte Dutch Caribbean (DDC) is integrated in
our non-financial data, unless otherwise indicated.

For the purpose of this report, we apply the following definitions regarding the scoping of time:

+ Short-term: one year;
Middle-term: one to four years (in line with our strategic planning cycle);
Long-term: over four years.

1.2 Materiality

Process to assess materiality

The starting point of our materiality assessment is the long list with the Sustainability matters covered in topical
ESRS. We assess these topics for potential material impacts, risks and opportunities throughout our value chain
and on that basis, decide which matters deserve further consideration. To this list, we add the matters that come
out of our peer benchmark analysis, thus creating a short-list. To identify matters material to Deloitte, we consult
with our stakeholders. While this occurs during our materiality assessment, we regularly engage with them
throughout the year as well. Sometimes, our engagement involves desk research, such as reviewing the material
topics relevant to our industry peers. The methods of our stakeholder engagement are detailed in the table below.
These interactions offer valuable perspectives on the environmental, social, and governance issues that shape
stakeholders' perceptions of us.

Once we have an initial idea of possible topics to be included in our materiality assessment, we seek input from our
due diligence process owners. Specifically, we interact with our Client & Engagement acceptance teams, our
Business Relationship Assessment team and the Responsible Business Committee. On the basis of our stakeholder
engagement and the input from our due diligence processes, we define a shortlist of expected sustainability
impacts, risks and opportunities. The impacts are assessed through a Strategic Impact Assessment, where the
social cost per impact is calculated to determine the scale and scope of the impacts and facilitate ranking. We use
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social impact as this methodology assesses the full social costs across and beyond our value chain and takes
aspects such as remediability of impacts into account. In addition, it makes various impacts comparable as it
monetises them. We believe that using social impacts is in line with our purpose 'To make an impact that matters'.
Impact materiality occurs when calculated social costs are greater than €25 million, representing around 2% of our
revenues.

Consequently, we seek to connect the sustainability matters with our Enterprise Risk Framework. Impacts that are
part of the ERF (such as Quality and Ethics & integrity) are plotted directly in our materiality assessment on the
basis of the exposure as defined in our Risk Radar (please see pages 50-51). For topics that are not part of our Risk
Radar, we interact with the topic owners to determine and quantify associated risks and opportunities. To this end,
we plot risks and opportunities on financial impact and likelihood. The threshold value for financial impact is the
same as for impact materiality. The outcome of this process is used to plot the topics against both impact and
financial materiality.

On the basis of this representation, a defined list of key material impacts, risks and opportunities is proposed to
the Executive Board and, after their approval, shared with our Supervisory Board.

Stakeholder interaction

We interact with our stakeholders to seek their opinions and their expectations. This process allows us to define a
timely and adequate response to the issues they deem important for our business and for our ability to make an
impact that matters.

Graph: Stakeholders in our value chain

Presence across the value chain

Regulators/

Government/ . . . . . Media, Opinion Leaders . 3
paiic policy supervisory Financial institutions Competitors o NGOn Society
authorities
m Coms Ll Downstraam

Deloitte Delivery
Suppliers Our partners Cur people netwark canters Contractors Alliance partners
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Value Chain Prospective
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Table 01: Means of stakeholder engagement

Stakeholder groups

Clients & their shareholders

How we seek their interest and views

Client Service Assessments
Engagement quality assessments

Client meetings and (digital) events

Requests for proposals
Clients & Industries research
External research and ratings
Media scanning

Frequency
Continuous
Continuous
Continuous
Continuous
Continuous
Continuous
Continuous

Our people

Talent surveys

Sustainability survey and focus groups

Discussions with Works Council

Formal and informal meetings, including virtual townhalls
Feedback / comments from individuals

> 6 times per year
Bi-annually

Continuous

Continuous

Our partners

Formal and informal partner meetings

Partner strategy sessions
Partnership Council

Receiving feedback

Annually

Continuous

Graduates and experienced
talent

Surveys and research
Job interviews
LinkedIn profiles

Participation in campus events

Continuous
Continuous
Continuous
Continuous

Recruitment sessions Continuous
Deloitte network Active participation in key DTTL and NSE governance Continuous

bodies

International cooperation around issues or engagements  Continuous

Regulators

Formal and informal meetings
Media scanning

>4 times per year
Continuous

Media, Opinion leaders & NGOs

One-on-one engagements

Cooperation with knowledge institutes such as universities

Media scanning

Throughout the
year

Continuous
Continuous

Society Active participation of Deloitters in society Continuous
Media scanning Continuous
Peers Active participation in trade and industry platforms Continuous
One-on-one sessions around themes or issues Throughout the
year
Media scanning Continuous
Suppliers Contract management > once per year

Media scanning

Annually

Financial institutions

One-on-one meetings

Media scanning

Regularly, when
needed

Continuous

Downstream Business Relationships are not yet in scope of our structured stakeholder engagement and are,
therefore, excluded from our materiality assessment. We will work to obtain relevant insights in 2024/2025 and will
include their perspectives in the update of our DMA that we will prepare for our 2024/2025 reporting.

Our engagement in 2023/2024

Following our extensive stakeholder dialogue in 2022/2023, this year we have updated our insights whereby we
have focused on the following stakeholder groups:

Clients and their shareholders

Deloitte network
Peers
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Media, Opinion leaders & NGOs
Financial institutions (banks)
Suppliers

Graduates and experienced talent

For the stakeholders listed above, we provide an overview of the insights that we gained for updating our
materiality matrix. For stakeholder groups not specifically engaged with on materiality in 2023/2024, we provide the
conclusions of our 2022/2023 activities.

Our partners and our people

In February 2023, we conducted an internal sustainability survey in which 422 of our partners and employees
participated. One of the aims of this survey was to obtain better insights into the sustainability matters that our
employees deem relevant to Deloitte. To assess their views as input for our (double) materiality analysis, we asked
them to select the five topics where they believed Deloitte has the biggest impact. We also asked our people to
select five topics they believed that have the greatest impact on Deloitte's operations, reputation and financial
success in the short and medium term. Combining this inside-out and outside-in perspective, we came to the
following list of topics our people believe are material for Deloitte:

CO, emissions
Energy
Innovation
Data security
Ethics & Integrity

- Vitality & wellbeing
Biodiversity
Quality
Social impact & social return
Economic growth
Inclusion & diversity
Sustainable procurement

Clients and their shareholders

Our clients turn to Deloitte for relevant insights and high quality professional services that help their businesses
become more responsible and sustainable. Quality, in all its aspects, is the key driver for our success, as is our
ability to quickly adapt to the changing needs of our clients regarding the expertise they seek from us. To ensure
both quality and adaptability, continuous learning, development of our people, and the ability to innovate are key
requirements, as is international cooperation to deliver high quality engagements across borders.

To perform our services, in many cases our clients entrust us with sensitive data. The integrity of our IT systems
and the prevention of data leaks is of vital importance to the trust that our clients have in Deloitte. Privacy and data
security are therefore highly important topics to us.

Larger corporate clients and public sector clients are especially aware that their responsibility reaches beyond their
direct operations and also involves parts of their value chain. Typical topics that these clients are interested in are:
climate impact and GHG emissions, environmental management and certification, human rights in general, labour
rights, public commitments in the area of sustainability, and human trafficking and slavery.
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Deloitte network

DTTL has its own process for determining materiality in accordance with the GRI Standards. The outcome of this
process provides input for our materiality assessment. The material topics from DTTL relevant to their 2022/2023
reporting are depicted in the graph below:

ECONOMY ENVIRONMENT SOCIETY DELOITTE PEOPLE

FUNDAMENTAL

MORE SIGNIFICANT

SIGNIFICANT

Government / policy makers

We have formal and informal engagements with our regulators and public policy makers. The focus of our
regulators/public policy continued to be on the following themes: quality (fraud, continuity), implementation of
ISQM1, independence, learning, attractiveness of profession, IKO (the results of internal engagement quality
reviews and results of system of quality review), use of data analytics and data-driven supervision.

Key themes for public policy work, financial health, digital and sustainability. In addition, policy makers expect
Deloitte to contribute to the solution of complex social challenges and we experience a great interest in our 'Future
of' agenda. For more information on our public policy activities, please see page 181).

Peers

We have benchmarked our material topics and related performance against eight (including Deloitte Netherlands)
national and international peers on the basis of their most recent public reports. Material matters that were
mentioned by the majority of our peers were:

Inclusion and diversity (8 mentions);
Data security (7);

+ Wellbeing (7);
Climate & CO2 emissions (7);
Quality of services (6);
Ethics & integrity (6);
Employee value proposition (6);
Learning and development (6);

+ Social impact (6);
Innovation (5).

Media, Opinion leaders & NGOs
We constantly monitor public opinion and actively scan media for emerging topics. Our efforts in 2023/2024 show

that the following topics have the most hits on Google in relation to Deloitte: learning, inclusiveness and diversity,
wellbeing, customer satisfaction, ethics, career development, environmental care, and climate.
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Suppliers

In addition to our regular due dilligence activities vis-a-vis suppliers (also see "Sustainable procurement" on pages
188-189), we have launched an initiative in which we want to stimulate our suppliers to become committed to
Science Based Targets for the reduction of greenhouse gasses. This initiative results in conversations with suppliers
about sustainability matters which helps us to better understand impacts, risks and opportunities vis-a-vis our
suppliers.

Graduates and experienced talent

By nature, our business is characterised by a high employee turnover and changing skill sets. Combined with the
growth of our business, this means that we are constantly recruiting new talent. Deloitte's Global 2023 GenZ &
Millennial Survey provides a wealth of insights into the desires and expectations from our (future) colleagues.
Analysis of the Survey shows that the following topics are of specific interest to new hires:

High cost of living / employment / income
- Work-life balance

Mental health
- Work-related pressures

Harassment or microaggressions in the workplace
+ Visible climate action

Inclusiveness, diversity and equality
- Social impact / purpose

Learning / development opportunity

Hybrid working

Healthcare / disease prevention

The stakeholder groups that are not included in the overview above, were not in scope for this year's reporting as
we deemed our sustainability impact on them not likely to be material or not sufficiently attributable. We will re-
assess our choices in this respect in 2024/2025.

Assessing impacts

After identifying relevant topics, we have assessed the actual and potential impacts of the topics both from an
inside-out and an outside-in perspective. For the sake of this materiality assessment, financial materiality includes
reputational materiality as defined in our Enterprise Risk Framework (ERF). Topics that are not included in our ERF
have been subject to their own assessment of risks and opportunities for the short (<1 year), medium (1-4 years)
and long (>4 years) term. We disclose the associated risks and opportunities for each material impact in sections
2-4 of Annex 2. Impact materiality has been determined by the Strategic Impacts Assessment (SIA) that was
performed in 2023 based on our 2021/2022 data, and that will be updated in 2024/2025. We have assessed the
following topics (in alphabetical order):

@ Biodiversity ® Learning & development

®@ Climate and CO2 Quality

® Data security (incl. privacy) @ Responsible supply chain

@ Diversity, equity & inclusion @ Social impact & social return
® Employee value proposition ® Waste

® Energy transition Water

@ Ethics & integrity (incl. corruption) ® Well-being

Human rights
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Graph 01: materiality assessment
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Consequently, we have discussed our selection with internal experts in the area of sustainability and impact. In
March 2024, we presented our conclusions to the Executive Board, which has ultimately determined the material
topics for our financial year 2023/2024.

= Quality
Fundamental material impacts +  Data security

+  Ethics & integrity
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Fundamental material impacts are those that are overarching requirements that we must meet in order to
establish trust, strengthen market leadership and make an impact on clients, our people and society. Significant

impacts are topics where our impact is significant and/or that have a (potential) significant impact on our firm and
the way we do business. All material topics are disclosed in accordance with the European Sustainability Reporting
Standards. Emerging impacts are topics that as such do not yet meet the thresholds we have defined for
materiality, but we believe will gain traction over the mid to longer term. These topics are disclosed in a qualitative

way in our reporting.

We intend to update our Double Materiality Assessment for our 2024/2025 reporting, to include the conclusions of

the Double Materiality Assessment that is currently performed by NSE.

Material topics

Following our assessment, we have identified the following material topics for our 2023/2024 reporting:

Table 02: Material topics

Area Topics 2022/2023 Topics 2023/2024 Pages
1. Quality - Quality of services - Quality of services 178-181
- Data security - Data security 184-186
2. Ethics - Ethics & integrity - Ethics & integrity 181-184
3. Talent - Employee value proposition - Employee value proposition 157-161
Inclusion and diversity Diversity, equity and inclusion 162-165
- Learning and development - Learning and development 165-169
- Wellbeing - Wellbeing 169-171
4. Innovation - Innovation
5. Impact on society Climate & CO2 emissions Climate & CO2 emissions 135-155
- Social impact (a.o0. DIF) - Social impact / social return 171177

Compared to the previous year, we have removed ‘Innovation' as a material topic as innovation is outside of the

domain of sustainability as defined by the ESRS and is not part of the ESG landscape. Innovation, however, remains
one of the cornerstones of our strategy. We have relabelled ‘Inclusion & diversity’ to ‘Diversity, equity and inclusion’

to do justice to the objectives and scope of our activities.

Many of our material topics relate to one or more sustainability matters as identified by the European Sustainability

Reporting Standards (ESRS). Please see the table below for an overview.

Table 03: Connection between ESRS and Deloitte material topics

Deloitte material impact

Includes ESRS sustainability matter(s)

Climate & CO2 emissions

Climate change adaptation (ESRS-ET)
Climate change mitigation (ESRS-E1)

Energy (ESRS-ET)

Employee Value Proposition

Diversity, equity and inclusion

Training and skills development (ESRS-ST1)

Gender equality and equal pay for work of equal value (ESRS-S1)

Training and skills development (ESRS-ST)

Employment and inclusion of persons with disabilities (ESRS-S1)

Measures against violence and harassment in the workplace (ESRS-S1)

Diversity (ESRS-S1)

Learning & development

Training and skills development (ESRS-S1)

Wellbeing

Work-life balance (ESRS-S1)

Health (and safety) (ESRS-S1)

Social impact / social return

Quality of services

Ethics and integrity

Corporate culture (ESRS-G1)

Protection of whistle-blowers (ESRS-G1)
Corruption and bribery (ESRS-G1)

Data security
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Affected stakeholder groups

For our material impacts, the following stakeholder groups are considered to be affected and/or users of our

sustainability statements:
Table 04: Affected stakeholders

Material impact  Affected stakeholders

Users of information

Quality Our people, clients, regulators

Clients, regulators, public opinion, peers, financial
institutions

Data security Clients, regulators

Clients, regulators, public opinion

Ethics & integrity Our people, clients, regulators,

suppliers

Our people, clients, regulators, public opinion, peers,
financial institutions, suppliers

Climate and CO2 Our people, clients

Our people, clients, public opinion, peers, financial
institutions

Diversity, equity and Our people Our people, clients, public opinion
inclusion
Employees value Our people Our people, graduates and experienced talent, peers
proposition
Training & education Our people, clients, regulators, Public opinion
peers
Wellbeing Our people Our people, peers, regulators

Social impact / Our people, clients, society

social return

Our people, clients, public opinion, peers, financial
institutions

Please see Table 01 above for a description on how we engage with our stakeholders.

There is an overlap of topics and related opportunities noted by our internal and external stakeholders. Most of
these topics relate to our internal organisation. For this reason, our reporting on these topics is limited to our
performance within our direct sphere of influence, unless indicated otherwise. This is the case for our Scope 3
emissions upstream and where we discuss our due dilligence processes upstream and downstream.

We have collected the relevant performance data from our business information systems as supported by our
internal control and monitoring systems, and from suppliers and other sources. This is centrally recorded and
thereafter reviewed by our Finance & Control department and the KPI owners.

Process for defining report content

Executive Board/

Project Team Supervisory Board oversight

2. Define
material topics

1. Stakeholder
engagement

7. External

8. Approval
PP assurance

Independent
external auditor

General Meeting

Supervisory Board oversight

Topic owners
Project Team Internal controls

Executive Board/

4. Input from
topic owners

3. Determine
report outline

6. Approve
text and
sign-off

5. Editing
phase

Executive Board

Supervisory Board Topic owners Project Team

Executive Board

Central to our approach to reporting is the IAR Project team. This team is headed by our Chief Financial Officer and
consists of representatives from Finance & Control and Finance & Accounting, combined with specialists from our
Risk Advisory business's Sustainability Group and supported by Brand and Communication. Content planning and
development takes place under the supervision of the Executive Board, with internal oversight by the Audit &
Finance Committee and the Supervisory Board. We have engaged our independent external auditor, BDO Audit &
Assurance BV, to provide reasonable assurance on our financial data (Annex 1) and limited assurance on our
sustainability statement (Annex 2) in the PDF version of this report. The assurance report of BDO Audit &
Assurance B\V. can be found in Annex 4 of the PDF. The Report is published after approval by the General Meeting.
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2. Environmental impacts

This section covers the effects, risks, opportunities, governance, strategies, actions, and results of Deloitte's
identified material environmental impacts (refer to page 132 for a summary of our material impacts).

In line with the ESRS, we will describe the processes to identify and assess material impacts, risks and opportunities
for the environmental sustainability matters not in scope of our reporting due to a lack of materiality.

Table 05: materiality processes and considerations with regard to non-material environmental
sustainability matters

ESRS Topic Processes and considerations

E2  Polution Offices screened for possible use of polutants in cleaning processes
Social impact of exhaust gasses ot ICE vehicles calculated
Spend analysis conducted for upstream business activities
Assumption that our downstream activities (audit and business advisory) will not materially
affect polution by our clients
Due to very low level of impact, affected communicties were not consulted

E3  Water and Water consumption in offices is measured on a monthly basis
marine Social impact of water consumption calculated
resources Spend analysis conducted for upstream business activities

Assumption that our downstream activities (audit and business advisory) will not causally
or materially affect water and marine resources by our clients
Due to very low level of impact, affected communicties were not consulted

E4  Biodiversity =~ We have identified and assessed actual and potential impacts on biodiversity and

and ecosystems at own site locations and in the upstream and downstream value chain, using

ecosystem social impact calculations and spend analysis for upstream activities as well as an impact
study we performed in 2022 on biodiversity and nature. Our assumption is that there is no
causal or material effect of our our downstream activities (audit and business advisory) that
affect biodiversity and ecosystems
There is limited dependency of our services on biodiversity and ecosystems throughout
our value chain
On the basis of our analysis (spend, review of own sites) we have concluded that in the
short to medium term there are no material transition and physical risks, nor systemic risks
that affect Deloitte.
We do not operate sites located in or near biodiversity-sensitive areas
It has not been concluded that it is necessary to implement biodiversity mitigation
measures, such as those identified in: Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament
and of the Council on the conservation of wild birds; Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the
conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora
Due to low level of impact, affected communicties were not consulted

E5  Resourceuse Waste generation in offices is measured on a monthly basis
and circular  Social impact of waste generation calculated
economy Spend analysis conducted for upstream business activities; initiatives in IT have started
Assumption that our downstream activities (audit and business advisory) will not causally
or materially affect resource use and circular economy by our clients
Due to very low level of impact, affected communicties were not consulted

2.1 Climate and CO,

Impacts, risks and opportunities

Our day-to-day activities result in CO, emissions. We burn fuels to heat our buildings and power our car fleet,
purchase electricity to charge our cars and we buy airline and railway tickets to travel to clients and attend
international network meetings. We also have suppliers who emit CO, to produce and transport their goods or
render their services to us. The CO, we emit contributes to global warming, which results in widely known
environmental impacts such as accelerated sea level rise, more intense heat waves, loss of biodiversity, and much
more. This indirectly impacts the wellbeing and safety of people around the globe, but also the continuity of
organisations. Extreme weather can significantly impact sites and supply chains. This climate-related physical risk
can not only jeopardise the continuity of our clients and thus our engagements, but it also affects suppliers that
provide goods and services for the operations of our own organisation.
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Due to the nature of our business, the material impact of our CO, emissions is relatively small. This is confirmed by
the Strategic Impact Assessment that we have conducted in 2022/2023. However, the financial implications of
climate change and CO, emissions can be significant. In the short to medium term, not meeting stakeholder
expectations could lead to loss of business and difficulty attracting top talent, which we consider to be a climate-
related transition risk. Proactively managing our Climate & CO, impacts can enhance Deloitte's appeal as a
business partner and an employer, ensuring ongoing access to the labour market.

In the longer term, Climate & CO, potentially can hurt our clients' businesses and with that, our ability to service
them. Clients who are asset-heavy or who have invested heavily in asset-heavy industries (such as banks and
institutional investors) can especially be affected by the consequences of climate change. They stand to lose both
production capacity and value in case their installations are damaged or destroyed by climate-related natural
disasters, such as floods or storms. On a larger scale, this can lead to a business continuity risk and with that, a
climate-related transition risk to the continuity of our services to such clients.

Many companies are becoming actively aware of climate-related risks and want to move away from a fossil fuel-
based economy. This poses a good opportunity for Deloitte to help clients in mitigating climate risks and helping
them to become more responsible and adaptive businesses. We help an increasing number of clients with the
environmental challenges through our Strategic Growth Opportunity (SGO) Sustainability, a cross-business
cooperation that brings together the necessary experience and competences from our audit and advisory
businesses.

Climate risk

In December 2023, Deloitte NSE has published a report describing the Climate-related financial disclosures for
NSE and its geographies, including the Netherlands. It contains a comprehensive overview of our global climate
ambitions, impacts and the risks that apply to our business. Our assessment of financial risks and opportunities in
determining materiality is informed by this publication.

NSE climate risk process
Deloitte has a robust process for identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all risks through the Enterprise
Risk Framework (ERF) at both the NSE and local National Practice levels.

The ERF sets out the assessment of principal and emerging risks facing the firm, specifically those that could
impact Deloitte’s ability to achieve its strategic priorities, meet its public interest obligations and protect its
reputation and people. Climate change and sustainability matters, alongside other business risks and
opportunities, are considered and embedded within the ERF.

The ERF prioritises risks based on residual exposure. This is achieved through the 'risk dashboard,’ which assesses
the residual exposure of risks and opportunities, including those related to climate. Residual risk exposure
describes the likelihood of a risk crystallising, and its impact on Deloitte given the current ability to mitigate or
manage it, and is categorised as very high, high or medium. Risks and opportunities are considered against four
impact dimensions: strategy and market differentiation, brand and reputation, operational and financial resilience,
and people and purpose.

Material climate-related risks and opportunities include consideration of both physical and transition risks. These
include consideration of existing and emerging regulatory requirements, such as jurisdictional policies that are
being introduced to deliver against jurisdictional commitments, as well as changes to client behaviour and threats
to reputation.

The risks and opportunities are assessed in line with Deloitte’s risk methodology and governance processes and
are informed by qualitative scenario analysis. As such, climate change is integrated into decision-making through
consideration alongside other business risks within the ERF.

The Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Team facilitates the ERF and, along with other enterprise risks, climate-
related risks are assigned an Executive Risk Owner who oversees work carried out by management teams within
the organisation to manage those risks. Executive Risk Owners are responsible for continually monitoring the
effectiveness of the risk management and mitigation plan. Residual exposure is discussed and assessed during
regular meetings between the ERM team and each Executive Risk Owner. These meetings also focus on the
internal and external drivers of the risks and the work required to manage them, alongside the effectiveness of
existing mitigations and the status of any actions deemed necessary to further enhance these mitigations.
Outcomes are reviewed by both the ERM team and Executive Risk Owners, then updates are included within the
ERF.

136


https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/about-deloitte/deloitte-nse-fy23-climate-disclosures.pdf

The ERM team uses a risk dashboard to enable ongoing assessment of climate-related risks and other business
risks. It is used to inform, refresh and validate the status of each risk with the respective Executive Risk Owners and
the NSE CRO twice a year on a mandatory basis. At these reviews, the Executive Risk Owners and the NSE CRO
assess whether current risk management activities are sufficient. If additional action may be or is required for
climate-related risks, these are prioritised and given ‘special focus' (requires more detailed management
monitoring) or ‘action required’ (immediate additional mitigating actions are required) status, and more detailed
management and monitoring will be carried out as a result. Management teams are accountable for implementing
risk management and mitigation plans. The NSE World Climate team (which manages the firm's own sustainability
transformation, including its climate response) holds regular discussions with the Executive Risk Owners and the
NSE CRO to gain insight and consult on progress relating to climate-related risks.

Executive Risk Owners' residual risk assessment for each climate-related risk and opportunity, is presented to the
NSE Executive for approval and NSE ARC for review and oversight, with plans to manage and monitor the risks
communicated to the NSE ARC twice a year.

As outlined above, the process for identifying, assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities is
fully integrated into Deloitte NSE's overall risk management process. The end-to-end climate-related risk
management process is owned by the Climate SteerCo to ensure progress against identified climate-related risks
and opportunities is monitored, outcomes are evaluated and a holistic view of climate-related impacts on Deloitte
is provided to the NSE Executive.

Time Horizons

For the purpose of defining climate-related risks and opportunities, Deloitte maintains time-horizons that deviate
from the definitions provided in section 1.1 of this Annex:

Short-term: the next fours years, which alligns with Deloitte's internal planning and forecasting frameworks;
Medium-term: 4-7 years, in line with our World C/imate near-term 2030 targets;
Long-term: greater than 7 years (up to 2050), in line with UK and EU jurisdictional net zero targets.

Climate Scenarios

Deloitte has identified the Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS) Climate Scenarios as the publicly
available resource most relevant to Deloitte NSE when it comes to understanding how climate change, climate
policy and technology trends could evolve in different futures. Deloitte is not a financial services provider or
institution; it is a professional services organisation with diverse geographic and sectoral exposure similar to that
experienced in the financial services sector. It was therefore decided that the NGFS scenarios, rather than, for
example, the World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD) scenarios, which are designed for
energy companies, would be most suitable to better understand Deloitte NSE's future possible climate risk and
resilience.

Deloitte selected three scenarios - Current Policies (3°C), Divergent Net Zero and Orderly Net Zero by 2050 - to
assess the impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities across the applicable short, medium, and long-term
time horizons. Choosing two net zero scenarios with similar policy ambitions (below 1.5°C) but different policy
reactions enable a range of risks and opportunities to be captured in a transition scenario, factoring in the market
and regulatory drivers to which Deloitte NSE is most exposed to. This is particularly true given the comparable
climate policies and net zero ambitions of the UK and EU, and the relative financial importance of these markets to
NSE's overall revenue. The Current Policies scenario captures the extreme warming future where physical climate
impacts could put business operations and continuity at risk.

Analysis was performed using the firm’s internal scenario modelling, which assessed each climate scenario’s
potential positive and negative implications. The selected scenarios enable Deloitte to assess robustly the impacts
of climate change over the short, medium, and long-term under three possible pathways, with global warming
ranging from 1.5°C to 3°C.
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Step 2

Stakeholder workshops
to qualitatively assess
impact and likelihood
and define applicable
time horizons.

Process for defining climate-related risks and opportunities

Step 3

Qualitative validation

of risks and opportunities
by considering qualitative
scoring, geographic
analysis and climate
scenarios.

Step 4

Qualitative analysis

of the impacts against
future climate change
scenarios and collect
data from internal and
external sources.

Step 5

Summarise material
risks and opportunities
under each future
climate change scenario
applicable across

time horizons.

The climate-related risks and opportunities assessment used the same likelihood and impact risk criteria as the
firm’s ERF, which is described in the Risk management section above.

Identified climate-related risks and opportunities were assessed by members of the Climate SteerCo (as well as
other key stakeholders across NSE's operations) by scoring the likelihood and impact for each risk and opportunity.
Together with qualitative analysis based on market data, an average combined score was then calculated for each
risk and opportunity to understand the significance to Deloitte. Following consideration and approval by the
Climate SteerCo, the climate-related risks and opportunities that were determined to have a potential impact on
the business have been disclosed below.

Two types of climate-related risks and opportunities have been determined as having a potential impact: physical
(acute and chronic) and transition (market, reputation, policy and legal). Further analysis has been performed for
these, including impact assessments and scenario modelling (against the three scenarios identified above), analysis
of the firm's strategy and business model resilience and corresponding strategic responses. The results have been
included in the table below.

Climate-related risks and opportunities are considered in Deloitte’s strategic, operational, and financial planning
process and this ensures decisions not only align to the firm's purpose but contribute to the economy-wide low-
carbon transition. Deloitte’s strategic response to climate-related risks and opportunities is founded on its World
Climate strategy and its transition to a sustainable business - please refer to the Policy section in this report.

Summary of Material Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities

The table below shows the list of climate-related risks and opportunities identified as having a potentially material
impact on Deloitte NSE.

As a professional services organisation, the firm considers the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities to
be consistent across its primary service offerings (Consulting, Financial Advisory, Risk Advisory, Audit & Assurance,
Tax and Legal), so has not performed sector-specific analysis. Similarly, due to the global nature of Deloitte’s
operations, geographic impact has not been considered for the below transition risks and opportunities as the firm
expects these to be largely consistent across all NSE National Practices. On the opposite, geographic impact for
physical risks is considered in this report for Deloitte NL and complement the analysis, performed on NSE level.

Due to the limited availability of public data and the extensive number of assumptions involved, Deloitte has not
quantified the financial impact of these risks and opportunities at this time. Instead, Deloitte has performed a
qualitative impact assessment through narrative alone. Quantification of the financial impact (e.g., revenues and
costs) on all climate-related risks and opportunities will be further developed in future reporting periods.

Table 06: Material climate-related risks and opportunities

138



Risk or
Opportunity

Description and
Potential Impact to
Deloitte NSE

Potential Impact under Climate
Scenarios and Time Horizons

Strategic Response
and Resilience

Physical: Acute and
Chronic

Risk: Disruption to
business
operations and
service delivery
due to extreme
weather events
impacting
infrastructure (e.g.,
data and delivery
centres) and
employee
productivity.

Climate-related physical
risks could impact
Deloitte’s infrastructure
and employees, and
could result in reduced
revenue caused by
business disruption and
productivity loss. These
impacts could be driven
by acute (e.g., increased
severity of storms,
floods and wildfires) or
chronic (e.g., rising
mean temperatures)
physical risks

In all scenarios, physical risks to
Deloitte will increase from the short to
medium-term. Physical risks are
expected to be identical in the short-

term due to ‘committed

warming' (emissions already released).
In the medium term, under the Net
Zero scenarios, physical risk impact
should plateau. Under a 3°C scenario,
the frequency and severity of extreme
weather events will continue to
increase over the medium and long-
term. The risk to NSE infrastructure
and employees and corresponding
revenues over the long-term aligns

accordingly.

Geographic impact: Deloitte NL
operates as a company with a
relatively low investment in physical
assets. According to the notes in the
financial statements, sections 4.3 and
4.4, there is a clear differentiation
between assets owned by Deloitte and
those owned by others, which Deloitte
has the right to utilise. The value of
assets owned by Deloitte is € 57
million, primarily comprising office
furnishings and (portable) IT
equipment. The only Deloitte-owned
asset that might be susceptible to the
physical impacts of climate change is
our data centre located in Amsterdam.
However, as there are plans to
decommission this facility within the
2024/2025 timeframe, we do not
consider physical climate risks to be
significant for this asset. Similarly,
mobile data devices such as laptops
and mobile phones are not
considered to be at material risk from
climate change. Depreciation of office-
related assets is always in line with the
duration of the specific office rental
contracts, meaning that physical risks
are mitigated to a level that we do not

deem them to be material.

Deloitte is exploring a
range of mitigants to
respond to climate-
related physical risks,
for example through the
firm's agile and flexible
working approach. This
helps mitigate
productivity loss
resulting from acute
physical risk events
given many Deloitte
employees can carry out
a significant proportion
of their work remotely
atatime thatis
convenient to them.

While the flexibility in
working location and
pattern reduces the
impact of disruption
caused by acute
physical risks on
productivity and
corresponding
revenues, it does not
mitigate longer-term
chronic physical risks
(such as rising mean
temperatures)
impacting employees’
health, wellbeing and
ongoing productivity.
Further options are
being explored to
respond to such longer-
term risks.

As part of Deloitte's
World Climate strategy,
the firm plans to embed
climate-smart
considerations into
office operations and
real estate decisions. In
the longer term, as
severe weather event
impacts are better
understood, these will
be incorporated in real
estate strategies. Work
is under way to
understand the physical
risks to data centres,
particularly considering
the impacts on system-
wide regional
infrastructure. In
addition, the firm is
exploring plans to move
to the cloud to diversify
the potential impact of
extreme weather
events.
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Risk or
Opportunity

Description and
Potential Impact to
Deloitte NSE

Potential Impact under Climate
Scenarios and Time Horizons

Strategic Response
and Resilience

Transition: Market

Risk: Change in
revenue from
clients in sectors
that are highly
exposed to climate
change and/or that
are unable to
transition.

The firm recognises that
it will be impacted in
some way by the policy,
market and
technological changes
brought by a transition
towards a low-carbon
economy. The precise
nature and scale of the
impact for certain
sectors and companies
is currently unclear.
However, due to the size
of Deloitte’s client base,
it is inevitable that some
clients will be negatively
impacted, which could
have a knock-on effect
on Deloitte’s ability to
provide services to
those clients and,
therefore, generate
revenues.

Exposure to climate change is of a
different nature under each scenario
and will inevitably impact the services
Deloitte provides. Under a 3°C
scenario, companies will face ever-
increasing impacts from physical risks
in the medium to long term but less
so from transition risks. In the
Divergent Net Zero scenario,
companies are less likely to be
impacted in the short term as neither
physical nor transition risks are
prevalent but may experience growing
transition risks in the medium term
and acceleration of these in the long
term. Meanwhile, under the Orderly
Net Zero scenario, companies are
expected to face transition risks
concentrated in the short and
medium term but less so in the longer
term as they adapt.

Using the energy sector as an
example, and the demand for fossil
fuels in particular, the Net Zero
transition scenarios will likely see a
faster decline in fossil fuel use as a
total percentage of energy use,
compared with the 3°C scenario, but
on differing timelines.

A Divergent Net Zero transition may
see a steep decline in fossil fuel
dependency in the longer term, while
the Net Zero scenario will likely
experience a more gradual decline
due to a higher use of carbon removal
technologies. The 3°C scenario may
see a relatively high and growing share
of fossil fuels as a percentage of total
energy use across all time horizons.

Deloitte’s ability to work
across multiple sectors
and geographies, and
with numerous
organisations from
listed to entrepreneurs,
results in a diversified
business and acts as a
form of mitigation
against the risk. As a
result of this diversified
portfolio, the firm is well
equipped to identify,
adapt and pivot its client
portfolio in line with a
low-carbon economy.
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Risk or
Opportunity

Description and
Potential Impact to
Deloitte NSE

Potential Impact under Climate
Scenarios and Time Horizons

Strategic Response
and Resilience

Transition: Market

Opportunity:
Increased revenue
and growth by
offering new
climate-related
services, and
expanding existing
ones, to support
clients in their
response to
climate change
and contribute to
the economy-wide,
low-carbon
transition.

Deloitte benefits from
being a global business
with a breadth of skills,
resources and
experience developed
through its long-
standing relationships
with companies across
multiple industries.

The firm has an
opportunity to grow its
climate service offerings
and corresponding
revenues while
contributing to
economy-wide, low-
carbon transition across
its geographies, as well
as creating an impact
that matters for clients.

These services include,
but are not limited to,
climate adaptation (e.g.,
value chain resilience)
and net zero
transformation advice,
assessment of climate-
related risks and
opportunities, as well as
climate and
sustainability-related
reporting and assurance
services.

All three scenarios are anticipated to
provide opportunities to increase

revenues from climate and

sustainability services, but these may
vary in nature and timing of service

demanded.

Net Zero transition scenarios are
expected to result in a higher demand
from clients in most, if not all,
industries for transition services as
new climate policies are introduced.
The Orderly Net Zero is more likely to
impact in the short term, whilst
Divergent Net Zero is in the medium

to long term.

Under the 3°C scenario, increased
demand for adaptation and mitigation
services due to physical risk exposure
is more likely to arise in the medium to
long term due to the slower
introduction of regulations.

Deloitte is already
responding to this
demand. In 2022, the
firm announced a global
investment (including
NSE) of US$1 billion in
client-related services,
data-driven research
and other capabilities
focused on
sustainability and
climate change.

Deloitte has since
developed sustainable
technology capabilities
(e.g., RegHub,
GreenSpace Tech and
GreenlLight) to support
clients with specific ESG
reporting requirements
and business model
changes.

Deloitte will continue to
innovate and expand
these offerings to meet
the demand and
changes in
requirements to achieve
a low-carbon economy.

Deloitte will continue to
make a difference to its
clients, offering tailored
climate and
sustainability services
and supporting their
response to climate-
related issues and
regulatory changes.
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Risk or
Opportunity

Description and
Potential Impact to
Deloitte NSE

Potential Impact under Climate
Scenarios and Time Horizons

Strategic Response
and Resilience

Transition:
Reputation

Risk: Reduced
potential to attract
and retain talent
across the
business because
of a perceived
inadequate
response to
climate change.

Opportunity:
Increased ability to
attract and retain
talent by
implementing and
demonstrating a
robust climate
response.

People are at the heart
of Deloitte’s operations
and service offerings. In
the Deloitte Global 2023
Gen Z and Millennial
Survey, professionals
reported strong views
on the importance of
employers acting on
climate change, with
over half of Gen Zs
(55%) and millennials
(54%) saying they
research a brand's
environmental impact
and policies before
accepting a job.
Approximately half of
Deloitte's employees are
aged below 30 (Gen Z or
millennial), indicating
that its response to
climate change may
impact perceptions of
the firm's current and

attrition and retention
trends.

As a professional
services business, any
change in attrition or
retention of talent is
expected to have a
corresponding impact
on future operating
costs and revenues, as
well as on the firm's
ability to provide
services to its clients.

Under all three scenarios, the
awareness of climate issues and the
need to embrace action will influence
employment decisions and depending
on the firm’s performance and
credentials, could result in a risk or
opportunity. Within this, it is
reasonable to expect that a more
significant proportion of the
population will make choices driven by
an awareness of climate change and a
desire to contribute to the transition
through, for example, employment
choices in the short, medium and long

Similarly, this risk and opportunity
would only be expected to materialise
in the medium to longer term under
the Divergent Net Zero or 3°C
scenarios. Under a 3°C scenario,
employees (both current and future)
will expect action and hence show
greater interest in the firm’s climate
credentials in the long term, as the
future workforce, driving physical climate impact increases.

Deloitte is committed to
achieving the near-term
(2030) carbon reduction
goals defined in its
World Climate strategy.
These cover the firm’'s
operations and its value
chain, with
commitments to
decarbonise, also
helping clients to
reduce their own scope
3 footprint and support
the economy-wide low-
carbon transition. It
showcases the work it
does with clients and
partners to accelerate
the low-carbon
transition in its annual
reports.

Deloitte obtains
external limited
assurance over Scopes
1 and 2 and relevant
Scope 3 emissions to
ensure the reliability of
environmental and
greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions data. This
enables Deloitte to
monitor progress more
reliably against its
targets and make sure it
continues to act credibly
in response to climate
impacts across its
operations and value
chain.

The World Climate
strategy is also designed
to drive responsible
climate choices and
helps both current and
future employees to
understand how the
firm is acting against
climate change.
Initiatives such as
dedicated climate
learning modules for
new starters, a
sustainability learning
week, sector climate
and sustainability
workshops and tools
like Giki Zero (a
personal carbon
footprint calculator)
inform employees
worldwide about the
impacts of climate
change and empower
them to make more
sustainable choices at
home and at work.
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Risk or Description and Potential Impact under Climate Strategic Response

Opportunity Potential Impact to Scenarios and Time Horizons and Resilience
Deloitte NSE

Transition: As a leading Under the Net Zero scenarios this risk  Deloitte is committed to

Reputation professional services increases from the short-term achieving the near-term

(2030) carbon reduction
goals defined in its
World Climate strategy.
These cover the firm's
operations and its value
chain, with

organisation, Deloitte onwards. This is as a result of
Risk: Damage to NSE is highly dependent increased policy requirements and
reputation and onits brand and public  increased client action or expectation.
client relationships perception. These Deloitte will need to match or exceed
by failing to act contribute to the firm's  this pace of change to avoid losing
credibly to manage ability to continue to act contracts and revenues. Under the

the climate in the public interest, as  3°C scenario, the risk will only increase commitments to
impacts of well as build new, and in the longer term as the expectations decarbonise, also
Deloitte’s strengthen existing, to transition in response to climate helping clients to
operations and client and stakeholder  change will be lower. reduce their own scope
value chain. relationships. If Deloitte 3 footprint and support

is perceived to have
inadequately addressed
climate change within its
own operations and
value chain, there is a
risk that the public will
lose confidence in the
services Deloitte
provides, and clients
may choose to limit, or
not engage in, business
with the firm. Any
damage to reputation
and client relationships
is expected to affect the
firm’s revenues and
business growth.

Furthermore, an
increasing number of
Deloitte clients now set
minimum standards for
climate-related pledges/
progress as a basic
requirement before
engaging any suppliers.
For example, some
clients may only work

the economy-wide low-
carbon transition. It
showcases the work it
does with clients and
partners to accelerate
the low-carbon
transition in its annual
reports.

Deloitte obtains
external limited
assurance over Scopes
1 and 2 and relevant
Scope 3 emissions (see
the Targets and KPIs
section below) to
ensure the reliability of
environmental and
greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions data. This
enables Deloitte to
monitor progress more
reliably against its
targets and make sure it
continues to act credibly
in response to climate
impacts across its
operations and value

with suppliers who have chain.
set Net Zero targets.
These requirements will The WorldClimate

likely become more
stringent over time, and
a failure by Deloitte to
keep pace and
demonstrate suitable
credentials could again
resultin a loss of
contracts and revenues

strategy is also designed
to drive responsible
climate choices and
helps both current and
future employees to
understand how the
firm is acting against
climate change.
Initiatives such as
dedicated climate
learning modules for
new starters, a
sustainability learning
week, sector climate
and sustainability
workshops and tools
like Giki Zero (a
personal carbon
footprint calculator)
inform employees
worldwide about the
impacts of climate
change and empower
them to make more
sustainable choices at
home and at work.
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Risk or
Opportunity

Description and
Potential Impact to
Deloitte NSE

Potential Impact under Climate
Scenarios and Time Horizons

Strategic Response
and Resilience

Transition:
Reputation

Risk: Reputational
damage from
providing services
to (and therefore
being associated
with) clients
perceived as
having an
inadequate
response to
climate change
and inadequate
climate
credentials.

Deloitte’s brand and
reputation is driven in
part by the clients it
serves. As such,
providing services to (or
being associated with)
companies or sectors
that are perceived as
having unfavourable
climate credentials or
that are not willing to
respond to climate, have
not articulated a
credible transition plan
or are not transparent
about their actions to
address climate change
could damage Deloitte's
reputation.

As a global organisation,
reputational damage
from providing services
to clients across any of
Deloitte’s business
offerings or National
Practices could impact
growth and revenue
associated with future
client services.

Climate-related litigation is expected
to rise under all three scenarios, but
the phasing of the increase will vary.
This risk is expected to materialise
fastest in the short term under the
Orderly Net Zero scenario as stricter
climate and greenwashing regulations
would be introduced sooner. Climate-
related litigation claims are still
expected to increase for the Divergent
Net Zero and 3°C scenarios, but over
the medium and long terms in
response to more delayed regulatory

transition scenarios.

To mitigate potential
impact on its reputation,
the firm is diligent in
deciding which clients it
works with and the work
it does for them. For
example, its client and
engagement
acceptance procedures
enable Deloitte to
assess, and be resilient
to, potential
reputational damage,
with escalation to
National Practice or NSE
Public Interest and
Consistency Groups in
particularly challenging
cases. Such groups
consist of firm partners
who meet regularly to
review and challenge
client opportunities with
a public interest
element.

Discussions include the
type of clients involved
and the nature of the
service and are
designed to reduce
reputational damage to
the firm.
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Risk or Description and Potential Impact under Climate Strategic Response

Opportunity Potential Impact to Scenarios and Time Horizons and Resilience
Deloitte NSE
Transition: Policy & The desire of Climate-related litigation is expected ~ Deloitte ensures a
Legal organisations to to rise under all three scenarios, but  robust, proactive and
consider climate-related the phasing of the increase will vary. effective approach to
Risk: Increased impacts and respond to  This risk is expected to materialise quality management
costs and related legislation has ~ fastest in the short term under the throughout each of its
reputational increased, and is likely ~ Orderly Net Zero scenario as stricter  services (e.g., Deloitte’s
damage arising to continue increasing,  climate and greenwashing regulations  Audit & Assurance
because of climate the demand for would be introduced sooner. Climate-  practice complies with
litigation (and/or  Deloitte’s services. This  related litigation claims are still the International
accusations of could result in Deloitte  expected to increase for the Divergent Standard on Quality
greenwashing) facing a corresponding  Net Zero and 3°C scenarios, but over ~ Management (“ISQM")
including from increase in the the medium and long terms in 1). The firm also
inadequate frequency and severity  response to more delayed regulatory  provides its
provision of of climate-related transition scenarios. practitioners with
climate-related litigation, and/or mandatory training to
services. accusations of understand the policies,
greenwashing if the firm practices, and standards
fails to deliver on quality. they must follow while
Such an increase in the performing work both
frequency and severity internally and for
of climate-related clients. Similarly, the
litigation claims could firm conducts internal
impact future costs reviews of climate-
incurred by Deloitte and related engagements to
lead to reputational ensure high quality and
damage. reduce the risk of

reputational damage to
Deloitte due to climate-
related matters.

Quality is at the
forefront of all Deloitte's
services and although
climate litigation and/or
accusations of
greenwashing are risks
inherent to its business,
its quality processes
manage and
significantly mitigate this
risk.

Considerations and conclusions from Deloitte Netherlands

Deloitte NL operates as a company with a relatively low investment in physical assets. According to the notes in the
financial statements, sections 4.3 and 4.4, there is a clear differentiation between assets owned by Deloitte and
those owned by others, which Deloitte has the right to utilise. The value of assets owned by Deloitte is € 57 million,
primarily comprising office furnishings and (portable) IT equipment. The only Deloitte-owned asset that might be
susceptible to the physical impacts of climate change is our data centre located in Amsterdam. However, as there
are plans to decommission this facility within the 2024/2025 timeframe, we do not consider physical climate risks
to be significant for this asset. Similarly, mobile data devices such as laptops and mobile phones are not
considered to be at material risk from climate change. Depreciation of office-related assets is always in line with the
duration of the specific office rental contracts, meaning that physical risks are mitigated to a level that we do not
deem them to be material.

Assets owned by others mainly consist of rented office buildings and leased vehicles. Transition risks for vehicles
are mitigated by our fleet's progressive transition to electric vehicles. An uncertainty in this area is the installed
capacity of the national grid in the Netherlands: in certain areas of the country there is already an overload of the
electricity infrastructure. We do not perceive to have any material physical climate risks to our leased vehicles,
partly because the maximum lease duration is set at five years. Regarding office spaces, we engage in temporary
lease agreements, which afford a level of adaptability in our portfolio of offices should there be shifts in business
conditions prompted by climate change. As a result of our approach, we do not regard transition or physical
climate risks to assets owned by third parties as material.
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As we don't have many own assets and have flexibility in our leased ones, none of our assets are at material
transition risk. An exception may be our fossil fuel powered lease cars which are already planned to be completely
phased out in 2025/2026. None of our assets are at material physical risk as a result of the climate change
adaptation actions that we defined in the context of our World Climate programme (see pages 146-147).

In terms of revenue, we do not believe our revenue to be at risk due to physical climate risks in the short or
medium term as our business is volatile and climate opportunities exceed climate risks. For the longer term,
together with our NSE partners, we will further investigate what our clients’ exposure is to physical climate risks
and we will assess what the potential impact is on their business continuity.

11 SUSTAINABLE CITIES ‘l 2 RESPONSIBLE ‘I CLIMATE
AND COMMUNITIES CONSUMPTION ACTION
AND PRODUCTION

Je | co

Governance

We have set up a robust governance structure to manage our GHG emissions along with other sustainability
matters. We have a dedicated Internal Sustainability Team in place that reports to the Executive Board, and have
created a Sustainable Operations Team that consists of various topic owners (housing, fleet, travel, IT, procurement,
talent and communications) to design and implement policies. Our businesses are connected through a Climate
Champions Network, a group of passionate sustainability adepts from across our businesses. We have also
assigned senior leaders from each business to form a group of Sustainability Operational Excellence Leads. This
group is responsible for embedding sustainable practices in the daily operations of their businesses.

On an international level, we are part of the Deloitte NSE WorldClimate structure and thus take part in collaborative
efforts to move our strategy to reduce our CO, emissions forward and report in to the NSE Chief Sustainability
Officer on progress and performance. We are also part of the Deloitte Global network that provides up with
extensive guidelines on our material topics and through which we account for our progress and metrics.

Policies

Overall

Deloitte feels responsible to do what is necessary to halt climate change. To reduce the negative impact from our
business on global warming, DTTL has adopted the World Cl/imate strategy. World Climate drives responsible
climate choices within our organisation and beyond. We are committed to transforming our business to reach net
zero, and using our skills and influence to inspire change by others.

This ambition is to be achieved by reducing where we can, and compensating in a meaningful way where we must,
and is supported by a number of near-term science-based targets to be achieved by 2030 that have been verified

by Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) as being aligned with the 1.5° C path set out in the Paris Agreement:

Reducing our business travel emissions (flights and international rail) by 50% per FTE from 2019 levels
(realisation 2023/2024: 61.7% reduction/FTE);

+ Sourcing 100% renewable energy for our buildings (realisation 2023/2024: 88.7% for buildings where we are
responsible for energy purchasing, 86.7% for buildings where we are not);

Converting 100% of our fleet to electric vehicles (realisation 2023/2024: 60.3% fully electric);

Engaging with our major suppliers with the goal of having two-thirds of them adopt science-based targets for
carbon reduction within five years;

Investing in meaningful market solutions for emissions we cannot eliminate.
Other elements of World Climate are:

Embed sustainability: We align our climate policies, practices, and actions across our organisation with our
sustainability ambitions.

146


https://www2.deloitte.com/id/en/pages/about-deloitte/articles/world-climate.html

Empower individuals: We will empower our people to be better informed about professional and personal
climate change impacts.

Engage ecosystems: We will collaborate with clients, alliance partners, NGOs, industry groups, suppliers, and
others to accelerate the sustainability transition.

We have also committed to set long-term emissions reduction targets using the SBTi's Net Zero Standard.

As Deloitte NL, we have fully embraced the World Climate programme and have committed to reach our
operational reduction targets (housing, mobility and travel) by 2025, five years ahead of the DTTL target. For other
indirect emissions we follow the timeline defined by DTTL.

Mobility

Our mobility policy offers our employees the choice between Mobility+, a leased car (including the option to travel
to work by public transport), a cash option or unlimited public transport through the Shuttel card. Through our
Mobility Policy, we are phasing out the use of fossil fuel powered vehicles and transitioning to fully electric or
hydrogen powered cars in our lease fleet. Until April 2024, we did so by:

1. Lowering the own contribution for private use of the electric car by 50%;
2. Determining that all contracts for fossil fuel cars, including hybrid ones, shall not extend beyond 2025 making
it increasingly expensive to lease non-electric vehicles.

Since May 1, 2024, it is no longer possible to order a new leased car that is not fully electric.

The scope of our policy is our own organisation and therefore it applies to all partners and employees. For some
employees or apprentices, another scheme (the Mobility Scheme) applies. Within this mobility arrangement,
employees are encouraged to use public transport or shared mobility options. They can also apply for an allowance
per travelled kilometre with their own means of transportation. With our mobility policies, we aim to mitigate
climate change by making our people choose more sustainable ways of transport.

We implemented a new mobility card and application (Shuttel). This card and app help our people to easily manage
their mobility needs in a sustainable way. The Shuttel app provides the option to view all available transport options
for a specific route, provides access to all public transport, including shared mobility options, and facilitates the
comparison of CO, emissions of all the alternatives proovided by the app. In line with government's climate
agreement goals for 2030, this allows all employees to keep track of their business travel movements and
expenses, and help us take measurable and decisive actions towards reducing our carbon emissions in line with
our World Climate ambition and the Paris Agreement.

Business travel

Our business travel policy outlines the conditions that we have set for international travel. We encourage our
people to travel for business only when necessary, for example by switching to virtual and or hybrid meetings or
staff locally where we can. We expect that at least half of non-client meetings that were face-to-face in 2018/2019,
to be conducted virtually. When a trip is necessary, the aim is to travel in a way that prevents unnecessary

CO, emissions and costs. In line with our reduction ambitions, we prefer rail over flying for short international
travel where practical. We have defined additional guidance concerning travel classes on international flights,
encouraging employees and Partners who travel on intercontinental flights to choose Economy or Economy
Premium class. For air travel under six hours only Economy class is allowed. With our business travel policy, we aim
to mitigate climate change by reducing the amount of emissions from flights we take and the hotels we stay in.

Housing

Deloitte strives to utilise office spaces in energy-efficient buildings, such as our Amsterdam office, The Edge', which
holds a BREEAM Outstanding certification, and our Rotterdam office in 'Maastoren'. We prioritise renting buildings
that already support sustainable practices and collaborate with landlords to source renewable energy wherever
possible. Where we buy energy ourselves, Deloitte is actively engaged with Groendus, an energy marketplace that
matches supply and demand for sustainable energy sources. In instances where direct green energy procurement
is not yet the standard practice, we leverage our position as tenant to encourage landlords to switch to sustainable
energy sources. Meanwhile, to offset our emissions resulting from our energy consumption, we purchase
Renewable Energy Certificates. This practice extends to the electricity used for powering our electric vehicle fleet.
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Furthermore, we are committed to continually enhancing our building operations and energy efficiency by
implementing the 'Better Buildings Toolkit' developed by DTTL. Our overarching goal with these initiatives,
encapsulated in our Housing Policy, is to substantially reduce emissions from the energy used in heating and
cooling our offices across the Netherlands. This policy is a crucial component of our broader strategy to combat
climate change and applies specifically to our operations within the country.

Monitoring

In order to track our CO, emissions to determine the effectiveness of our actions and policies, we operate a

CO, Emissions Dashboard for fleet and air travel. This dashboard is updated every quarter with the latest data we
receive from our suppliers. It is accessible to all our employees not only in order to provide transparency but also
to stimulate our employees to change their own behaviour and choices. We have also developed a Carbon
Forecasting Tool to forecast the effects of our policies on our CO, emissions in the medium to long term. This tool
is integrated with other planning tools of our organisation.

Through our monitoring, we aim to mitigate climate change by ensuring we have the right insights to purposefully
steer our behaviour and, consequently, further reduce our emissions.

(Beyond) Value Chain Mitigation

Deloitte NSE has compensated the CO, emissions from 2022/2023 for all NSE geographies by investing in a
number of certified carbon avoidance and renewable energy projects from third parties. In addition, Renewable
Energy Certificates were acquired to ‘green’ all our non-renewable electricity consumption, including those to
charge our electric fleet. Once total CO, emissions for Deloitte NSE in 2023/2024 have been verified, NSE will buy
credits to compensate the majority of these. In addition, Deloitte NSE has started to participate in Beyond Value
Chain Mitigation (BVCM) projects from around the NSE geographies, including in our own nature-based carbon
storage project in the Dutch Caribbean, where we have piloted carbon sequestration by replanting mangroves (see
paragraph 5.1 of this annex for more detail). BVCM is defined by SBTi as “mitigation action or investments that fall
outside a company’s value chain, including activities that avoid or reduce GHG emissions, or remove and store
GHGs from the atmosphere”. The compensation and BVCM investments by NSE have no impact on the reported
emissions from Deloitte.

Empower individuals

To promote the sustainable delivery of our services, we have the Sustainable Delivery Framework (SDF) in place.
The SDF is a set of tools that provide guidance and empowers our teams to adopt sustainable ways of working and
reduce our travel emissions. This framework contains background information on climate change to help our
people to start and conduct meaningful conversations with our clients, as well as a number of concrete tools to
deliver their work in a sustainable way. It enables our people to educate themselves on climate change and guides
them to drive the sustainability agenda at work and in their personal lives. Examples of tools in the SDF are the
carbon calculator, which predicts engagement related carbon emissions so these can be discussed with the client,
and the sustainable events guide, a tool that contains practical advice on how to organise sustainable client events.

As part of our ‘Empower Individuals' strategy, we run GiKi Zero, a tool that enables our people to calculate, track
and reduce their own personal carbon footprint, offering advice and examples of actions they can take to live more
sustainably. Both the Sustainable Delivery Framework and GiKi Zero are facilitated by our Climate Champions
Network.

Certification
Since April 2023, we have held a Level 3 certification under the CO2 Performance Ladder certification scheme. We
have published the certificate and the supporting documentation on our public website .

We also maintain an EcoVadis company profile. Through this scorecard, we provide transparency about our
management system to addresses sustainability criteria, as outlined in the EcoVadis methodology. Our scorecard is
available to trading partners on request.

Activities in 2023/2024

Governance

In our previous annual report, we stated that we aimed to further integrate internal sustainability in the activities of
the SGO Sustainability, capturing the learnings from our own journey to improve our client sustainability services.
We have done so by bringing our Deloitte NL Internal Sustainability Team and the SGO Sustainability closer
together by appointing a shared reporting line, creating shared overview.
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We are working on setting and validating our long-term Science Based Target to reach Net Zero at a Deloitte NSE
level and will be looking to start implementing our targets set within once validated.

Mobility

We updated our Mobility policy as of June 1, 2023 (see above under ‘Policies’). In addition, we have continued the
transformation of our fleet by phasing out fossil fuel powered vehicles, replacing them with fully electric or
hydrogen powered cars. For standard fossil fuel leased cars however, the end date of the contract of use was set at
December 31, 2025 at the latest, making it increasingly expensive for the employee to lease such a car. This
approach has resulted in very few people still opting for new fossil fuel powered cars in 2023/2024.

Business Travel

We have continued to operate our Travel Policy with the aim of reducing our business travel emissions by 50% per
FTE from 2019 levels. During 2023/2024, as a result of our continued focus on reducing international travel, related
CO, emissions per FTE further decreased.

Furthermore, we have been working on enhancing our video conferencing facilities in our offices, as well as for
people working from home, resulting in better virtual working experiences and allowing us to still engage in
meaningful ways, but reducing the need to travel locally or internationally.

Housing

We extended a long-term lease for our Amsterdam The Edge office. The Edge is renowned worldwide for its
ground-breaking sustainable design and smart technologies, which not only minimise our ecological footprint, but
are also aimed to create a dynamic and healthy workspace for everyone at Deloitte. In the course of the extension,
landlord Deka Immobilien and Deloitte have agreed on additional improvements to take sustainable building
management to the next level and thus meet the highest future requirements, the BREEAM In Use Excellent
standard, and Paris Proof. This renewal is a powerful affirmation of our collective dedication to sustainability and
innovation.

Embed sustainability

Sustainability initiatives in IT

We have implemented several sustainability initiatives in IT that help us reducing our carbon footprint. We are
implementing sustainable IT practices within procurement and vendor management practices. In addition, we use
rechargeable accessories and USB-C adapters for iPhones made of recycled plastic. When employees leave, or
hardware is retired, devices are centrally collected for reuse or recycling. We have been working towards full
circularity for all hardware assets. The iPhones we use are renewed, our laptops and MFD fleet (printer and
scanner devices) are EPEAT Gold certified. For data storage, we have reduced our carbon footprint by migrating
solutions from our own on-premise data centres, to highly energy efficient data centres run by cloud service
providers.

Sustainable renovation of our office facilities

Within The Edge we are expanding our workspace. This expansion will provide more than 400 desks and over 20
meeting rooms. The current floors will be optimised as former archiving spaces and printer rooms will be freed up,
providing space for additional single focus, project, meditation and relaxation rooms. In addition, approximately 15
new meeting rooms will be realised on these floors. As part of this expansion, we calculated the carbon footprint of
the office design and investigated how we can minimise our footprint by using more sustainable materials and
products. We also applied this approach for the fit-out of our The Hague office in March 2023 and are embedding
the learnings from that experience into our approach for The Edge.

Replacing computer monitors

In 2023, 1,369 monitors were replaced with new ones. The uninstalled monitors were sold to a third party buyer
that cleaned and reused the old monitors. The reuse of these IT products implied savings on product carbon
footprint of new products that, as calculated by the buyer, amount to 702 tonnes of CO,.

Certification

We have renewed our certification under the CO, Performance Ladder certification scheme. The certificate and the
supporting documentation is disclosed on our public website . Furthermore, we have renewed our EcoVadis
assessment.

Empower individuals
We are empowering our people to be better informed about professional and personal climate change impacts
through a number of activities that we highlight below.

149


https://www2.deloitte.com/nl/nl/pages/over-deloitte/articles/sustainability-impact-deloitte-netherlands.html

Education and activation

We continued our engagement with the Climate Champions network to help create awareness of

World Climate across Deloitte. This network was established in 2022 and is a platform for climate enthusiasts
sharing experiences amongst likeminded people, providing ideas to leadership and helping spread information
about sustainability at Deloitte. They do so, for example, by promoting the Sustainability Delivery Framework and
GiKi tooling in their respective business areas. Despite our efforts, adoption of both SDF and GiKi throughout our
firm can and should be further improved. The Climate Champions gather in person on a quarterly basis and are
connected on an ongoing basis through online channels.

Furthermore, our people can connect internally and externally with sustainability related interest groups to expand
their networks, learn about sustainability and how to integrate this in their personal and work life. Examples are the
Growing Green Leaders and the Net Positive Network. Additionally, we have various online tools and learnings
available to educate all our people on sustainability, including a learning catalogue, an internal website in which our
people can find support towards sustainable leadership and how to deliver our work in a more sustainable way,
the Sustainable Delivery Framework and GiKi Zero.

In close collaboration with the Rijksuniversiteit Groningen (RUG), we developed and offer a 2,5-day learning
programme to equip our Partners and Directors with a sufficient level of sustainability knowledge to engage with
clients on their sustainability journey. Last year, we conducted the third and fourth editions of this programme,
training about 50 people. For the first time, we also invited clients to join the training sessions. We also held
extensive CSRD trainings for senior consultants to senior managers and for partners and directors. More junior
colleagues can participate in the NSE Sustainability Bootcamp, Springtij, the sustainability walking tours, the
sustainability café, and the Sustainability Learning Platform or other opportunities for live learnings.

16 -20 October Global Sustainability learning week

In October 2023, DTTL hosted Sustainability learning week. In The Netherlands, we participated in this initiative by
sharing the content, learning journeys and webinars. In addition we organised a screening of the documentary
‘Beyond Zero' in cinema Pathe Tuschinski. 115 colleagues joined the screening, followed by sessions from
leadership. The event marked the kick-off of sustainability learning week.

November Sustainability Month

In November 2024, we put the spotlight on sustainability within Deloitte Netherlands. We ran an internal campaign
focusing on our sustainability activities involving both our internal sustainability efforts, sustainability client projects
and sustainability collaborations with the Deloitte Impact Foundation. Throughout the month, we have posted
client stories, employee stories, NSE World Climate updates, a Giki challenge and a message from our sustainability
lead. We used our internal communication channels to reach our colleagues. In addition, we organised an
exhibition about our Curacao-based Mangrove reforestation project. The exhibition was shown in our offices in
Amsterdam, Rotterdam and Utrecht.

November - January: No more disposable cups

From November 2023 to January 2024, we executed an awareness campaign to phase out our disposable paper
cups. The campaign’s goal was to make our colleagues aware of the changes that were coming up and to motivate
them to start bringing their own cup. In addition, in December we restricted access to paper cups to start making
our colleagues familiar with the changes starting from January 1, 2024, the date that we removed all paper cups
from our offices.

April Earth Month

In April 2024, we celebrated Earth Month at Deloitte. During this month, we ran a thorough campaign to
emphasise how we are driving sustainability transformation within our organisation and beyond and teach our
people how they can play a role in making lasting changes for a sustainable world. Activities included the NSE
Sustainability Townhall and the Giki Earth Month Challenge. We published articles about our IT related
sustainability initiatives, as well as an interview with Oscar Snijders, our Sustainability SGO.

GSC DIF day

Also in April 2024, we organised a Deloitte Impact Foundation (DIF) day for our Group Support Center (GSC)
colleagues. For this Impact Day, we directed our attention towards our own internal sustainability challenges,
objectives and targets. The main purpose of this day was to educate and engage as many GSC colleagues as
possible on how their roles intersect with our environmental objectives, and how they can contribute to the bigger
picture. Our GSC colleagues contributed to some of our objectives during workshops and activities, including
further promoting the Sustainable Delivery Framework and Giki Zero and creating appealing communication
outings on how colleagues can contribute to a more sustainable world.
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Engage ecosystems
We are collaborating with clients, alliance partners, NGOs, industry groups, suppliers, and others to accelerate the
sustainability transition.

Sustainability SGO

One of the biggest sustainability impacts we can have as an organisation is through the work we do with our
clients. We have developed a sustainability SGO (previously MDM), which promotes an integrated approach to
sustainability and a sustainable leadership mindset with regards to the delivery of our work with clients. We believe
that the footprint of the work we do for clients in support of their transition to a more sustainable world, has
increased exponentially this year.

Systemic challenges
With our clients, and through coalitions of the willing, we want to tackle and accelerate five of the most complex
systemic challenges the world is facing today.

1. Accelerating the energy transition

The energy transition is one of the most significant transformations the Netherlands has seen in this generation.
We are working to setting the transformation agenda and providing end-to-end support in helping clients defining
and achieving their path to net-zero. Hydrogen is projected to play a key role in the future of energy. In The
Netherlands, we have a global centre of excellence for hydrogen. This provides us with a key position in the energy
transition globally.

2. Developing a sustainable food system

At Deloitte, we want to change how we grow, produce and consume food in the future. Our purpose is to drive the
transformation of the entire food ecosystem by future proofing our clients and supporting them to align shifting
nutritional needs within planetary boundaries. As part of this we are focusing on nature positive food systems,
resilient & digital food supply chains, future of food production and zero food waste. We have set-up the Net
Positive Network, a community of CEOs, business leaders, startups, opinion makers, experts and producers, all
dedicated to revolutionising our food system and making a real difference by taking action on regenerative
agriculture, food waste reduction and protein shift. This year, the Network hosted Net Positive Dinners, organised
the second round of the Spring Parade (summit with 350+ young talent from the food ecosystem) and continued
to operate the Young Academy (immersive learning program to become a net positive leader), to name a few
activities.

3. Building a circular world

We are working to embed circularity into all industries and building sustainable and resilient supply chains. As part
of our activities, we are partnering with Circle Economy Consulting, an impact consulting firm with whom we seek
to drive systemic change by investigating tangible solutions and opportunities for collaboration between the
private and public sectors to help analyse, shape and deliver circular solutions that deliver commercial, sustainable
and societal value. For the second consecutive year we have collaborated with Circle Economy Foundation to
create the Circularity Gap Report, which has provided crucial analysis and theory on the global state of circularity
since 2019.

4. Nature positive business and society

Governments, clients, and competitors are taking significant actions to halt and reverse nature loss. Deloitte is
committed to create a nature positive business and society throughout our own operation and business model
and by collaborating with stakeholders and NGOs to increase awareness and knowledge on nature.

As part of our activities, we collaborated with WWF-NL and Rabobank on building knowledge and sharing
experiences on nature-related disclosures using the Taskforce on Nature-related Financial Disclosures (TNFD)
Framework. We have achieved this by bringing together industry stakeholders during three events in 2023 and
continuing in 2024 with a TNFD Working Group. The TNFD working Group includes both financial service industry
and corporates. Additionally, as part of our cooperation with WWF-NL, we are working on a follow-up of the "Nature
is Next" research that was published in 2022. This study addresses how companies are currently integrating nature
and biodiversity into their business operations. Based on the findings we will develop guidance and
recommendation with practical examples, challenges, opportunities and solutions. Furthermore, we are supporting
the Science Based Targets Network (SBTN) and the Accountability Accelerator with a data architecture and
technology platform for validating the first science-based targets for nature, so that companies can
comprehensively address their environmental impacts, first on land use and freshwater, later followed by impacts
on oceans.
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We have also launched a Private-Public sector Partnership (PPP) to assess biodiversity-related risks and
opportunities for the financial sector. Wageningen University and Research (WUR) researchers led by Wageningen
Economic Research and the Foundation for Sustainable Development (FSD) together with six private partners from
the financial sector and Deloitte as lead private partner, will develop a state-of-the-art methodology for biodiversity
impact assessments. The 'Biodiversity Related Risks and Opportunities to the Financial Sector' project is a
groundbreaking initiative addressing a critical gap in biodiversity financing. Now, more than ever, the financial
sector needs robust tools to understand and mitigate the impacts of biodiversity loss. This PPP's unique approach
aligns science-based future biodiversity and financial scenarios, utilising advanced economic modelling techniques
to provide comprehensive monetary estimates of biodiversity effects on the economy at the country and sector
levels.

See Chapter 5.1 Nature and biodiversity for more information on our nature approach.

5. Achieving Climate Equity and a Just Transition

The transition to a net-zero economy does not impact all communities equally, and a just transition requires
fairness, equity, and inclusion to be placed at the forefront of climate action. We help our clients evaluate the
uneven impact of the transition, manage systemic risk, and harness opportunities to deliver value to their
stakeholders.

Sustainability partner groups
Deloitte is a member of:

Green Business Club
UNGC, Board of Directors, and Peer Learning Groups for Climate, Human Rights and Diversity.
MVO Nederland

Other systemic transformation networks

For the second time this year, Deloitte co-hosted the Growing Green Leaders event with three other
companies. About 50 young professionals from each of the articipating companies attended the event, with the
aim to better understand the challenges and dilemmas that businesses face in the context of the climate and
sustainability crisis, and how they can contribute to change.

Suppliers

We are engaging with our major suppliers with the goal of having two-thirds of them adopt science-based targets
for carbon reduction within five years. We are off-track for our target to reach 67% by 2025, and were on 20% in
2022/2023. We believe that the large number of suppliers to reach, their varied strategies towards carbon
reduction, as well as the lengthy timeline needed to set and verify SBTs are contributing factors to our result. To
regain momentum, we have increased our efforts to engage with our suppliers on this topic and are rolling out a
renewed work programme to reach our target. We are actively approaching all our largest suppliers and are
offering webinars "Setting SBT information for Deloitte suppliers" to educate suppliers on our expectations and the
SBTi journey. We have also initiated the NSE Procurement Roundtable, which is a Deloitte NSE-wide platform on
the establishment of shared sustainable procurement policies and tools going forward.
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Results

We made the following considerations when determining which Scope 3 emissions are relevant to Deloitte:

Description Consideration Conclusion

Purchased goods and services Is material on the basis of our spend Included

Optional sub-category: Cloud computing and Is part of Purchased goods and services Excluded

data centre services

Optional sub-category: Capital goods Deloitte is asset-light hence emissions are limited Excluded

Fuel and energy-related activities Not applicable to Deloitte Excluded

Upstream leased assets We rent our offices and are not in control in most of  Included
them for heat and power

Waste generated in operations Waste generated is very low and therefore not Excluded
deemed material

Processing of sold products We do not process sold products Excluded

Use of sold products We sell services and not products so not applicable  Excluded

End-of-life treatment of sold products We sell services and not products so not applicable  Excluded

Downstream leased assets We have no downstream leased assets Excluded

Franchises We have no franchises Excluded

Upstream transportation and distribution As we do not process or sell products, there is no Excluded
upstrean transportation and distribution

Downstream transportation and distribution  As we do not process or sell products, there is no Excluded
downstream transportation and distribution

Business travel Business travel is a significant part of our GHG Included
emissions

Employee commuting With over 8,000 employees, employee commuting Included
has the potential of being a significant source of GHG
emissions

Financial investments We do not have financial investments Excluded

Table 07: Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions per scope

Retrospective

Base
year**

2023/2024 2022/2023 2018/2019

A previous year

(%)
Scope 1 GHG emissions
Gross Scope 1 GHG emissions (tCO2eq) 6,668 9,042 15,046 -26.3%
% of Scope 1 GHG emissions from regulated emission 0 0 0 0.0%
trading schemes (%)
Scope 2 GHG emissions
Gross location-based Scope 2 GHG emissions 3,900 4174 4,921 -6.6%
(tCO2eq)
Gross market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions (tCO2eq) 3,113 3,346 3,524 -7.0%
Significant scope 3 GHG emissions
Purchased goods and services 5,547 33,318 17,244 -83.4%
Upstream leased assets 318 1,279 N/A -75.1%
Business travel 7,293 5,832 11,889 25.1%
Employee commuting 108 N/A N/A N/A
Working from home N/A N/A N/A N/A
Total scope 3 GHG emissions 13,266 40,429 29,133 -67.2%
Total GHG emissions (location-based) (tCO2eq) 23,833 53,645 49,100 -55.6%
Total GHG emissions (market-based) (tCO2eq) 23,046 52,817 47,703 -56.4%

* We have selected 2028/2019 as our base year as this is the last year that was unaffected by the restrictions
during the COVID pandemic and was therefore selected by DTTL as the baseyear for the World Climate strategy. We

believe that 2018/2019 still is a valid year to measure progress against.
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There is a considerable decrease in our reported Scope 3 Purchased Goods & Services emissions. These emissions
are calculated by DTTL and NSE and will become final at a later date. The emissions figure we have included is
based on preliminary data supplied by the DTTL team. In 2023/2024, significant data quality improvements took
place, allowing for better determination of actual cost incurred for PG&S. Notably, Deloitte has transitioned to an
activity-based emissions calculation methodology for contingent labour, focusing on the carbon-generating
activities of contractors, such as business travel, commuting, and working from home, instead of using spend
(which is also included the hourly rate charged for services delivered) as a proxy. For more detail, see the Basis of
Reporting.

Table 08: Greenhouse gas intensity*

2023/2024 2022/2023 2018/2019 A FY24 vs FY23*

GHG intensity per net revenue

Total GHG emissions (location-based) per net revenue 0.017 0.039 0.051 -56.4%
(tCO2eq/1,000 euro)
Total GHG emissions (market-based) per net revenue 0.017 0.039 0.049 -56.4%

(tCO2eq/1,000 euro)

* Greenhouse gas intensity is calculated using 'Revenue' as included in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended May 31, 2024' in Annex 1 of this report.

Table 09: Housing

2023/2024 2022/2023
Scope 1 thermal energy consumption 1,364 G 1,674 G
Scope 2 energy consumption 2,703,388 kwh 2,790,557 kwh
- renewable sources 2,398,693 kWh 2,457,724 kWh
- non-renewable sources or unknown 304,695 kWh 332,833 kWh
Scope 3 energy consumption 9,543,519 kWh 9,668,080 kwh
- renewable sources 8,280,943 kwWh 5,422,284 kWh
- non-renewable sources or unknown 1,262,576 kWh 4,245,795 kWh
Specific electricity consumption 115.34 kWh/m2 110.0 kWh/m2
Specific thermal energy consumption 0.23 GJ/m2 0.242 GJ/m2

* We have restated our Housing data for 2022/2023 as a result of the introduction of an improved and more
accurate methodology. The numbers reported in this table better reflect the energy consumed in our offices.
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Table 10: Mobility

2023/2024 2022/2023
Number of lease cars 3,781 3,409
- electric cars (incl. plug-in hybrids) 2,444 1,725
Total kilometres travelled by leased cars 105,475,890 122,656,112
Total emissions fossil fuels (Scope 1) 6,585 t 8,957 t
Total emissions electric cars (Scope 2) 3,086 t 3315 t
Total kilometres travelled by air 21,052,928 km 22,163,371 km
Total emissions air travel (Scope 3) 6,173 t 4,800 t
Total emissions air travel per FTE 793.6 g CO2/FTE 622.8 g CO2/FTE
Total hotel nights 36,313 35910
Total emissions hotels (Scope 3) 1,115 ¢t 1,002 t
Total kilometres international rail travel 909,368 km 8,736,978 km=*
Total emissions international rail travel (Scope 3) 5t 30 t*
Total kilometres employee commuting 13,443,132 km N/A km
Total emissions employee commuting (scope 3) 108 t N/A t
Total mobility related CO2 emissions 17,071 t 18,104 t
Total mobility CO2 emissions intensity 121.2 g CO2/km 117.9 g CO2/km

*The 2022/2023 figure includes national rail. In 2023/2024 national rail is included in Employee commuting.

Going forward

The firm recognises that there are currently no performance-related metrics for climate in place outside the
Executive Board . In addition, an internal carbon pricing framework has not been set. However, in close
cooperation with DTTL and NSE, the implementation of such policies and frameworks are being considered for
future reporting periods.

Mobility

As described above, by December 31, 2025, all lease contracts for fossil fuel leased cars will have ended and we will
meet our target of a 100% electric fleet. We do, however, note that the traceability of the power sources used for
our electric cars is limited. We will be working on increasing traceability for types of energy used for our electric
cars going forward with the goal of increasing the share of renewable energy in the electricity mix that powers our
fleet.

Business Travel

We will further evolve in our business travel monitoring activities, enhancing our reporting against target with
leadership in the coming reporting year. This will enable us to manage and steer our business travel related
emissions more accurately, ensuring that we will continue to stay within a 50% reduction compared to our base
year on the longer run. We also aim to facilitate monitoring of engagement related emissions.

Housing
We will end the lease in Eindhoven and move to a new non-gas office by the end of 2025.

IT strategy

We are looking into the potential IT related sustainability challenges for the future. One example is how Deloitte
plans to deal with Al on a sustainability level. Al uses a significant amount of data, making it energy-intensive to
host. We are investigating the impact of Al on total energy consumptions and how to mitigate a possible increase of
emissions in our supply chain.

Procurement:

We will work to enhance environmental and social outcomes through our procurement practices. We plan to adopt
and implement a responsible procurement policy to help us meet our business needs in a manner that delivers on
our World Climate objectives and actively contributes to tackling the broader environmental and social challenges
we collectively face.



2.2 Other environmental information

In this section, we disclose information about our generation and disposal of waste. We choose to do so because
there is a clear connection between carbon emissions reduction and the prevention and recycling of waste.
Although we do manage waste, we have not set targets for reduction or recycling yet as we do not deem our
impacts as a result of waste management to be material at present.

In terms of activities, we have implemented our reusable cup strategy in January 2024. This means that we no
longer use single paper cups in the Deloitte offices. This change is a positive step for the environment that aligns
with the Deloitte sustainability strategy, as well as the Single Used Plastic (SUP) legislation. People are bringing their
own reusable cups and for visitors we provide either porcelain/glass coffee cups, or the sustainable Huskee cup. To
date, we have saved about one million paper cups and prevented over 4,000 kg of waste.

We have also reduced the number of printers available in our offices by 35 devices (from 105 to 70), a reduction of
33% and we have rolled out the printing campaign "Think Green, Keep on the Screen." This campaign aims to
reduce our overall print volume, reminding our employees to print only when needed. This campaign has been
rolled out in our Dutch offices.

Table 11: Waste

2023/2024 2022/2023

Total waste generation 206 t 211 t

- waste offered for recycling 58 t 59 t

- waste offered for landfill 0t 0t

- waste offered for incineration 148 t 152 t

- hazardous waste 0t 0t

Waste recycling as % of total waste 28 % 28 %
Waste intensity per turnover 0.00015 t/€1,000 0.00016 t/€1,000

Deloitte.

TOP TIPS for sustainable printing

SIGNING A TRAVEL PLANS
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3. Social impacts

Introduction

This section covers the effects, risks, opportunities, governance, policies, actions, and results of Deloitte's identified
material social impacts (refer to page 132 for a summary of our material impacts). Unless otherwise indicated, the
information in paragraphs 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 pertains to all people in our own workforce.

With almost 8,200 people in Deloitte’s own workforce, managing our social impacts is not a simple task.

Table 12: Employee head count in 2023/2024

Other/Non-
Male Female disclosed Total
Deloitte Netherlands 4,614 3,496 N/A 8,110
Deloitte Dutch Caribbean 32 54 N/A 86
Total 4,646 3,550 N/A 8,196
Table 13a: Employees by contract type, broken down by gender (head count) in 2023/2024
Male Female Total
Permanent employees 4,165 3,032 7,197
Temporary employees 481 518 999
Non-guaranteed hours employees N/A N/A N/A
Table 13b: Part-time and full-time employees by region and gender (head count) in 2023/2024
Region Female Male Total
Netherlands 3,496 4,614 8,110
Full-time 2,624 4,086 6,710
Part-time 871 528 1,399
Dutch Caribbean 54 32 86
Full-time 42 32 74
Part-time 12 1 13
Total 3,549 4,646 8,195
Table 14: Employee turnover
2023/2024 2022/2023
Headcount 1,266 1,054
Turnover rate 15.5% 12.9%

Next to the 8,196 direct employees listed above, Deloitte also uses contractors. Most of the contractors that we
use are independent specialists who contribute their knowledge and experience to our service delivery to clients.
In addition, and on a much smaller scale, we also hire support staff through Dutch employment agencies. In
2023/2024, contractor and agency workers' hours for Deloitte excluding DDC amounted to 834,484 hours, the

equivalent of 453.5 FTE based on 1,840 hours per FTE.

Our Global Principles of Business Conduct define our behaviours, including on how we approach each other within
Deloitte. They contain provisions on many areas relevant to our social impacts, such as respect, diversity and fair
treatment, and professional development and support. They equally apply to our own workforce and to contractors

and staff hired through employment agencies.
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There are no collective bargaining agreements that pertain to employees of Deloitte. For social dialogue, we have a
Works Council next to other forms of employee engagement, such as focus groups, surveys and one-on-one
conversation. The Works Council of Deloitte represents the interests of Deloitte employees during discussions with
the Executive Board. For topics related to, for example, privacy legislation or working conditions, the Executive
Board seeks approval from the Works Council. Our CHRO is responsible for dialogue on employment matters.

3.1 Employee value proposition

Impacts, risks and opportunities

For many of our people, Deloitte is the starting point of their career. On an annual basis, some 1,000 students and
young graduates are given the opportunity to join our firm as practitioner, working student or intern. Through
learning on the job, teaming, and continuous training and education, we facilitate both personal and professional
growth.

Our people work on a wide variety of assignments with both emerging and leading local and international
companies, as well as government and public sector. We believe that making an impact by helping clients solve
complex challenges provides our people the opportunity to further develop, which in return strengthens their
sense accomplishment.

During their careers at Deloitte, our people are offered a growth path that can eventually lead to them becoming a
partner or director in the firm. At the same time, many of our colleagues find their way to successful and rewarding
positions outside Deloitte. We believe that the insights and experiences gained at Deloitte over the years can be
leveraged in their new job environment, creating a positive impact on their employer’s organisation and business
environment.

The Strategic Impact Assessment that we commissioned in 2023, identifies Employee benefits (which are part of
our EVP) as one of the largest positive social impacts. Naturally, there are also financial risks associated with our
Employee Value Proposition. The main risks are that - if we fail to get it right - we will not be the employer for all.
That can lead to undesired turnover, reduced employee engagement, reduced impact on society, clients and
people, lower productivity (profitability), and challenges in recruiting qualified and ambitious new colleagues. The
opportunities are the reverse of our risks: doing things right will lead to higher levels of retention, a more beneficial
impact on society, clients and people, higher employee satisfaction and engagement, higher productivity
(profitability) and good recruitment practices.

NO
POVERTY

DECENT WORK AND
ECONOMIC GROWTH

‘I REDUCED
INEQUALITIES
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Governance
As atJune 1, 2023, Deloitte NL adopted a new Talent strategy:

1. Execution of Strategic Workforce Management: Drive the organisation to build a future-ready workforce with
the right capabilities and the right mixture of local staff, contractors and Global Delivery Network staff. These
teams enable our organisation to be agile and serve our clients in the best possible way. This also implies that
we need to diversify our Employee Value Proposition to accommodate the new mix in our workforce and to be
considering Al innovations.

2. Build a diverse Talent Base: Have a fair representation of gender and diversity parameters (such as LGBTQ+,
neuro and cultures) across our workforce at all levels to meet the expectations of clients, demands from our
talent and to deliver optimal quality.

3. Foster an inclusive culture: Create an inclusive and psychologically safe culture and build the required people
leadership capabilities in our entire workforce.

4. Develop our (future) leaders: Enable our workforce at all levels to develop and show necessary people
leadership capabilities (informed by the 3Cs: compassion, curiosity and courage, ) to effectively collaborate and
lead a diverse workforce. This will make an impact on our people, clients and society.

158



5. Operationalise a clear purpose ambition: Drive our leaders and employees to embed a purpose driven
mindset in their daily work. In addition, create consistency in our story, style and substance as an organisation
that makes a sustainable change.

6. Optimise the use of the Global Delivery Network: Fully integrate the Global Delivery Network in the way of
working to improve our delivery capability and capacity, increasing our profitability.

Execution of the strategy falls under the responsibility of the CHRO. Enablers to the execution of the strategy are:

HR Technology: Replace our HR Technology systems and therewith realise a future-fit integrated digital HR
solution, offering a seamless employee and manager experience from hire to retire, ensuring efficient and
cost-effective solutions;

+ The Quantitative Organisation: Use quantitative data analytics and digital innovations to advice the business
and have the best technology in place;
Our Support Ambition: Continuously develop ourselves on the four behavioral building blocks of our Support
Ambition (1. Collaborate towards success, 2. Great place to work with innovative mindset, 3. Proactively
customer centric, and 4. Responsible end-to-end) to become the best ‘professionals for professionals’.

The Talent / HR ambition 2023-2027 is to support Deloitte NL to become the preferred employer for all by being a
Trusted Partner. To become the preferred employer for all, we are committed to our Employee Value Proposition.

Policies
The Employer Value proposition consists of three key elements:

Passion for Purpose = Experience a purpose our people can believe in, and an impact they can see (aligned with
the Shared Values: Lead the way / Serve with integrity / Collaborate for measurable impact).

Be the True You = Experience the freedom to be yourself (aligned with the Shared Values: Take care of each
other / Foster inclusion / Collaborate for measurable impact).

Never Stop Growing = Create a development culture that enables our people to drive growth & development, and
offer suitable learnings (aligned with the Shared Values: Lead the way / Take care of each other).

The EVP is supported by the Employee Ambition, that consists of seven elements:

1. Meaningful and challenging work

We approach this from multiple angles. We try to understand what is meaningful to our employees, like work that is
challenging but also has a social purpose and a greater meaning. In addition, we articulate the impact of a project
or client. We are actively asking our employees about their experience after finishing a project. Did they experience
the project as meaningful and energising?

2. Supported performance

Our performance management cycle is designed to have a fair and transparent performance experience for our
talent. We want to maintain a culture that supports our people in achieving their full potential by focusing on their
strengths. Our ongoing approach to performance is designed to give our people a better career experience,
moving away from annual appraisals to regular conversations that provide continuous feedback and support
throughout the year. In addition, our people should feel they have purpose, they belong and can learn, develop
and grow every day. We aim to achieve this by supporting our people through ongoing coaching and creating
opportunities for them to identify, use and build on their strengths. Our employees have a coach who is
responsible for supporting colleagues to identify, grow and leverage strengths, and work towards their long-term
career goals. The team leader is responsible for the performance and general wellbeing of the people who work for
them.

In order to recognise the performance as delivered throughout the year, we assess several performance indicators
including how our Shared Values have been observed in the performance as demonstrated. Our Shared Valued
articulate the expectations we have towards one another and define how we, as stewards of Deloitte, should
behave. They provide common ground to unite us across cultures and geographies, and importantly, they help us
to earn the trust and respect of our key stakeholders.

Performance indicators track the performance shown towards qualitative and quantitative goals as set by the
Business, which are linked to strategic objectives, such as impacts on projects, quality, finance and talent.

3. Positive work environment
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We aim to have an inclusive, flexible and professional working environment. We do that by acting along guidelines
like:

We connect in person when it matters;

We provide inspirational collaboration & meeting spaces

We make good use of virtual working, in an inclusive way;
We leverage innovative, collaborative technologies;

We prioritise well-being;

We travel and commute less, to reduce our carbon footprint
We trust employees to decide where tasks can best be

To advance these principles, we offer various tools to facilitate employees working from several locations. Work
location guidelines are applicable to help employees make the right decision in choosing their work location. In
general, we encourage our employees to work from home on average for two to three days per week. We
encourage flexibility because it supports our employees in finding a better work-life balance and reduces CO2
emissions from commuting to the office or other locations.

4. Wide ranged development and growth opportunities
We offer continuous learning and development opportunities with varied career options supported by talent
mobility.

Leadership and professional development are about continuous learning, not only through formal education, but
also through environment, experience and exposure. We provide our colleagues with multiple learning options, so
they can adjust their very learning journey based on their personalised needs and preferences. We offer and
support cross-border collaboration and provide access to international developmental opportunities.

With the growth portfolio (GP), the Team Member has the opportunity to create and communicate performance
objectives, career aspirations and plan for development. In the development part of the GP, the Team Member
considers the applicable talent standards and identifies the capabilities they would like to develop during the
financial year.

In the future development part, the Team Member describes their career aspirations and the support they need to
fulfil this aspiration. The learning catalogue helps to navigate to the required learnings.

Several times per year, our employees have a conversation with their Coach on the basis of their personal growth
portfolio. The coaching conversation is an essential part of future development and helps employees to drive their
performance and development. The coach helps to identify and develop areas of strengths, connects feedback,
and examines and understands the context of the performance and development.

To excel and find fulfilment in their roles, Team Members must gauge their influence and goal attainment within the
workplace. Direct feedback is crucial for this insight and serves as a key learning tool. Engaging in both giving and
receiving to-the-point feedback encourages personal development and propels Team Members to realise their
utmost capabilities. We've implemented the My Feedback tool to enhance this process with comprehensive 360-
degree feedback, which is integrated into the Growth Portfolio. This tool is designed exclusively for professional
growth and is not tied to evaluations for rewards or performance, ensuring its use is focused purely on the
individual's advancement.

Please see paragraph 3.3 below for an overview of our approach to Learning and Development.

5. Recognised and rewarded impact

Deloitte values a culture of recognition with fair and transparent total reward. We have put in place a reward
programme that contains various reward elements, such as salary, allowances, variable pay, and benefits. In
addition, our rewards package contains several provisions to promote wellbeing and connection in the broadest
sense. Possible increase of base salary is dependent of individual development, whilst variable pay is based on
performance.

Every year a benchmark is performed to compare our salaries within the other Big4 firms. As a result of this
benchmark, on an annual basis, we determine what our minimum and maximum bandwidths are per job grade
and per reward group.

6. Health and Well-Being
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Next to physical health, mental and financial health and wellbeing are prioritised, and individuals are supported to
be themselves. Please see paragraph 3.4 below for an overview of our approach to Wellbeing.

7. Leadership is trusted and transparent
We believe that leadership should be authentic, inspiring and inclusive, with open and honest communication.

Activities in 2023/2024
Throughout 2023/2024, Deloitte's HR organisation remained steadfast in its commitment to fostering employee
growth, enhancing performance, and refining organisational culture. Highlights of our activities include:

Talent Acquisition and Development | In addition to recruiting new talent, significant emphasis was placed on
nurturing the performance and development of our existing colleagues and leaders. Through targeted initiatives
and personalised development plans, we aimed to unlock the full potential of our workforce.

Continuous Improvement | We remained vigilant in fine-tuning our policies, processes, and organisational culture
to align with our Employee Value Proposition (EVP) and Employee Ambition objectives. This ongoing refinement
ensures that we create an environment where employees can thrive and excel.

Enhanced Onboarding and Offboarding | We made efforts to optimise the onboarding and offboarding
experiences for employees, streamlining processes and enhancing the overall journey from entry to exit.

Measuring Engagement and Employee Ambition | To gauge employee sentiment and aspirations, we conducted
three comprehensive surveys throughout the year, capturing insights from the entire workforce. This valuable
feedback informed our decision-making and strategic initiatives.

Feedback Tool Development | Recognising the importance of feedback in driving growth and development, we
began developing a new feedback tool. This tool goes beyond traditional downward feedback, enabling upward and
peer-to-peer feedback exchanges. Starting from 2024/2025, this tool will play a pivotal role in our performance
evaluation process.

Digitise Project | As part of our digital transformation journey, we initiated the Digitise project aimed at replacing
various HR systems. We commenced with the implementation of Assignment Pro and Service Now HR, while also
exploring options for transitioning to SuccessFactors. Additionally, the agenda includes the digitisation of payroll

processes and employee document management systems

These activities represent just a snapshot of our efforts throughout the year. Our HR organisation remains
dedicated to empowering our employees, driving performance excellence, and shaping a culture of continuous
growth and innovation.

Results

Throughout 2023/2024, Deloitte has remained an attractive employer for graduates. Among business students, we
are even ranked #1 in the Universum's Employer Rankings (2022/2023: #2). For STEM students we rank #17
(2022/2023: #15 calculated on the basis of their new definitions).

Table 15: % of employees receiving regular performance & career development reviews*

2023/2024 2022/2023
Total 92% 90%
By gender 2023/2024 2022/2023
Male 91% 89%
Female 92% 91%
By category 2023/2024 2022/2023
Directors 62% 57%
Senior managers 90% 87%
Managers 93% 92%
Aspirant / jr. managers 95% 94%

Supporting staff 88% 86%
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* Qur partners are not part of the regular performance cycle. For partners we maintain a performance
management system that is also used to determine their annual profit share and that takes into account such
aspects as quality, integrity, inclusive leadership, commercial performance and relationship management. Because
partners have their own performance cycle, and do not define as 'employees', we have restated our results for
2022/2023.

Allthough we aim to have 100% of our employees receive regular performance and career development reviews,
mainly due to employee turnover throughout the year, we will never achieve this. As a result we believe our EVP as
such not to be suitable to establish targets. We track the effectiveness of our EVP mainly through engagement,
such as dialogue with our Works Council and the outcomes of our Engage for change surveys.

3.2 Diversity, equity and inclusion

Impacts, risks and opportunities

The imbalance in gender diversity has a negative systemic effect on our social impact ambition. For Deloitte,
however, diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI) go beyond gender diversity. We aspire to be a company where
everyone can be their authentic self and fulfil their potential, and to be a diverse and inclusive organisation: diverse
in reflecting the clients and society we serve, and inclusive for all our employees and partners regardless of their
gender, cultural background, ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, gender identity, neurodiversity or disability.

Until we reach this desired level of DEI, we are exposed to many risks, including but not limited to financial risks.
The main risks associated with a lack of diversity for us are:

1. Sub optimal decision-making due to lack of diverse perspectives and monocultural bias (systemic risk);

2. Lack of talent attrition, because diversity is increasingly seen as a measure of an attractive employer by all
groups in the labour market (individual risk);

3. A possible mismatch between our clients’ teams and Deloitte teams leading to blockages in cooperation and
missed opportunities as we face more diverse competitors (incidental).

We also see opportunities in reversing the identified risks. We believe in the business case for DEI. Welcoming
diversity and enabling colleagues to thrive, enables Deloitte to leverage the well-researched and recognised
business benefits of DEL.

According to our insights, organisations with a diverse talent base and inclusive cultures:

are 35% more likely to outperform their competitors;

are 70% more likely to capture new markets;

see a 59% increase in innovation;

are 6% more likely to see increased profitability and productivity;
- generate 3 times more cashflow per employee.

GENDER
EQUALITY

‘I REDUCED
INEQUALITIES

A

(=)

v

Governance

Over and above our moral obligations and the business benefits of DEI, we have a corporate responsibility to
address the growing inequalities that are destabilising society. The Global SDGs challenge us to use our corporate
position to influence the socio-political and corporate landscape within the Netherlands by challenging
government, our clients and supply chain to reflect the vision of DEI we adhere to.

It is our mission to have an inclusive workplace and diverse talent base by 2027. To this end, we need to change
our culture. We take a holistic and systemic approach, where DEl is fully integrated across the organisation's
internal and external business and talent processes. After spending decades on putting targets in place, facilitating
employee resource groups, organising bias trainings and implementing inclusive leadership programs, we now
expand our efforts by:
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Focusing on data and measurement to have better insight in the representation of different groups,
understand our employee experience, and measure progress;

Holding our leadership accountable to be inclusive and to be leaders who are courageous, curious and
compassionate;

Fostering psychological safety to create a culture where people feel free to speak up and be themselves;
Changing the system to allow a broader definition of success. Culture may seem to be all about people, but it's
the policies and processes that drive their behaviour. Changing culture therefore takes time, strategic choices
and bold moves.

With a committed Executive Board and Executive Committee, we believe in shared ownership and boosting
entrepreneurship. Not only leadership, but all our colleagues play a role in a successful DEI strategy. Therefore, we
encourage our talent base to speak up about DEl in keynotes, roundtable discussions, initiate internal activities and
provide (upward) feedback. These gamechangers advocate DEI from intrinsic motivation, regardless of their job
level or business unit. Next to that we have a strong and committed DEI governance model, with councils and
ambassadors, contributing their time, energy and knowledge on a structural basis. Within Deloitte Netherlands we
have five internal DEI Employee Resource Groups: Deloitte Women's Network, Neurodiversity Network, Proud at
Deloitte, Cultural Diversity Network These groups provide valuable feedback and input on our progress and are a
crucial voice to co-create an equal system.

This governance structure is led by our CEO and the Executive Board, and includes:

Business Leads who are responsible for driving, amongst other initiatives, our gender diversity targets within
their Business, and holding partners accountable for promoting Inclusive Leadership;
DEI Ambassadors who are, both within the business and our DEI Councils, responsible to set and execute a
Business specific DEI plan, aligned to our corporate ambition;
Employee Resource Groups, including the Deloitte Women's Network, Proud (LGBTQ+), Neurodiversity
Network, the Cultural Diversity Network and our Young Board, who represent the employee voice, and provide
subject matter guidance of topics relevant to their target audience;

+ Adedicated central DEI Team committed to setting and executing a companywide DEl strategy and plan, by
working in close collaboration with all relevant stakeholders.

Policies
To support our DEI objectives, we have implemented several inclusive policies. Key to an inclusive culture is how
these policies are being promoted and implemented.

Proud Parent Programme
Becoming a parent is an exciting new chapter in life with a lot of new experiences. We have multiple provisions for
parents to help them adjust their working life to the new private circumstances.

The Panel and Proposal Promise

The Panel and Proposal promise commits to having a mix of 40% men, 40% women and 20% of an
underrepresented group on speaker panels for internal and external events, and the same mix within the proposal
team for must-win bids.

Flexible Public Holidays
The freedom to swap one or two designated public holidays for holiday(s) that have meaning to our
employees' religious beliefs and/or cultural background, or another day that is important to them.

Gender Transition Support Policy

We recognise that not every individual identifies with the gender that they were assigned at birth and that for
some, this may result in the decision to transition. At Deloitte, we want to support colleagues through this
significant period in their life and our gender transition support policy has been designed specifically with this is
mind.

Activities in 2023/2024

This fiscal year Deloitte drafted a new four-year strategy "strong roots reach far". One of the five pillars of this
strategy is being a “preferred employer”, defined as building a diverse talent base, fostering an inclusive culture and
developing future and inclusive leaders.

We have developed three strategic quantitative KPIs to measure progress:

Build diverse talent base & strategic workforce planning, gender balance targets for manager up;
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Inclusive culture by employee recognition questions via NPS in our engage for change survey;
Develop (future and inclusive) leaders by Employee recognition questions via NPS in the engage for change
survey.

The focus for 2023/2024 has been on (re)activating our organisation on these DEl pillars via a data driven approach
and a DEI communication plan. This included continuing to raise awareness and facilitate open dialogues among
our people and leaders through initiatives such as reverse mentoring and our DEI curriculum.

We realise though that inclusive leadership sometimes means challenging the status quo or holding colleagues
accountable, and this can be hard if psychological safety is lacking. Moreover, people of underrepresented groups
can feel included and still don't feel safe to be different, contributing or challenging ideas. This is why we continued
embedding psychological safety as a strategic pillar to our DEI approach.

This year we've put our ambitions into practise by:

Data driven DEI steering: Quarterly monitoring and accountability with DEI scorecard. Implementation of
diversity dashboard to have more evidence-based insights translated into knowledge;

Holistic approach towards fostering an inclusive culture: All Manager up completed the inclusive culture
training programme, new Psychological Safety interventions available for all, and a renewed feedback culture;
Develop future leaders by having the 3C awareness programme, and 3C learning and programmes for people
roles in place, integration of the SCARF model;

Renewed gender balance approach, including a new succession planning for senior leadership roles;

Debiased and inclusive Talent and Business processes by analysis, practical interventions and training, results.
We've introduced a new talent acquisition tool ‘neurolympics’, in order to debias our talent acquisition systems.

We have embedded DEI in our event management processes in line with our Inclusive events guide and Panel and
Proposal Promise.

Results

We acknowledge that we are at a critical point of our DEI journey, where changes are being experienced by
colleagues throughout the organisation. This has resulted in positive initiatives, such as our reversed mentoring
programme and the successfully organising monthly DEI related internal and external events around different
themes.

However, we also recognise that some individuals in the ‘majority’ population may have questions, feel isolated, or
hindered by our DEI agenda (ethics surveys). It is important to address these emotions to enhance colleagues’
understanding of the importance of DEI and what it means for them as individuals. DEI is about everyone, not a
specific demographic group.

Although for Deloitte, diversity goes beyond gender, in line with the CSRD Standards, we monitor gender equality
to ensure progress also in this area.

Table 16: Employment by age in 2023/2024 (average for financial year)

Category Headcount Percentage
Under 30 years old 3,675 44.9%
30-50 years old 3,816 46.6%
Over 50 years old 704 8.6%

Per May 31, 2024, our Executive Board consisted of two men and one women (33%). Our Supervisory Board
included three men and two women (40%), meaning that top management consisted of three women (37.5%) and
five men. On the basis of headcount, 33.2% of leadership roles (manager and above) were filled by women and
23.8% of our partner population is female.

Gender Pay Equity Analysis

Deloitte is committed to ensuring gender pay equity across its global network, aligning with our core values of
fairness, equality, and diversity. In 2022/2023, Global Talent implemented a refined analytical methodology, utilising
a multi-variant regression model, to scrutinise gender pay and performance bonus disparities. The analysis,
specifically designed to compare employees performing very similar or identical roles, indicated no statistically
significant gender pay or performance bonus disparities in the previous year. This underscores our effective
strategies and zero-tolerance policy towards gender pay inequity.
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Furthering our commitment, Deloitte includes a comprehensive pay equity analysis in this Integrated Annual
Report in compliance with the European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS). This standard mandates
detailed disclosures on social and employee-related matters such as pay equity, fostering transparency and
accountability. This rigorous analysis not only helps Deloitte address potential pay disparities, but also reinforces
our reputation, supports strategic decision-making, and bolsters our efforts to attract and retain a diverse and
skilled workforce.

Methodology

Despite the reported unadjusted pay-gap of 14.3%, it is essential to note that this figure alone does not reflect the
full scope of gender pay equity within Deloitte. According to our data analysis, the pay-gap is caused by an
underrepresentation of women in higher job grades—an issue we are actively addressing as part of our strategic
objectives.

As demonstrated by the analysis performed by DTTL in 2022/2023 and in line with our own insights, employees of
all genders, performing comparable jobs and having similar tenure within their job grades, receive equitable
compensation.

To improve female representation across various levels within the firm and ensure equitable pay, Deloitte employs
several strategic measures. These include targeted recruitment policies, career development programmes,
leadership training, and mentoring initiatives specifically designed to enhance gender diversity in higher job grades.
We will take immediate measurement to close pay gaps

Deloitte's proactive approach in addressing and auditing gender pay equity exemplifies our dedication to not only
meeting regulatory requirements but also setting a benchmark in corporate social responsibility and workforce
diversity.

In addition to the gender pay-gap analysis, we have also performed an analysis of the compensation ratio as
defined by ESRS. Within Deloitte, this ratio currently stands at 23.9.

Going forward

In 2024/2025, we will continue to build a talent base that is representative of society, creating access to equal
opportunities for everyone, and work towards a culture where everyone can be their true selves. We will do this via
a data driven approach amongst others through increased monitoring of the diversity of our employees, and our
gender targets. In the upcoming years, we want to move from a programmatic level to a leader-led and integrated
level of DEI, via Bersin's DEI Maturity model. This means focusing on leadership accountability, behaviour and
training, and addressing systemic barriers in the next financial year. We maintain our focus on a sustainable gender
balance, drive further progress in embedding our plan into daily practice by fostering psychological safety, pay
special attention to unconscious bias and inclusive leadership, and implement inclusive processes and policies.

3.3 Learning and development
Impacts, risks and opportunities

Deloitte is a knowledge rich firm. The value we create is driven by our talent, using their intellect. We acquire
knowledge and experience by recruiting top graduates and experienced hires. To be able to offer outstanding value
to our clients, we further develop their knowledge and skills, and aim to keep our talent’s skills and knowledge up
to standards through our formal and informal learning curriculum. We actively share our insights to elevate public
knowledge and understanding of the complex challenges that we work on. By engaging in continuous learning, our
professionals are able to develop themselves further, advancing their careers and strengthening their
employability, elevating their impact.

Deloitte relies on renowned academic institutions to educate our future and current professionals and business
leaders. Our external investment in learning and development amounts to €2.1 million. In addition to the time
spent on learning activities by our people, the organisation invests an additional €11.9 million in leader led learning
& development interventions. These costs help our employees develop and prepare them for their future careers
within or outside Deloitte. From our Strategic Impact Assessment, we know that the social impact from our learning
& development activities is significant, making it a material topic. In addition, we see it as our role to participate and
actively contribute to the academic world and lead the debate:199 of our professionals are internally registered to
hold additional positions in universities and colleges.
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Knowledge is not only a key input for our business model, but it is also a key output. As an organisation, we partner
with knowledge centres on a variety of complex topics. Examples of such partnerships are our associations with
Singularity University Eindhoven and Nyenrode University Breukelen. Through our partnerships, we are able to
further develop content that is mutually beneficial to both the universities involved as well as for Deloitte.

Through our ‘Future of' agenda we create ecosystems to which we input our knowledge and insights for the benefit
of our clients and society at large. Frequently, we publish in-depth articles to enrich public knowledge around
current themes. Recent examples of such articles are our publication “Food and Energy: Addressing sustainable
goals together” and a series of articles on decarbonisation of transport.

Deloitte actively participates in knowledge groups such as the Knowledge Group on Environmental Taxes of the
Dutch Tax Authority and Dutch Association of Tax Advisers (de Nederlandse Orde van Belastingadviseurs or NOB).
Furthermore, we cooperate with universities to jointly develop and transfer valuable academic insights to our client
base.

In addition to the impacts described above, we have identified several financial risks associated with learning and
development. The main risks that we have identified are:

1. Afailure to meet statutory demands for specific groups of professionals;

2. Insufficiently trained workforce to execute increasingly complex client challenges which can lead to missing
opportunities;

3. Learning curriculum not up-to-speed in incorporating the latest insights and responding to changes in market
demand.

Through our governance and activities, w